# PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS



stratejik araştırmalar merkezi center for strategic research

Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Dışişleri Bakanlığı

Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Organization of Turkic States: Deepening Turkic Cooperation and Turkic World Vision-2040

Examining the Organization of Turkic States: A Teacher and Norm-Creator Çagla Gül YESEVİ

Turkic World Vision–2040: A Step Forward for the Resilience of Turkic Cooperation Pelin MUSABAY BAKİ

Organization of Turkic States' Economic Potential and Cooperation Prospects among its Members Orkhan BAGHIROV

New Kazakhstan and the Future of the Organization of Turkic States: Key Areas of Cooperation Sanat KUSHKUMBAYEV Aliya MUSSABEKOVA

Paradigm of Soft Power and the Importance of the Organization of Turkic States: Perspective from Kyrgyzstan Baktygul KALAMBEKOVA

Organization of Turkic States: A New Approach to Global and Regional Challenges Murodjon MUSTOFAEV

Hungary's Role in the Organization of Turkic States as an Observer State: Limitations and Opportunities Tamás Péter BARANYI

Turkmenistan's Neutral Foreign Policy: Peace, Security and Sustainable Development Amangeldi RAHMANOV

Book Review New Silk Roads: Present and Future of the World

Book Review Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific: New Geopolitical Realities

> Spring-Summer 2022 Volume XXVII Number 1 ISSN 1300-8641

### **PERCEPTIONS**

#### **Editor**

Emre Erşen

#### **Managing Editor**

Alper Aktaş

#### **English Language and Copy Editor**

Erin Menut

#### **Book Review Editor**

Sinan Demirdüzen

#### **International Advisory Board**

Ahmet Içduygu Maria Todorova Ali Resul Usul Mesut Özcan **Burhanettin Duran** Murat Yeşiltaş **David Chandler** Mustafa Kibaroğlu Ekrem Karakoç Nuri Yurdusev Ersel Aydınlı Oktav F. Tanrısever Gülnur Aybet Ole Wæver **Ibrahim Fraihat** Özden Zeynep Oktav Jaap De Wilde Richard Whitman Jang Ji Hyang Talha Köse Kemal İnat **Thomas Risse** Lee Hee Soo **Ufuk Ulutaş** 

#### Homepage: http://www.sam.gov.tr

research on Turkish foreign policy, regional studies and international relations, and makes scholarly and scientific assessments of relevant issues. It is a consultative body of

SAM publishes Perceptions, an English language journal on foreign affairs. The content of the journal ranges from security and democracy to conflict resolution, and international challenges and opportunities. Perceptions is a bi-annual journal prepared by a large network of affiliated scholars. The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors

PERCEPTIONS is a peer-reviewed journal and is included in the following databases and indexes: Columbia International Affairs Online, CSA Index, Current Contents of Periodicals on the Middle East, EBSCO, European Sources Online, Index Islamicus, International Political Science Abstracts (IPSA), Lancaster Index to Defense &

Balgat / 06100 Ankara - TÜRKİYE Phone: +90 (312) 292 22 30 Fax: +90 (312) 292 27 15 - 253 42 03

e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr 💆 @sam\_mfa

Printed in Ankara by: Matsa Basımevi

## PERCEPTIONS JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS Spring-Summer 2022 Volume XXVII Number 1

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Guest Editor: Pelin Musabay Baki

1 Organization of Turkic States: Deepening Turkic Cooperation and Turkic World Vision-2040

#### **ARTICLES**

2 Examining the Organization of Turkic States: A Teacher and Norm-Creator

Çağla Gül YESEVİ

Turkic World Vision–2040: A Step Forward for the Resilience of Turkic Cooperation

Pelin MUSABAY BAKİ

The Organization of Turkic States' Economic Potential and Cooperation Prospects among its Members

Orkhan BAGHIROV

- New Kazakhstan and the Future of the Organization of Turkic States: Key Areas of Cooperation
  Sanat KUSHKUMBAYEV & Aliya MUSSABEKOVA
- 91 The Paradigm of Soft Power and the Importance of the Organization of Turkic States: Perspective from Kyrgyzstan Baktygul KALAMBEKOVA
- The Organization of Turkic States: A New Approach to Global and Regional Challenges

Murodjon MUSTOFAEV

Hungary's Role in the Organization of Turkic States as an Observer State: Limitations and Opportunities

#### **COMMENTARY**

Tamás Péter BARANYI

Turkmenistan's Neutral Foreign Policy:
Peace, Security and Sustainable Development

Amangeldi RAHMANOV

#### **BOOK REVIEWS**

- The New Silk Roads:
  The Present and Future of the World
- Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific:
  New Geopolitical Realities

PERCEPTIONS - SPRING-SUMMER 2022



#### **Publication Ethics**

**Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs** is a double blind peer review international academic journal which strives for meeting the highest standards of publication ethics. Publication malpractice is strictly prohibited by all possible measures.

The publication ethics of the journal is mainly based on the "Code of Conduct and Best-Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors".

**Authors:** Authors should present an objective discussion of the significance of research work as well as sufficient detail and references to permit others to replicate the experiments. Fraudulent or knowingly inaccurate statements constitute unethical behavior and are unacceptable. Review articles should also be objective, comprehensive, and accurate accounts of the state of the art. The authors should ensure that their work is entirely original works, and if the work and/or words of others have been used, this has been appropriately acknowledged. Plagiarism in all its forms constitutes unethical publishing behavior and is unacceptable. Submitting the same manuscript to more than one journal concurrently constitutes unethical publishing behavior and is unacceptable. Authors should not submit articles describing essentially the same research to more than one journal. The corresponding author should ensure that there is a full consensus of all co-authors in approving the final version of the paper and its submission for publication.

Authors should also make sure that:

- a) There is no conflict of interest in their submissions.
- b) They have obtained the approval of the "Ethics Board/Committee" for clinical and experimental studies conducted on humans and animals (including opinion polls, surveys, interviews, observations, experiments, focus group studies). This approval should be clearly stated and documented in the article (board's name, date and issue number).
- c) Their submissions comply with the copyright regulations (especially for tables, graphs, illustrations, pictures, photographs).

**Editors**: Editors should evaluate manuscripts exclusively on the basis of their academic merit. An editor must not use unpublished information in the editor's own research without the express written consent of the author. Editors should take reasonable responsive measures when ethical complaints have been presented concerning a submitted manuscript or published paper.

Reviewers: Any manuscript received for review must be treated as confidential documents. Privileged information or ideas obtained through peer review must be kept confidential and not used for personal advantage. Reviews should be conducted objectively, and observations should be formulated clearly with supporting arguments, so that authors can use them for improving the paper. Any selected referee who feels unqualified to review the research reported in a manuscript or knows that its prompt review will be impossible should notify the editor and excuse himself from the review process. Reviewers should not consider manuscripts in which they have conflicts of interest resulting from competitive, collaborative, or other relationships or connections with any of the authors, companies, or institutions connected to the papers.

The information and views set out in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of the Center for Strategic Research (SAM) and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Türkiye.

### Organization of Turkic States: Deepening Turkic Cooperation and Turkic World Vision-2040

Established in 2009 as an intergovernmental organization, the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (also known as the Turkic Council) has gradually become one of the main platforms for intensified cooperation between its five member states – Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Türkiye and Uzbekistan – and two observer states – Turkmenistan and Hungary. On November 12, 2021, during the 8th summit meeting held in Istanbul, the organization has changed its name to the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), which is an indication of the interest of the member and observer states in deepening their cooperation in the political, economic and cultural spheres. At this historic meeting, significant decisions have also been taken with regard to the modalities for obtaining observer and partner status at the OTS, while Türkiye assumed the chairmanship of the organization until the next summit to be held in Uzbekistan in 2022.

The Istanbul Summit was also quite remarkable because of the adoption of the "Turkic World Vision-2040" document, which could be regarded as a milestone in the evolution of Turkic cooperation as it is the first strategic vision document to set the ground for future cooperation in the Turkic world. It should also be noted that the OTS has been intensifying its efforts for institutionalization in the last few years in close cooperation with its related and affiliated organizations including TURKSOY, TURKPA, Turkic Academy and Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation.

With the goal of elaborating on regional cooperation in the Turkic world, this issue includes articles exploring the various dimensions of the OTS – also in accordance with Türkiye's efforts to enhance Turkic cooperation during its chairmanship. We would especially like to thank Dr. Pelin Musabay Baki, from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Türkiye who kindly accepted to act as a guest editor and collaborated with distinguished scholars from the OTS member and observer states in order to provide the most comprehensive analysis of the new role(s) played by the OTS in international relations. At a time when the OTS is turning into a key actor in the Turkic world, we believe that the articles of this issue are going to be valuable contributions to the emerging academic literature on this important regional organization.

#### **ARTICLE**

## Examining the Organization of Turkic States: A Teacher and Norm-Creator

Çağla Gül YESEVİ\*

#### **Abstract**

The Organization of Turkic States (OTS) is evaluated in this article by means of a social constructivist approach. Social constructivism emphasizes the roles of international organizations in norm-emergence, norm-creation and standard-setting. The new norms that international organizations initiate can shape, change and regulate the behaviors of states. As Martha Finnemore states international organizations may act as teachers. They can persuade states to adopt cooperative behavior, accept the culture of the organization and internalize the organization's values. International organizations can thus be seen as essential vehicles for the socialization of states. States may become more eager to rearrange their foreign policy decisions in response to the socially constructed norms held by international organizations. This article will examine the role of the OTS as an agent and a principal in the new regionalization process.

#### Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, social constructivism, international organizations, norm-creation, regionalization.

Received on: 07.01.2022 Accepted on: 12.04.2022

<sup>\*</sup> Associate Professor, Istanbul Kültür University, Department of International Relations, Istanbul, Türkiye. E-mail: c.yesevi@iku.edu.tr, ORCID: 0000-0003-3509-7060.

#### Introduction

The Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (the Turkic Council) was established in 2009, and was renamed the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) during its 8th Summit held in November 2021. As an intergovernmental organization, the OTS acts as an umbrella organization for other vital organizations such as the International Organization of Turkic Culture (TURKSOY), the Parliamentary Assembly of Turkic Speaking Countries (TURKPA), the Turkic Academy, the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation and the Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Together, they deal with a broad range of topics concerning the Turkic world. Having the mentality and the awareness of being part of the Turkic world are the main concerns related to this organization. In addition, it is a platform that reminds the societies of the member states that they share the same cultural and ethnic identity. The central theme of the organization has always been cooperation, a value first conferred in the summits of the Heads of the Turkic Speaking States held between 1992-2009, and afterward in the documents of the Turkic Council after its establishment in 2009. It is important to note the longstanding institutionalization process of developing this structure, which started with the convening of summits leading to the establishment of the organization.

The renaming of the organization in November 2021 should not be considered merely a simple name change. Instead, it represents an essential step forward in the evolution of the identity of the OTS. Although it is too early to evaluate the effects of the name change, being part of an international organization will ensure cooperation and significant cohesion among member states, primarily in matters related to international conflicts.

In this article, the identity of the OTS will be evaluated by referring to the social constructivist approach. Alexander Wendt claims that state-centric international relations (IR) theories cannot explain structural changes, and instead stresses the importance of intersubjective dynamics. The identities and interests of states are not given, he argues; rather, they are constructed by social structures. According to social constructivists, the international system functions as a social structure, complete with norms, rules and principles. The international structure,

international relations, and many terms such as anarchy, security, interest and cooperation are all constructed. In this regard, amity or enmity among states with intersubjective meaning could be created and recreated. The interests and identities of states can be reconstructed with the help of shared knowledge, understanding, interconnectivity and collective consciousness.

#### History of the OTS

After the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, Turkmenistan and Kazakhstan declared their independence. The region caught the attention of many regional and external states with diverse agendas, and the newly formed states struggled with many internal and external problems, as well as the nation-building process. As a result, they became part of different regional organizations, such as the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS); the Georgia, Ukraine, Azerbaijan and Moldova (GUAM) Organization for Democracy and Economic Development; the Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU); the Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO) and the Shanghai Cooperation Organization (SCO). After the Turkic states gained their independence from the former Soviet Union, all of the leaders of the Turkic world articulated very emotionally that an influential and effective Turkic world could now be formed with the help of the unity of their powers. Although such statements garnered complaints and hostility toward the developing relations between Türkiye and the Turkic states of the former Soviet Union,<sup>2</sup> the newly independent states held many summits with Türkiye between 1992–2009. It is important to recognize that Türkiye and the Turkic states came together first because of cultural bonds, and later to pursue economic cooperation. The process began with the first summit of the Heads of the Turkic Speaking States held in Ankara in 1992. Subsequent meetings were held in Istanbul (1994), Bishkek (1995), Tashkent (1996), Astana (1998), Baku (2000), Istanbul (2001), Antalya (2006), Nakhchivan (2009) and Istanbul (2009).<sup>3</sup>

Finally, in 2009, the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (the Turkic Council) was established during the Nakhchivan Summit.

The Turkic Council was itself a reflection of the prevalent political will at the meetings of the heads of states of the Turkic speaking states. The organization's main aim was to bring about extensive cooperation among the Turkic speaking states. The organization's founding members are Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Türkiye. Hungary gained observer status in 2018, Uzbekistan became an official member in October 2019 and Turkmenistan became an observer member of the OTS in 2021. This expansion further strengthened the organization, and is consistent with its aims.<sup>4</sup>

This article examines how the OTS helps shape economic and cultural cooperation among its member states. It also explains the organization's importance, aims, activities and identity since its establishment by drawing upon speeches made by the leaders of the member states, as well as documents and publications on the organization's website. The activities, initiatives, meetings and decisions of the OTS are detailed on its website and social media accounts. In addition, there are a number of articles about this organization in academic journals and proceedings books.

The OTS has contributed to norm emergence and identity formation, primarily on cultural and economic grounds. It has helped its member states internalize the concept of unity and strengthened the consciousness and spirit of their fraternal affinities. Moreover, the OTS has been cautious and rational about not posing any threat to other states, and has not considered any state as a threat. Although the OTS has concerns about the region's security issues, as seen in the Nakhchivan Agreement and "Turkic World Vision–2040", it has made only

general acknowledgments and statements about these issues in order to preserve regional and universal security. In some of the publications mentioned on the website of the OTS, certain security problems of the member states are described. The organization itself and its member states are well aware that the

The OTS has contributed to norm emergence and identity formation, primarily on cultural and economic grounds. It has helped its member states internalize the concept of unity and strengthened the consciousness and spirit of their fraternal affinities. Eurasian region has its own characteristics and historical background. Indeed, the member states are cautious not to cause any apprehension to other regional powers. Member states have affirmed that they will pursue peaceful means of interaction and contribute to the peace and order of the region.

One of the crucial contributions of the OTS has been on cultural grounds with the help of affiliated organizations such as TURKSOY, the Turkic Academy and the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation. Addressing the challenges derived from the economic conditions of the member states, many of which are remnants of the former system, the OTS could be considered a platform to alleviate these conditions and promote economic cooperation. It can help provide new instruments, policies and strong trade ties, and work to reform internal laws and regulations to strengthen further economic cooperation. For this purpose, the OTS has introduced many policies, meetings and institutions. These new regulations and instruments could further strengthen economic relations among members.

States are the main actors in the OTS. Nonetheless, it is essential to have the help of civil societies. The comprehensive aims of the organization and the fulfillment of these aims are its primary concern. The OTS's good relations with other international organizations are viewed as an asset that contributes positively to regional peace and stability. Having cooperative relations with other organizations will empower the OTS.

It is essential to recognize that the Turkic states came together for the first time in history as an international organization; the establishment of the Turkic Council in 2009 was the product of the aspirations of the Turkic world. It has long been a milestone for the Turkic world to have unity. The idea and hope of achieving it probably began centuries ago. In this context, the emergence of the OTS represents a concrete step forward for Turkic unity.

The second part of this article examines the collective identity, primary goals and strategies of the OTS and its affiliated organizations. The third part briefly defines social constructivism. The fourth part examines the aims, activities and roles of the OTS by referring to social constructivism. The final part describes the accomplishments of the OTS and makes recommendations for its continued success.

#### OTS: Collective Identity, Primary Goals and Strategies

The unique identity of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States which later turned into the OTS was revealed in the Nakhchivan Agreement. The principal organs of the OTS are the Council of Heads of State, the Council of Foreign Ministers, the Council of Elders, the Senior Officials Committee and the Secretariat. The OTS is also an umbrella organization for other affiliated organizations such as TURKSOY, TURKPA, the Turkic Academy, the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation, and the Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry.<sup>5</sup>

Initially, the OTS aimed to ensure far-reaching cooperation among Turkic speaking states based on shared history, language, identity and culture. Secondly, member states wanted to cooperate on political, security, economic and cultural issues.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, the purposes, decisions and activities of the OTS have been comprehensive and inclusive. To date, the OTS has made only non-binding decisions. To become a member, a country must have one or more Turkic languages as an official language.<sup>7</sup> By providing a platform for cooperation, member states have become aware of their working mechanisms, leading them to collaborate in other areas. Empowering the sectoral approach has strengthened multidimensional cooperation and people-to-people collaboration.<sup>8</sup> Above all, the OTS has emphasized that they do not consider any state an enemy. Most importantly, the organization will have a voice in further cooperation among the Turkic states. Indeed, the OTS has the chance to become the single voice of the Turkic states.

Before establishing the OTS, many institutions, meetings, and summits resulted in a fragmented approach to cooperation among the Turkic states. The establishment of the OTS as an umbrella organization has remedied this fragmentation to some extent. While the headquarters of the OTS are located in Istanbul, the headquarters of the other organizations are in different member states, which has ensured equality among them, giving the impression that every member has responsibility in a unique area. Moreover, this distribution of duties has helped develop the internalization of norms in every member state and enhance the contribution of member states to the policies of the OTS.

While the name change does not affect the essence and evolution of the organization's identity, it cannot be considered a simple name change. Rather, it represents the transformation of an implied reality into a tangible reality.

There are different opinions related to the organization's name change. While the name change does not affect the essence and evolution of the organization's identity, it cannot be considered a simple name change. Rather, it represents the transformation of an implied reality into a tangible reality. As a result, the notions of

Turkic unity and the soul of Turkicness have been strengthened. In addition, it is clear that whether the name change has converted the discourse, aims, and uniqueness of the organization or not will be better understood and assessed in the future. It could be highlighted that the organization initiated a process to present its identity. The member states declared their fraternal affinities and shared cultural and historical similarities on every ground. The President of the Republic of Türkiye, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, considering the OTS, used the phrase "the family assembly" in the press conference during the 8th Summit of the Heads of State of the OTS in Istanbul in 2021.9

The founding Secretary-General of the Turkic Council Halil Akıncı, defined the unique identity of the OTS. He emphasized the sovereign equality principle and indicated that every nation should have a consciousness of its own identity. Turkicness could be constructed upon this awareness. Most importantly, radical nationalism has been disaffirmed in this regard. In Akıncı's words:

"The Turkic Council was founded on the principle of sovereign equality and the principle of recognition and acceptance of identities. If a Kyrgyz does not know his/her Kyrgyz identity, a Kazakh does not know his/her Kazakh identity, or an Azerbaijani does not know his/her Azerbaijani identity, then s/he will not be able to know Turkic-ness as his/her common identity. Therefore, our goal is to strengthen our common identity based on the sovereign equality principle. Surely, we do not want the development of radical nationalism, but I personally do not see any drawbacks for that kind of nationalism I alluded to earlier to develop." 10

Although Turkic unity has been discussed for centuries, Turks have voluntarily come together for the first time under the umbrella of the Turkic Council, as Akıncı highlights. His statement clearly articulates that the member states will not lose their national identities under this organization. Rather, they have a shared history, culture and common ancestors, and these assets will contribute to cooperation in many areas. Strengthening ties and the spirit of cooperation, the OTS has emerged as a norm-creator by establishing unity within the Turkic world.

The cooperative nature of the OTS is evident in the eleven areas of cooperation mentioned on its website. These are political cooperation, education, economy, transport, youth & sport, customs, health, tourism, diaspora, information and communication technologies (ICT), information and media. This article, to make it easier, will focus on three important areas of cooperation, namely, political, cultural and economic; the other areas will be regarded as sub-sets of these three main areas of cooperation.

With the aim of political cooperation, the OTS has convened regular meetings of the member states' Foreign Ministers, the Senior Officials Committee, the Junior Diplomats Training Program, Foreign Policy Research Centers, and the International Election Observer Missions. <sup>11</sup> As an affiliated organization of the OTS, TURKPA has contributed to political cooperation among member states. Established in 2008, it aims to ensure parliamentary cooperation in the Turkic world. <sup>12</sup> TURKPA's main principles are independence, sovereignty, territorial and state boundaries, integrity, legal equity and mutual respect grounded on the principle of non-interference in others' internal affairs. <sup>13</sup> In addition, TURKPA has election observation missions. <sup>14</sup>

Security cooperation under the OTS has a consultative nature. It has no structure, and the OTS shows no inclination to take any concrete actions on military issues involving the member states. Rather, the OTS has pointed out the importance of the peaceful settlement of disputes. In January 2022, the OTS emphasized the importance of peace and stability in Kazakhstan, and the member states expressed their strong solidarity with Kazakhstan. Moreover, the OTS expressed its deep concerns about the conflicts on the Kyrgyz-Tajik state border in January 2022 and called for an immediate cessation of the armed clashes and a peaceful settlement of disputes. 16

The OTS considers education, diplomacy, youth, transport and tourism as distinct areas of cooperation. The Turkic University Union has initiated the Orkhun Exchange Program, the Sports Games, and the Student Council.<sup>17</sup> 160 students and academicians have already benefited from the Orkhun Exchange Program.<sup>18</sup> Moreover, 138 diplomats participated in the Junior Diplomats Training Program and more than 1,500 young people have participated in the OTS International Youth Camps.

The Turkic Academy is another affiliated organization of the OTS, founded in 2012. This organization explores Turkic people's language, literature, culture and history. The main aim of the Turkic Academy is to base findings on indigenous sources of the Turkic world.<sup>19</sup>

TURKSOY, which defines itself as the UNESCO of the Turkic world, was established in 1993. It aims to provide a platform for artists and scholars of the Turkic world for cooperation in culture. TURKSOY introduced Nowruz, otherwise known as the Persian New Year, as one of the common traditions of the Turkic world. In addition, it explores the common culture, history, language, literature and art of Turkic people. The Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation, founded in 2015, aims to preserve and conduct research on the Turkic culture and heritage objectives. The Turkic Business Council was established in 2011. It works to deepen the cooperation in the Turkic business world by organizing business forums. The Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry (TCCI) was officially established in 2019 and is composed of the member and observer states' chambers of commerce and industry and business communities. Chambers of commerce and industry and business communities.

The member states of the OTS have been demanding to cooperate in trade, energy, transport, customs, tourism and ICT. There are many meetings on all of these issues. Concerning cultural and economic aspirations, the Modern Silk Road Joint Tour Project is one of the initiatives of the OTS. The dates and price of the tour have not been announced yet. The project's primary purpose is to show tourists the traditional Silk Road's unique cultural, spiritual, historical and gastronomic life. Therefore, the modern Silk Road Joint Tour Package aims to increase the number of tourists visiting the Turkic states.<sup>23</sup> It

is important to note that the UN considered the OTS as a significant example of a regional organization utilizing South-South cooperation. South-South cooperation refers to a situation in which two or more developing countries implement individual or shared national capacity involving triangular cooperation with other Southern actors, multilateral organizations, and/or Northern partners. The UN noted that the OTS has used South-South cooperation to intensify cooperation among Turkic states, and between Turkic states and other states. The OTS has taken an active role in increasing consciousness about South-South and triangular cooperation among its member states and with other countries. In this regard, the OTS has focused intensively on economy, tourism, transport, education and youth. It prioritizes efforts to create employment, prevent violent extremism and empower youth.<sup>24</sup>

In these endeavors, the OTS works together with institutions, academia and its member states' private sectors. In addition, it has good relations with other international organizations. The UN regards the OTS as a success in regard to its tourism vocational training program, customs training program and junior diplomats training program.

The OTS has taken an active role in increasing consciousness about South-South and triangular cooperation among its member states and with other countries. In this regard, the OTS has focused intensively on economy, tourism, transport, education and youth.

No discussion of the OTS's identity, goals and achievements would be complete without mention of the organization's efforts to combat the devastating impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. After holding the first international summit on COVID-19, the OTS decided to set up a Health Coordination Committee and Health Scientific Group.<sup>25</sup> As a result, the OTS member states moved quickly and responded collectively to the COVID-19 pandemic. They shared hospital facilities and exchanged clinical expertise with each other.<sup>26</sup> Moreover, the OTS began to help other regions and states after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, for example, delivering vaccines to Burkina Faso and Togo.<sup>27</sup>

#### The Social Constructivist Approach

This article employs a social constructivist approach to examine the contribution of the OTS to the emergence of collective identity and norm creation. The social constructivist approach, which attaches importance to ideas, norms, rules, interests, identity, shared knowledge and culture, was introduced to the paradigm of IR at the end of the 1980s.<sup>28</sup> Social constructivism sees the international structure as a social structure that involves norms, rules and law. Like any other social structure, it can be defined through social relationships, shared meanings, principles, beliefs, knowledge, practices and material elements. Social constructivism gives primary importance to ideational and intellectual factors, and its proponents claim a shared meaning behind material factors based on collective identities, common principles and accepted norms, considering the dynamic relationship between ideas and material forces.<sup>29</sup>

In the past, social constructivists assert, constructs such as "the Cold War", "Soviet Socialist Republics", "Soviet Central Asia" and "the Socialist World" were social structures of intersubjectively shared knowledge. During the post-Cold War era, shared knowledge and meanings began to change. The OTS has made a concrete contribution to the construction of "Turkicness", "the Turkic world" and "Turkic cooperation". Indeed, with its unique structure and affiliated organizations, the OTS has contributed significantly to constructing the international system and international relations.

Social constructivism states that international organizations are important and influential actors of international politics with their own agendas and aims. They could gain the power to implement norms and values that even overreach the member states' preferences.<sup>30</sup> Norms are defined as accepted values that determine the standards of appropriate behavior for agents (actors) with a given identity. Martha Finnemore points out that international organizations promote international norms. Norms can be considered rules when they are recognized and approved by actors. Over time, norms evolve into principled beliefs.<sup>31</sup> The OTS has contributed to the development of both norms and beliefs—such as having common ancestors, sharing Turkic ethnicity, having a shared history, common culture, collective Turkic identity and

support for economic development, etc. The identities of the Turkic states of the former Soviet Union were different in the past, when factors of culture, ethnicity and religion were downplayed in favor of a dominant political state ideology.

Moreover, the OTS will help member states reexamine their interests and identity. The member states' collective identity is based on common Turkic culture, history, language and Turkicness. This self-understanding will affect the foreign policy decision-making processes of the member states.

The OTS, in influencing the reexamination of member states' interests and identities, has contributed to the socialization process. However, it is essential to note that member states have also affected the evolution of the OTS. As a result, the OTS and its member states influence and constitute each other.<sup>32</sup> The OTS has contributed to the capacity building of its member states and intensified cooperation among them. It has initiated vocational projects and training in different areas, including a program to train young diplomats. The OTS organized the Social Media Training Program and initiated a training program for diaspora institutions. Furthermore, the Secretariat implemented various economic, transport, customs, tourism, media, diaspora and health projects. These activities have contributed to experience-sharing and knowledge-sharing among member states.<sup>33</sup> As a result, the OTS has become an efficient vehicle for achieving the socialization process.

Acting as a norm entrepreneur, the OTS has offered a solid moral content so that the Turkic states can work together, cooperate further and mutually benefit from this cooperation.<sup>34</sup> This ethical dimension includes commitment to sovereignty, territorial integrity

Acting as a norm entrepreneur, the OTS has offered a solid moral content so that the Turkic states can work together, cooperate further and mutually benefit from this cooperation.

and non-intervention principles. Furthermore, the OTS has pledged to promote common Turkic identity as the source of cultural richness and looks for ways to bring the peoples of the member states closer to each other.<sup>35</sup>

The Turkic states initially convened many summits and conferences; eventually, this initiative turned into an organization. During this development, it is clear that the level of interest of the member states changed: in the beginning, some of the states were not even eager to cooperate; today, they have learned the benefits of their cooperation.<sup>36</sup>

The social constructivist approach claims that shared knowledge, which is an outcome of the global interaction of ideas, determines the international structure. In this regard, idea and norm shifts ensure the system's transformation. Norms are shared assessments and have a variety of strengths.<sup>37</sup> Thus, some norms can be regarded as more potent than the others if we measure the level of the agreement among member states. It is apparent under the domain of the OTS, that some norms are much more praised than others.

Norm influence has three levels; the first level is norm emergence, the second is broad norm acceptance (norm cascade), and the third is internalization. Norm entrepreneurs lead and support the process of norm emergence. As a norm entrepreneur, the OTS induces states (norm leaders) to accept new norms. Norm leaders (some member states) take necessary steps to socialize other member states to become norm followers. Lastly, norm internalization occurs. The OTS, presenting a platform for comprehensive cooperation and gradually developing expertise on many issues, has been gaining the power to change the behaviors of its member states. Its expertise has been enhanced with the help of working groups, institutions and related organizations. Moreover, it has set up various programs to train diplomats, bureaucrats and youth, who will in turn help with the promotion of new norms.<sup>38</sup>

Social constructivists emphasize that international organizations can act as principals rather than agents in the international arena. They have had an active role in the promotion of the new norm. As Finnemore states, international organizations may act as teachers. They can persuade states to adopt cooperative behavior, and can be effective on states to accept the culture of the organization. Moreover, states begin to internalize the values of organizations to which they belong. In this sense, international organizations can be seen as essential vehicles for the socialization of states. States may become more eager to rearrange their foreign policy decisions in response to the socially constructed norms

of international organizations.<sup>39</sup> Norms initiated by the OTS influence the policies of the member states. The OTS has been socializing the member states to accept the benefits of multilateral cooperation within the Turkic world, believing in the motto "together we are stronger". As a means of engaging in norm entrepreneurship and norm creation, the Junior Diplomats Training Program aims to raise consciousness about the Turkic people's shared history, culture and language, and will make an essential contribution to the training of future diplomats.

International organizations are considered conglomerations of rules, norms and decision-making mechanisms that determine the member states' behaviors and actions. 40 Social constructivism explains that joining an international organization has less to do with material interests than with shared norms, values and principles. The OTS has instructed its member states on its norms, values and principles. Moreover, internalizing the organization's shared beliefs, the OTS staff present and recommend the shared values and shared knowledge of the OTS. The member states, in this regard, have been passing through a collective learning process. In short, the OTS has been constructing the cognitive evolution of the Turkic world.

#### Evaluation of the OTS

This article highlights some fundamental topics and related subtopics to evaluate the OTS with reference to social constructivism. Initially, the OTS, as a cooperative platform, began creating norms, especially those having to do with the unity of the Turkic world. Indeed, the most powerful characteristic of the OTS is cultural cooperation based on shared language, culture and history. Fraternal affinities have eased the development of multilateral cooperation among member states. <sup>41</sup> In this regard, the OTS has successfully established norms and values among its members in the cultural arena. Moreover, the OTS has been willing to disseminate its norms and rules. <sup>42</sup> It has been gradually institution-building and gaining the power to convince its member states of the benefits of cooperation. The fundamental norm created by the OTS is that the Turkic states have a common history, language and culture and they could work together, they are stronger together. <sup>43</sup> In this context,

as Wendt notes, states under the effect of Lockean culture are inclining to help each other.<sup>44</sup>

Second, in the realm of political cooperation, the OTS has created a collective identity on many grounds, and interactions among member states have enhanced collaboration on political issues. This understanding is expected to grow considerably stronger in the future. The collective identity cultivated by the OTS could help in unifying the national interests of the member states in mutually beneficial ways. 45 Indeed, the member states have already begun to speak as one voice, as witnessed in the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA). The OTS members' voting cohesiveness has been rising in the UNGA, which could be seen as a sign of the convergence of the member states' foreign policy preferences. 46 This indicates that the OTS has been successful in establishing mutual trust among member states, and in constructing similar behaviors to determine common foreign policies. The OTS has made declarations on behalf of its members and has implemented common policies on various foreign policy issues, for instance on the Cyprus issue and Afghanistan.

Third, relatedly, Onuf and Kratochwill are interested in "speech acts theory", which explores language's social meaning. Through speech acts such as statements and declarations, and even in terms of "who speaks", in this case the OTS, language constructs social structure by shaping intersubjective meaning. <sup>47</sup> According to some theorists in this field, the whole world is socially constructed through language. <sup>48</sup> The OTS has engaged in defining certain international events and some international terms, a speech act that functions to both position it in a place of authority and establish the meanings of these events and terms. In addition, its tendency to use cooperative language continues to construct its own identity as a collaborative structure and as a wielder of soft power. The OTS has been creating norms and values through all these activities.

Fourth, the OTS has been helping member states develop common communication strategies, and is functioning as a platform to promote good relations among the strategic research centers of the member states.<sup>49</sup> The OTS members recently opted to consult and coordinate regarding the conflict in Afghanistan. They also collectively emphasized

the need to reach a just, lasting, sustainable and mutually acceptable settlement of the Cyprus issue based on the realities on the island. Moreover, the member states expressed their solidarity with the Turkish Cypriot people in their aspirations to secure their equal, inherent rights. In addition, they recognized Türkiye's request to invite the Turkish Cypriots to participate in the relevant activities of the OTS. Furthermore, they supported Azerbaijan in the Nagorno-Karabakh conflict and during the 44-Days Patriotic War. The OTS expressed strong solidarity with Kazakhstan during the uprisings there in December 2021. The OTS examined the Kyrgyzstan-Tajikistan border conflict, requested immediate cessation of the armed clashes and offered a proposal for peaceful settlement. 51

While interested in security cooperation, the OTS is not a military organization. In its process of pursuing an integrationist spirit within the Turkic world, it has made cautious declarations on security issues, as witnessed during the Kazakhstan uprisings and the Kyrgyz-Tajik border issues. Moreover, taking into account the values and norms of the organization, the OTS has received requests from different circles that it should take an influential role in regional military conflicts. However, regardless of their validity, such requests are not in conformity with the aims and activities of the OTS.

In terms of its aims and activities, the OTS has proven itself an effective and successful international organization. Moreover, as mentioned in "Turkic World Vision–2040",

as a regional organization, the OTS has gradually become institutionalized, and this process has been carried out with a realistic vision. "Turkic World Vision–2040" clarifies that the existing cooperation will be beneficial to ensure that each member state's principal goal is to increase their people's cultural, economic and political conditions. <sup>52</sup>

In terms of its aims and activities, the OTS has proven itself an effective and successful international organization. Moreover, as mentioned in "Turkic World Vision–2040", as a regional organization, the OTS has gradually become institutionalized, and this process has been carried out with a realistic vision.

Fifth, the member states of the OTS have begun to internalize economic cooperation on various grounds as a shared understanding, as witnessed in their rational decisions. The OTS has aimed to strengthen the economic structures of its member states; it has helped to increase trade relations among member states and has enhanced socializations in the region. As agents of the international system, individuals are the main research area of social constructivism. The OTS offers an efficient platform for private companies.

Moreover, the sectoral approach of the organization will enhance people-to-people connections. The OTS continues to foster cooperation in transport, customs, ICT, energy and tourism. It ensures "economic cooperation among the Turkic world" as a norm. In this regard, while the Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry (TCCI) implements joint projects and training programs, the Turkic Investment and Development Fund will provide funds to the member states. All these efforts will enhance the economic relations of the people of the Turkic world.<sup>53</sup> Therefore, norm acceptors will collaborate in other areas. The organs and affiliated organizations will attract people to collaborate in the economic arena. The OTS will help share information and technical experience among member states. It will continue to have an informative and instructive effect on states, which will learn and adopt the new norms initiated by the OTS.<sup>54</sup>

Considering these issues, the OTS has been acting as a teacher; it is a norm creator and a norm entrepreneur in terms of cultural, economic and political cooperation. The rules, norms and principles initiated by the OTS have been changing and shaping the behaviors of the member states. Secretary-General of the OTS Baghdad Amreyev emphasized that if the member states had the opportunity to gather more often under the roof of the OTS, they would be able to understand each other better. As a result, they could have a common position in foreign policy. The OTS has been contributing to the socialization process of the member states on having common behavior and taking similar foreign policy decisions. Moreover, Amreyev stated that the OTS held a pioneering international meeting on Afghanistan on September 27, 2021 upon the call of Turkish Foreign Minister Mevlüt Çavuşoğlu. At this meeting, the member states signed a joint declaration, and Amreyev asserted that they were more powerful when they acted together. Sec. 10 of 1

Türkiye and Kazakhstan initially acted as norm leaders, and have been eager to draw attention to the fraternal affinities of the Turkic world; this knowledge about Turkicness became the shared knowledge of the OTS. In this regard, this knowledge was constructed as an international norm along with the establishment and gradual institutionalization of the OTS. The evolution of the organization's name from the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States to the Organization of Turkic States is an expression of this progress.

### Concluding Remarks

The OTS is a regional organization that aims to ensure political, cultural and economic cooperation among its member states. Although it has pledged to cooperate to achieve regional and international peace, stability and prosperity, it is neither a security organization nor a military alliance. Indeed, it has emphasized and praised regional and universal peace and stability, the supremacy of international law, the significance of multilateral cooperation and the peaceful settlement of disputes.<sup>57</sup> The OTS successfully creates its identity and pursues meaningful activities to ensure cooperation within the Turkic world. It also takes action in instructive and informative roles to create knowledge, shape the behaviors of member states and support the emergence and internalization of new norms within the Turkic world.

Social constructivism focuses on the role of international organizations as norm-creators and norm-entrepreneurs. In this regard, the OTS, acting as an instructor, has had a specific influence on its member states' foreign policies. Although the member states have had different international commitments and agendas, they have begun to act similarly as a group and cooperate in different international organizations such as UNESCO and the UNGA.<sup>58</sup> In this sense, the OTS, acting as a teacher, has successfully provided a platform for developing mutual interest and trust based on its members' fraternal affinities.

Social constructivists consider individuals as agents. Onuf emphasizes that like all social realities, international relations were constructed by individuals.<sup>59</sup> Hence, compared to the past, the OTS has been offering joint development projects and helping the peoples of member states

get closer by engaging in shared activities. In terms of the organization's recent achievements, the liberalization of transport between Türkiye and Kyrgyzstan is a concrete example. In addition, the member states have been sharing knowledge for the training of nuclear engineers, developing nuclear infrastructure and uranium mining. Moreover, the OTS has focused on vocational training, which will disseminate information, experience and knowledge.<sup>60</sup> Elites could help with the process of circulating and promoting the values and norms of the OTS. Also, it is significant to state that opening the Zangezur corridor will be essential for further economic and cultural integration among member states.

The OTS has been highly successful in ensuring cultural affinities among member states. There are notable affiliated organizations of the OTS, and they have had a significant impact on closer interaction among the citizens of member states. Exchange programs are the most effective tools to enhance people-people interaction. The existing exchange programs for high schools and universities should be extended, and

The OTS has been highly successful in ensuring cultural affinities among member states. There are notable affiliated organizations of the OTS, and they have had a significant impact on closer interaction among the citizens of member states.

many more students, teachers and academics should have a chance to benefit from them. Similarly, OTS youth programs could be supported financially by civil society organizations and private companies. In addition, empowering the diaspora communities of the Turkic world, which is one of the aims of the organization, will be an important achievement of the OTS.

One of the strengths of the OTS is its transparent character. All of the related speeches, decisions, aims and activities are shared on the organization's website in the languages of the member states and in English. This transparency has contributed to interaction among the peoples of the member states, and to the socialization process whereby its shared values, principles, norms, and knowledge are internalized. In addition, the transparent character of the OTS will prevent any

perception that it poses a threat to the external world. While emotional public demands could push the organization to take action or give speeches on every regional conflict, a major strength of the OTS has been its way of handling international events cautiously, carefully, rationally and with a long-term perspective. Therefore, the cautious speech culture of the OTS will remain an important asset and feature of its organizational culture.

Examining the roles of the member states in different affiliated organizations, one can say that the OTS is an egalitarian organization in which responsibilities are shared among the different member states. Its meetings and summits have been held in different cities of the member states; the Secretariat of the OTS is in Istanbul, the Turkic Academy is in Astana, and the Secretariat of the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation is in Baku.

The OTS would benefit from declaring its aims more clearly. It has received many criticisms from different circles of the public related to its role in cooperation among the Turkic states. The expectations from the organization to its members have been increasing incrementally. However, high and unrealistic expectations may affect the organization negatively. In particular, ultranationalist and extremist demands could damage the institutionalization process of the organization and the cooperation among member states. Moreover, other states could perceive such high demands and expectations as threatening under current international conditions. Thus, the OTS must present its aims, activities and results more explicitly on different platforms, especially regarding security concerns.

First, the OTS could benefit more fully from academics, civil society activists and the media to correctly describe and disseminate its aims and activities. Collaboration with universities and civil society organizations would help strengthen the organization in many respects. Second, the purposes, activities and agendas of the OTS and its affiliated organizations are enormously wide-reaching. "Turkic World Vision–2040" was prepared in detail and with great care; nonetheless, it has generated questions as to how all these aims will be accomplished. Moreover, every summit of the OTS has concentrated on different topics, and subsequently, working groups have begun to handle the decisions

taken. These circumstances could complicate the workload management of the OTS. In addition, the monitoring and measurement of its many achievements risks being complicated, unclear and indefinite. In other words, the organization's comprehensive aims could cause difficulties in attaining precise and concrete results. Shortfalls in staffing, difficulties in financing the activities and challenges involved in the adaptation to digitalization are likely problems that the OTS must anticipate.

To solve these problems, Secretary-General Amreyev announced at the 2021 Istanbul Summit that the OTS would generate five-year strategic plans. The OTS has already prepared the 2022–2026 Strategy Document, an operational document containing concrete steps to be taken within the paradigm of "Turkic World Vision–2040". It is important to note that even if the organization does not limit its agenda, some of the aims and topics will be prioritized within these five-years plans. 61 Concentrating on fewer aims within a given period will ease the organization's workload and yield concrete results. Furthermore, to share responsibility and lessen the organization's workload, it is advisable to cooperate with civil society organizations and universities of the Turkic world. In particular, support from academics and civil society activists will contribute to realizing people-to-people collaboration.

Last but not least, the organization has been exceedingly successful to date in realizing its aims and activities. Moreover, the OTS has acted as a successful teacher and norm-creator. In many respects, it is a norm entrepreneur: importantly, it has initiated an economic and political cooperation culture. The commonalities in language, culture and the history of the communities of the member states have become shared knowledge. As a result, Turkicness has become a collective identity, and the values of collaborative culture and collective action have been internalized.

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 Alexander Wendt, "Collective Identity Formation and International State," The American Political Science Review, Vol. 88, No. 2 (1994), pp. 385–394.
- 2 Pelin Musabay Baki, "Avrasya'da Bölgesel İşbirliği Sürecinden İşbirliği Mekanizmasına: Türk Konseyi," Bilge Strateji, Vol. 6, No. 11 (2014), pp. 139–140.
- 3 "Special Issue: Azerbaijani Leadership," *Journal of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of the Azerbaijan*, No. 56, 2020, p. 3.
- 4 For further information, see the official website of the Organization of Turkic States: https://www.turkkon.org/en/.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 "Nakhchivan Agreement on the Establishment of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States," Organization of Turkic States, October 3, 2009, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/temel\_belgeler/nakhchivan-agreement-on-the-establishment-of-the-copperation-council-of-turkic-speaking-states-1-en.pdf
- 7 Süleyman Sırrı Terzioğlu, "Uluslararası Hukuk Açısından Türk Dili Konuşan Ülkeler İşbirliği Konseyi," Uluslararası Hukuk ve Politika, Vol. 9, No. 36 (2013), p. 55.
- 8 Ömer Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19: The Role of Organization of Turkic States in Multilateral Cooperation," *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 26, No. 2 (2021), pp. 189-200.
- 9 "Türk Devletleri Teşkilatı Nedir?," Youtube, November 15, 2021, https://www.youtube.com/wat-ch?v=T-1cKsGysZs.
- "Turkic Council and Cooperation in Eurasia in the Light of Developments Across the Region," Center for Eurasian Studies, No. 14, February 24, 2015, pp. 27–30, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/yayinlar/turk-konseyi-ve-bolgedeki-gelismeler-isiginda-avrasyada-isbirligi-rapor-1-en.pdf.
- 11 "Political Cooperation," *Organization of Turkic States*, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/political-cooperation\_1.
- 12 "History," TURKPA, https://turk-pa.org/en/content/about\_turkpa/history.
- 13 "Activities, "TURKPA, https://turk-pa.org/en/content/about\_turkpa/activities.
- 14 "About Mission," TURKPA, https://turk-pa.org/en/content/events/aboutmission.
- 15 "Statement of the Organization of Turkic States on the Events Taking Place in Kazakhstan," *Organization of Turkic States*, January 6, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-on-the-events-taking-place-in-kazakhstan\_2430.
- 16 "Statement by the Secretary General of the Organization of Turkic States on the Situation at the Kyrgyz-Tajik State Border," Organization of Turkic States, January 28, 2022, www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-by-the-secretary-general-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-on-the-situation-at-the-kyrgyz-tajik-state-border\_2444.
- 17 "Turkic University Union," Organization of Turkic States, November 7, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/education\_4/turkic-university-union\_14.
- 18 "Orkhun Exchange Program," Organization of Turkic States, January 28, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/education\_4/orkhun-exchange-program\_15.
- 19 "Turkic Academy," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/en/iliskili-kurumlar/turkic-academy\_1.
- 20 "About," TURKSOY, https://www.turksoy.org/en/turksoy/about.
- 21 "Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/en/iliskili-kurumlar/turkic-culture-and-heritage-foundation\_5.
- 22 "Turkic Chamber of Commerce and Industry," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/economic-cooperation\_2/turkic-chamber-of-commerce-and-industry\_40;

- Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," p. 200.
- 23 "Modern Silk Road Tour Package," Organization of Turkic States, January 28, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/tourism\_6/modern-silk-road-joint-tour-package\_13.
- 24 The Cooperation Council of Turkic States (The Turkic Council): How a Regional Organization Uses South-South Cooperation to Promote Regional and Global Development, New York: United Nations Office for South -South Cooperation, 2017.
- 25 "Health Cooperation," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/health-cooperation\_12.
- 26 Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," p. 193.
- 27 "Organization of Turkic States Delivered Covid-19 Vaccines to African Counties," Organization of Turkic States, December 7, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/organization-of-turkic-states-delivered-covid-19-vaccines-to-african-countries\_2412.
- 28 Hazal Mengi-Dinçer et al, "Evaluating the International Renewable Energy Agency through the Lens of Social Constructivism," Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, No. 152 (2021), p. 4.
- 29 Alexander Wendt, "Constructing International Politics," *International Security*, Vol. 20, No. 1 (1995), pp.71–81.
- 30 Michael Barnett & Martha Finnemore, "The Politics, Power and Pathologies of the International Relations," *International Organization*, Vol. 53, No. 4 (1999), pp. 699–700.
- 31 Paul. R. Viotti & Mark V. Kauppi, International Relations Theory, New York: Pearson, 2012, pp. 277–291.
- 32 Çağla Gül Yesevi, "Uluslararası İlişkiler Bilim Dalında Sosyal İnşacılık Yaklaşımının İncelenmesi," Elektronik Siyaset Bilimi Araştırmaları Dergisi, Vol. 12, No. 1 (2021), pp. 57–58.
- 33 Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," pp. 194–207.
- 34 Çağla Gül Yesevi & Burcu Yavuz Tiftikcigil, "Sosyal İnşacılık Açısından IRENA'nın Değerlendirilmesi ve Türkiye'nin Yenilenebilir Enerji Politikası," Kocaeli Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, No. 33 (2017), p. 116. Also see Seçkin Köstem, "When Can Idea Entrepreneurs Influence Foreign Policy: Explaining the Rise of the 'Turkic World' in Turkish Foreign Policy," Foreign Policy Analysis, Vol. 13, No. 3 (2017), pp. 722-740.
- 35 "Turkic World Vision-2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf, p. 3.
- 36 "Turkic Council and Cooperation in Eurasia."
- 37 Martha Finnemore & Kathryn Sikkink, "International Norm Dynamics and Political Change," *International Organization*, Vol. 52, No. 4 (1998), pp. 892–894.
- 38 Ibid, pp. 895-899.
- 39 Martha Finnemore, "International Organizations as Teachers of Norms: The United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization and Science Policy," *International Organization*, Vol. 47, No. 4 (1993), pp. 565–597.
- 40 Martha Finnemore & Stephen J. Toope, "Alternatives to Legalization: Richer View of Law and Politics," *International Organization*, Vol. 55, No. 3 (2001), pp. 744–746.
- 41 "Turkic World Vision-2040," pp 1–2.
- 42 Barnett & Finnemore, "The Politics, Power, and Pathologies of International Organizations," pp. 699–732.
- 43 Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," p. 213.
- 44 Alexander Wendt, Social Theory of International Relations, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999, pp. 279–285.
- 45 Martha Finnemore & Kathryn Sikkink, "Alternatives to 'Legalization': Richer Views of Law and Politics," *International Organization*, Vol. 55, No. 3 (2001), pp. 743–758.
- 46 Muhittin Kaplan et. al., "One Nation, Many Voices? External Cohesion of the Turkic Council States in the United Nations General Assembly, 1993–2011", Bilig, No. 74 (2015), pp. 125–150.

- 47 Yesevi, "Uluslararası İlişkiler Bilim Dalında Sosyal İnşacılık Yaklaşımının İncelenmesi," p. 58.
- 48 Nicholas G. Onuf, World of Our Making: Rules and Rule in Social Theory and International Relations, Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 1989, pp. 1–30.
- 49 Muharrem Ekşi, "Türkiye'nin Türk Dünyasına Yönelik Kamu Diplomasisi: Yeni Araç ve Mekanizmalar," Türk Dünyası İncelemeleri Dergisi, Vol. 17, No. 1 (2017), p. 14.
- 50 "Declaration of the Eighth Summit of the Organization of Turkic States, Istanbul, Türkiye," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/declaration-of-8th-summit-2395-148.pdf.
- 51 "Statement by the Secretary General of the Organization of Turkic States."
- 52 "Turkic World Vision-2040."
- 53 Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," p. 200.
- 54 Finnemore, "International Organizations as Teachers of Norms," pp. 566–568.
- 55 Martha Finnemore, "Constructing Norms of Humanitarian Intervention," in R.K. Betts (ed.), Conflict after Cold War, New York: Longman/Pearson, 2004, pp. 319-325.
- 56 "Türk Konseyi Genel Sekreteri Baghdad Amreyev: 'Yeni Nesil Ortak Türklük Değerlerine Bağlı'," Kriter Dergi, November 1, 2021, https://kriterdergi.com/soylesi/turk-konseyi-genel-sekreteri-bagdad-amreyev-yeni-nesil-ortak-turkluk-degerlerine-bagli.
- 57 "Turkic World Vision-2040."
- 58 See Dr. Yakup Ömeroğlu's address to the Institute of Strategic Thinking at "Dil ve Kültür Temelinde Türk Devletleri Teşkilatı," *Youtube*, January 22, 2022, https://youtu.be/aMsJpp\_tDAw.
- 59 Onuf, World of Our Making, pp. 1-30.
- 60 Kocaman, "Adjusting to the New Normal' of Post-COVID-19," pp. 193-202.
- 61 "Speech of the Secretary General of the Organization of Turkic States, Baghdad Amreyev at the 8th Summit of the Leaders," Organization of Turkic States, November 12, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/speech-of-the-secretary-general-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-baghdad-amreyev-at-the-8th-summit-of-the-leaders-2398-121.pdf.

## Turkic World Vision–2040: A Step Forward for the Resilience of Turkic Cooperation

Pelin MUSABAY BAKİ\*

#### **Abstract**

The article explores the "Turkic World Vision-2040" adopted during the Istanbul Summit held on November 12, 2021 by the Heads of States of the Organization of the Turkic States (OTS) through the lense of the theory of resilience. This Summit was historical in many terms where the name of this institutionalized regional cooperation mechanism changed from Cooperation of Turkic Speaking States (Turkic Council) to OTS, modalities for observership and partnership were adopted and Turkmenistan became an observer to the Organization. As one the staunch outcomes of the Summit, "Turkic World Vision-2040" constitutes the first strategic document of the Organization established in 2009 with the Nakhchivan Agreement. Touching upon the turbulence through which the international system is passing today and the accompanying need for better global governance, the article first touches upon the basic elements of the theory of resilience, then turns to the vision documents prepared by international actors to offer resilient solutions to the challenges of today and tomorrow. Next, the structure of the OTS vision document is examined, together with its linkages to resiliency. Finally, the article discusses what "Turkic World Vision-2040" brings to the ongoing Turkic cooperation in terms of resilience.

Received on: 02.02.2022 Accepted on: 27.05.2022

PhD, Chief of Section, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Türkiye. E-mail: pelin.musabay@mfa.gov.tr, ORCID: 0000-0001-9564-7533.

#### Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, Turkic World Vision–2040, resilience, Turkic cooperation, global governance.

#### Introduction

The famous first lines of A Tale of Two Cities by Charles Dickens aptly describes the status of the international system as we know it today as also acknowledged by H.E. Minister Çavuşoğlu, Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Türkiye in his opening address at the annual Antalya Diplomacy Forum in 2022: "It was the best of times, it was the worst of times, it was the age of wisdom, it was the age of foolishness." On the one hand, we have all the capabilities necessary to run a workable global order. On the other hand, even the territorial integrity of sovereign states can be questioned under today's pressing circumstances. Instead of moving ahead toward an empowerment of the rulesbased international order, there is a strong trend of regression regarding international law and values. While there is ample room to make the international order more inclusive, representative and resilient, debates on the enlargement of "spheres of influence" have resumed, as if there is a new chessboard on the table. In addition to these challenges, the Russia-Ukraine war has disrupted several geopolitical and geo-economic calculations at both the regional and global level, constituting another turning point in the history of international relations bringing with it a wide range of repercussions and severe humanitarian, military, economic and food security challenges.

The international system had already been experiencing severe turbulence, especially in the last twenty years, and the recent outbreak of COVID-19 and the unpreparedness to manage it have crowned it. The quest for building resilient societies, states and a more representative international order has already been one of the most debated topics of the global agenda for decades. As modern challenges to international development and security become more complex, interrelated and unpredictable than ever, the notion of "resilience" has gained further ground in the literature of international relations (IR). In this fragile scaffold of global order, international organizations have begun to adopt new

strategies to adapt to the new realities of today's global system. Therefore, the period of 2020–2022 is emerging as a time of renewed visions with new projections for the future. For instance, "2030 NATO: United for a New Era" report which constitutes the basis of NATO's new strategic concept adopted in June 2022 during the NATO Summit in Madrid, is among these new vision papers. Prepared by a high-level, independent expert group appointed by the NATO Secretary-General, the report presents a wake-up call for the Alliance to recalibrate for future uncertainties, and prepared for "a world of competing great powers." This timely report makes countless references to "resilience" and "the importance of building resilient societies" to counter today's security challenges and ensure the development of global governance that goes hand in hand with it.

Following the Strategic Concept endeavors of NATO, the EU has also engaged in the preparation of strategic documents. The "EU Global Strategy", drafted by Nathalie Tocci, Special Advisor to the Former High Representative of Foreign Affairs and Security Policy and Vice President of the European Commission Frederica Mogerini, and published in 2016, was a remarkable work in this direction. The strategy not only focuses on EU issues, but places special emphasis on the potential and prospects of resilience in the EU's global role"—zooming inward toward resilience within the EU and zooming outward toward resilience in the multilateral system.3 Indeed, the "EU Global Strategy" elevated resilience to one of the EU's top priorities. 4 Tocci presents a self-critique of the EU's implementation of resilience in her article. Thus, the EU launched preparation of a new strategic document, resulting in the release of its "Global Compass 2022", approved at the EU Foreign Affairs Council on March 21, 2022.5 This document again makes reference to resilience, albeit to a lesser degree compared to the previous one. Nevertheless, it focuses on giving the EU an ambitious plan of action for strengthening the EU's security and defense policy by 2030. It is important to note that, the document misses the truth and reality and myopically views Türkiye, a candidate country and NATO ally, from such a shallow perspective, particularly in the chapter on the Eastern Mediterranean, where there is a persistent denial of Türkiye's rights and those of the Turkish Cypriots, in full contradiction of international law, practice and even the EU's own acquis.6

Contributing to the efforts of strategic thinking taking place at the global level, the Heads of States of the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) that was named before the Council of Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (Turkic Council) adopted "Turkic World Vision-2040" during the historical Istanbul Summit hosted by H.E. Recep Tayvip Erdoğan, President of the Republic of Turkiye, on November 12, 2021. This is the first strategic document prepared since the OTS' establishment as the Turkic Council in 2009. As such, it constitutes an important opening for the organization as a real pledge for the upcoming two decades. The preparation of this document was commissioned during the Baku Summit on October 15, 2019, hosted by H.E. Ilham Aliyev, President of the Republic of Azerbaijan, upon the proposal of the Republic of Kazakhstan. It was eventually based on the stipulations of the Nakhchivan Agreement adopted in 2009 as the founding document that set the tone for the institutionalization of cooperation among the Turkic States.<sup>7</sup>

The collapse of the Soviet Union had paved the way for the emergence of five new independent Turkic States: the Republic of Azerbaijan, the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, the Republic of Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan. With its background of Summit Process dating back to the 1990s, this emergence resulted in the awakening of a long-awaited Turkic cooperation. However, the achievement of this cooperation was not as easy as it had been dreamed of and projected for. The individual conditions of the Turkic States, along with regional circumstances and global calculations were not ready for the initiation of such cooperation in its full expression.8 However, the establishment of the Turkic Council with its permanent Secretariat based in Istanbul and its achievements in a relatively short period of time soon gained it popularity on the international scene.9 This led to the accession of Uzbekistan as a Member State in 2019, as well as Hungary and Turkmenistan as observer states in 2018 and in 2022, respectively. The organization's scope of cooperation increased throughout the years in line with the changing needs of its Member States and the developments at both regional and global level. In this regard, the recent historical Istanbul Summit was dedicated to theme of "Green Technologies and Smart Cities", in true resonance with the global agenda. 10

The Istanbul Summit was a historical event in many respects: the name of the Turkic Council was changed to the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), the adaption of the document regarding the modalities of observership and partnership opened a new page for the organization, and Turkmenistan became an observer state, completing the OTS' roster of former Soviet Turkic states. Above all, however, the most important development of the Istanbul Summit was the adoption of the "Turkic World Vision–2040". This first strategic document of the organization took more than a year to prepare, and is the outcome of the tremendous efforts of the Secretariat, the contributions of the Member States and

When we look into the details of the "Turkic World Vision–2040", we find clues about the background of the establishment of the organization, its aims and values, its areas of collaboration, its enlargement process, its cooperation with international actors and its contributions to inter-regionalism together with the future measures to be taken to empower the Turkic cooperation.

the guidance of Türkiye's Ministry of Foreign Affairs, which assumed the chairmanship of the organization just after the Istanbul Summit. The implementation of the vision document will be framed and detailed in a series of strategic road maps to be renewed every five years in line with the priorities of the organization. The "First Road Map 2022–2026" is expected to be approved later in 2022 as an implementation framework. When we look into the details of the "Turkic World Vision-2040", we find clues about the background of the establishment of

the organization, its aims and values, its areas of collaboration, its enlargement process, its cooperation with international actors and its contributions to inter-regionalism together with the future measures to be taken to empower the Turkic cooperation.

In the light of above-mentioned issues, in this article, we will analyze the "Turkic World Vision-2040" through the lens of the theory of resilience. We will first touch upon the basic elements of the theory of resilience; next we will examine the structure of the document together with its linkages to resiliency; then, we will explore the new openings the vision document presents for Turkic cooperation in terms of resilience.

#### Resilience: A Smart Way of Thinking & Dynamic Process

Resilience derives from the Latin verb *resilire*, meaning "to bounce back from damage".11 It is not of course a new phenomenon, but there is no doubt that its initial definition has expanded throughout the years. The concept of resilience as we use it today originated in ecology in the 1970s as the ability "to absorb changes of variables and parameters"; it then penetrated in other disciplines, from psychology and economics to the social sciences. 12 In recent years, the concept of resilience has become particularly interlinked with governance, especially in IR.<sup>13</sup> During the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, the term "resilient power", which refers to a nation's ability to adapt itself to changing conditions and renew its capabilities, gained traction.<sup>14</sup> Before the emphasis on the subject matter, the concept has already entered into the literature of IR with regard to global governance.<sup>15</sup> The concept has been more and more problematized in the framework of the United Nations (UN) and other international organizations, through its linkages to issues such as good governance, sustainable development, security, urban planning, peace-keeping and the management of humanitarian crises.<sup>16</sup>

Impressively, all of the major international actors, including the UN, the UN Development Program (UNDP), the World Bank, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the Council of Europe, the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), NATO and the EU make strong reference to the importance of resilience in their respective.<sup>17</sup> The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which constitute important targets to make the world more livable leave no one behind, repeat the term resilience countless times in the descriptions of each of the 17 targets.<sup>18</sup> Resilience is thus considered essential for the implementation of the 2030 Global Sustainable Agenda.<sup>19</sup>

There is also an ongoing debate as to whether the increasing role of resilience in governance and security discourse is too Western-oriented. Critics argue that the concept of resilience has become a component of neo-liberalism, ignoring the self-governance methods of the rest of the world.<sup>20</sup> However, this does not seem as a relevant criticism and constitutes rather a biased approach as several documents of other organizations such as the Organisation of Islamic Cooperation (OIC),<sup>21</sup>

the Economic Cooperation Organization (ECO),<sup>22</sup> the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN),<sup>23</sup> the Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU),<sup>24</sup> the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO)<sup>25</sup> and the African Union (AU),<sup>26</sup> whose member states do not always follow a neo-liberal approach, make reference to the importance of resilience in their policy documents.

Depending on the disciplines, contexts and situations in which it is evoked, the concept of resilience has a number of different, in some cases multifaceted meanings. Thus, resilience discussions tackle a variety of themes, from politics, the economy, sustainable development, counter-terrorism, energy supply security and cyber security to disaster risk-management and climate change, together with all their domestic and external dynamics.<sup>27</sup> Clearly, resilience is not a static concept but rather is in perpetual movement.<sup>28</sup> As a multi-layered phenomenon, resilience is described and implemented differently in various fields and branches of academia. Yet overall, resilience is characterized as "the capacity to adapt, respond, react and bounce back in the aftermath of shocks and crises in a timely and efficient manner."29 Taking into consideration that resilience has become a commonplace concept in our daily lives, it is also about preparedness, responsiveness and agility, as well as the implementation of adequate policies for prevention and management.

The latter definition places a special emphasis on empowerment and capacity-building.<sup>30</sup> Truly being resilient at the policy level necessitates not only a system of a certain quality, but also effective processes of governance in an increasingly complex and dynamic environment at both the local and global level. For this reason, providing a link between local and global phenomena is of utmost importance in facilitating change, mitigating complexity and managing unpredictability.<sup>31</sup> Thus, local and global governance are certainly inseparable from each other; this necessitates cultivating qualities of resilience across different sectorial polices. This is directly related to frame resilient, sustainable and robust institutions that are the *sine quo non* of rules-based international order.

Resilience is not of course only about structuring resilient institutions but also about building resilient societies. Therefore, observing, preventing, responding, repairing the imbalances of governance, managing, recovering and ensuring post-recovery constitute the essence of resilience-thinking, whatever subject is at stake. When it comes to cooperation, whether at the regional or global level, the term is usually accompanied by key words such as partnering and shouldering, often through innovative, comprehensive and mutual-learning methods supported by capacity-building activities in order to secure a workable global governance system. With all of these features, resilience is certainly a dynamic process: there is no-one-size-fits-all resiliency. Because of its responsiveness to local conditions, resilience cannot necessarily be exported from one locale to another. Yet because of our increasing interconnectedness, resilience has a global reach and effect, and should be based on universal values and rules with a human-centered approach.

In IR, there is an organic linkage between resilience and good governance that can be summarized as "a process of decision-making that is accountable, transparent, just, responsive and participatory."32 Establishing good governance at the national level requires building inclusive, prosperous and secure institutions and societies. Implementing tailor-made policies to meet the dire needs of everyday people, building on social capital, securing connectedness based on a resilient economy, engaging all reliable actors and institutions in harmony, ensuring effective and responsive delivery of public services, developing good communication skills and mobilizing all the potential for cooperation among all of these actors are among the key concepts to bolster the linkage between good governance and resilience.<sup>33</sup> And as long as resilience within states is well-built, resilience at the regional level will be enhanced. In this regard, regional organizations such as the OTS assume an important responsibility; promoting resilience at the regional level will have a domino effect to enhance global resilience within the multilateral system in a rules-based order. A constructive, comprehensive and inclusive approach to be applied at regional level would promote a resilient multilateralism where discussions regarding reforms of the UN and its Security Council would be much more tempered and productive. Thus, international organizations within the multilateral system can ensure their relevance and thus their perpetuation through institutional transformation in line with the necessities of the day by adapting to the environment they face.<sup>34</sup>

# Turkic World Vision-2040: An Ambitious Pledge for the Future

"Turkic World Vision-2040" was adopted at the 8th historical Istanbul Summit of the OTS, more than twelve years since the establishment of this regional cooperation organization. The 2009 Nakhchivan Agreement constitutes the beginning of this institutionalized collaborative pathway leading to today's cooperation scheme, which has yielded remarkable achievements in a short period of time.<sup>35</sup> Equipped with adequate instruments in its toolkit, the OTS has been instrumental in increasing cooperation among the Turkic States in a wide range of areas. The declarations adopted at the annual Summits by the Heads of State have provided the compass of this cooperation. Furthermore, the activities and projects implemented by the Secretariat have been applauded by the international community, as indicated in the 2017 report of the UN Office for South-South Cooperation, titled "How the Turkic Council Uses South-South Cooperation to Promote Regional and Global Development".36 So what was the relevance of preparing such a vision document and why it is important in terms of resilience?

While the founding Nakhchivan Agreement framed the members' ideal of a regional cooperation mechanism, changes in the needs of the Member States, across the region, and developments in the international system throughout the following years called upon the OTS Member States to envision an enhanced Turkic cooperation in a more structured way. "Turkic World Vision-2040" presents, in 17 pages, a summary of the accumulation of the OTS' past achievements, the organization's commitments and instructions and lays out the OTS' vision for a longterm approach to ongoing Turkic cooperation. It is organized into four sections or 'pillars' in line with the existing cooperation mechanisms within the OTS: (1) political and security cooperation; (2) economic and sectoral cooperation, including economics, transport and customs, information and communications technology (ICT), energy, tourism, health, environment and agriculture; (3) people-to-people contact, which includes areas such as culture, education and science, youth and sports, diaspora, information and media, as well as cooperation with civil societies; and finally (4) cooperation with external parties, which includes cooperation with international organizations, and humanitarian and development cooperation.<sup>37</sup>

The introduction to "Turkic World Vision–2040" begins with a statement of the document's necessity: "We are living in an age that requires a strategic vision to recognize and address the rapid changes worldwide and their impact on us." It highlights the need for Member States to adapt themselves, their societies and institutions to the emerging global realities. The numerous references made to preparedness, resilience, capacity for adaptation and transformation across a spectrum of political, economic to cultural domains emphasize the importance that the organization attributes to this outcome. Cooperative mech-

anisms and joint projects within the OTS, the pooling of experiences and the sharing of material and intellectual resources when needed are considered essential instruments for a robust and transparent platform of growing cooperation and solidarity within the Turkic world. What is striking is the awareness within the document that the ongoing process of adaptation needs to be support-

"Turkic World Vision–2040" presents, in 17 pages, a summary of the accumulation of the OTS' past achievements, the organization's commitments and instructions and lays out the OTS' vision for a long-term approach to ongoing Turkic cooperation.

ed by a forward-looking and realistic vision. In this vein, it aims "to develop such a framework to support the capacity of its members to address, individually and collectively, the challenges of our time." It acknowledges the high stakes in play for regional organizations such as the OTS to render the international system more effective, cooperative and representative. "Turkic World Vision–2040" intends to provide direction "for individual and joint action by the member states to further build their administrative capacities to serve the needs and aspirations of their people" and expresses the OTS' promise to "render each Member State stronger nationally and stronger as a group, without prejudice to their already existing international commitments." Referring to the fraternal affinities between the Member States, the document does not forget that positive engagement with other countries and international organizations constitutes a key course of action for the organization.

Following the introduction, after commending the OTS' achievements to enhance cooperation and solidarity among the Turkic states and

their people since its establishment based on historical ties, common language, culture and traditions, the Heads of State of the Member States reiterate their political will "to deepen the ongoing institutionalized Turkic cooperation in line with the stipulations of the Nakhchivan Agreement and the Organization of Turkic States Summit Declarations, in close coordination with the other Turkic Cooperation Organizations." It reaffirms the OTS' robust adherence to "the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations and other universally recognized principles and norms of international law, including sovereign equality, territorial integrity and inviolability of internationally recognized borders of states." Indeed, these key concepts constitute the backbone of the spirit of cooperation within the OTS. 43

Underlining that the multi-layered, systemized and structured multilateral cooperation within the OTS, based on equality, mutual confidence and shared benefit would continue to yield positive outcomes for Turkic states and Turkic people and others, "Turkic World Vision-2040" attributes special importance to the essential components of resilience: good-governance, pluralism, inclusiveness, accountability and transparency in building and maintaining resilient societies. Moreover, the desire "to ensure cooperation with regional and international organizations as well as partners for enhancing development, peace, stability and prosperity worldwide through the development of a comprehensive and inclusive global governance approach with adequate mechanisms" bolsters the resilient-thinking character of this document. 44 Accordingly, it illustrates a decisive call "to secure the reform and efficient functioning of the international system."45 Furthermore, pointing out the necessity of ensuring preparedness, the accent placed on taking joint action to meet the current and emerging global challenges while working for the achievement of the SDGs is of utmost importance, not only for rendering the member, observer and partner states more resilient, but also for building resilient societies. The commitment to strengthen people-to-people interaction and cooperation among the citizens of Turkic states for their active participation in Turkic cooperation and for framing their shared future presents a firm step to be taken to this end. 46 Within this framework, the document describes the OTS as "a responsible and responsive regional actor that keeps its door open for new and innovative cooperation areas of common interest among the Member States as well as other regional and international actors."47

Before engaging in the four pillars of the Vision, the document next presents the elements that will guide the next phase of the OTS' priorities, evolution and direction in the upcoming two decades, and the Heads of State declare their continuing commitment to this unique cooperation. Reflecting their dedication to resilience-thinking, the Heads of State pledge "to channel the cooperative synergy of the Member States and their people to contribute to developing and protecting global common goods and build a more representative and participatory international order with adequate cooperation mechanisms," while "using the cooperative platform of the Organization to strengthen governance and to raise the political, economic and social standards of their societies."48 The aim of "supporting economic, social, and institutional reforms in the Member States to avoid socioeconomic precarity, upholding human dignity and building a more prosperous community of Turkic countries" are equally significant to this end. 49 The items that are sine quo non to build resilient nations and societies are also enshrined in the Vision document. This involves "promoting democratic governance as a general principle while respecting the circumstances of each Member State to advance on this path" and "strengthening good governance with all its aspects including human rights, rule of law, inclusive institutions, transparency, efficiency, accountability and fighting corruption for the socioeconomic development and prosperity of the peoples of the Member States."50 Furthermore, "promoting human security, equality between men and women, as well as women and youth empowerment in our societies" are significant components of resilience necessary to prepare future generations with this line of understanding, as described in the document.51

Economic resilience is another subject that "Turkic World Vision–2040" broadly touches upon in this part of the document with a sectoral approach. Indeed, the Vision encapsulates ambitious aspects to deepen economic cooperation between the Member States.<sup>52</sup> In this regard, it emphasizes the utmost importance of deepening economic cooperation and interaction among the Member States by harmonizing national economic development policies through regular dialogue and experience sharing, increasing the trade volume among the Member States through policies aimed at increasing trade complementarities, facilitating trade and eliminating quantitative restrictions and non-tar-

iff barriers to trade, transforming the Member States into a vigorous regional economic group linking East and West, North and South trade corridors contributing to regional and global economic stability.<sup>53</sup> Meanwhile, the issue of "creating seamless, integrated, efficient, fast and sustainable multimodal connectivity among the Member States by simplifying and harmonizing customs and transit procedures for border crossings, liberalizing their transport sectors, including transit passes" has a wide coverage in the document.<sup>54</sup> This aims "to accelerate transport operations with minimum logistical costs, and eradicate the non-physical barriers to efficient, stable, fast and seamless transport across the Trans-Caspian International East-West Middle Corridor (TITR)."<sup>55</sup> Thus, ensuring connectedness is among the issues that the organization repeatedly takes up to reach a resilient regional economy.<sup>56</sup>

The Vision further refers to contemporary concepts such as establishing intra-regional digital connectivity, supporting the fourth Industrial Revolution in the Member States and ensuring better integration with the global knowledge-based economy through the use of Big Data and digital technologies as well as artificial intelligence in various fields to support transformation into digital, green, smart economies and smart cities. From enhancing cooperation in satellite technology to promoting partnerships between space agencies and relevant institutions, "Turkic World Vision–2040" touches upon several critical areas in compliance with today's necessities.<sup>57</sup>

On the other hand, as mentioned in the Vision, the OTS has already made significant progress in transforming the OTS region into a center of tourism to better utilize its rich cultural and historical heritage as well as the natural attractions of the Member States through new joint tourism projects, and diversifying tourism destinations along the ancient Silk Road for fully tapping their tourism potential. Furthermore, the commitment to "maintaining health cooperation as a priority agenda item among the Member States to achieve universal health coverage, access to quality essential healthcare services as well as to safe, effective, quality, affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all in the aftermath of COVID-19 pandemic" stands as a decisive projection for preparedness with regard to continued and deepening cooperation on health. <sup>59</sup>

For the first time within the history of the OTS, in line with the theme of the 8th Istanbul Summit, environmental issues are emphasized in all relevant areas of the "Turkic World Vision–2040". Accordingly, there is firm pledge "to ensure sustainable agriculture, self-sufficiency and food security in the OTS region through agricultural cooperation together with capacity building and technology transfer programs and partnerships with an emphasis on founding environmentally friendly, sustainable and organic solutions," which we need more than ever today. All of these commitments present remarkable attempts to render the Member States and their societies more resilient across various crucial sectors.<sup>60</sup>

In terms of people-to-people cooperation, "Turkic World Vision–2040" presents the OTS' commitment to achieve further harmonization of the national cultural, educational and youth policies, build capacity to achieve unity in alphabet and terminology for enabling better communication among the Member States and make the OTS region a center of academic and scientific research, learning and innovation. 61 The Vision describes youth cooperation "as an essential element of comprehensive intra-regional cooperation through joint projects on youth mobility, exchange and education together with pledges to make additional efforts to prevent youth from the threat of radicalization and violent extremism."62 The OTS has already made significant efforts in the field of youth cooperation over the past several years. 63 Relatedly, commitments such as ensuring the active participation, engagement and integration of the Turkic diaspora communities in the social, political, economic and cultural life of the countries where they reside and securing institutionalized cooperation among TV, news agencies and media outlets while joining efforts to tackle disinformation and infollution are also beneficial to increase regional resilience by deepening connectedness at the societal level.<sup>64</sup> Moreover, "strengthening the role and activities of the OTS as a responsible and cooperative regional actor at national, regional and international levels through public diplomacy programs and activities" constitutes an important part of the Vision to raise awareness about the activities of the OTS to render its members' societies more resilient and to ensure the resiliency of future generations.65

Cooperation with external actors is also crucial to enhance resilience at the global level, as the document intends. Therefore, "Turkic World Vision–2040" accentuates the OTS' commitment to enhance cooperation with international and regional organizations that share common interests to contribute to global governance. This can be realized by "keeping up with the global agenda of cooperation through collaboration with the UN, its bodies and specialized agencies as well as other relevant international organizations based on the requirements of regional and global ownership." Commitments such as "to render the multilateral system more resilient through working together on the need for UN reform, as well as on the attainment of internationally agreed development goals" together with the targets "to implement joint development and aid programs and projects for responding to the dire needs of the developing and least developed countries across the world" are among the crucial targets of the OTS to achieve this end. 67

Recalling the ecological connotation of the term resilience, the pledge "to develop programs and projects to prevent and respond to natural disasters in the organization's domain and across the world, and coordinate joint initiatives and actions for disaster relief in affected areas" represents another important dimension among the commitments of the OTS to enhance preparedness and ability to withstand such shocks.<sup>68</sup> Last but not least, promoting effective coordination and cooperation

Cooperation with external actors is also crucial to enhance resilience at the global level, as the document intends. Therefore, "Turkic World Vision–2040" accentuates the OTS' commitment to enhance cooperation with international and regional organizations that share common interests to contribute to global governance.

among the relevant authorities of the Member States on issues of migration and displacement constitutes an important needed reality that the Vision highlights in compliance with the aim of developing a more resolute regional and global approach to this trans-boundary issue.<sup>69</sup>

In the part concerning the four pillars of the Vision, the above-mentioned commitments are expressed in detail and accompanied by an illustrated road map.

Instead of zooming in on each pillar, in the next part of the article, we will focus on the new light that the Vision brings to Turkic cooperation in terms of resilience.

# Turkic World Vision-2040: Aspects of Further Resilience

Before its name change from Turkic Council to OTS and the adoption of "Turkic World Vision-2040", this regional cooperation mechanism had been already operating through a well-established working group and Ministerial meeting mechanisms involving actors from the public and private sectors when needed. The dedication of each annual Summit to a specific theme of cooperation enlarged the organization's scope of collaboration. As an umbrella organization of Turkic cooperation with a result-oriented, comprehensive and inclusive approach, the OTS has already contributed to the development of solidarity among the Turkic States and across the region. From diplomacy to the development of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), tourism to transport and customs, youth to health and media, education to media and diaspora, the OTS has been carrying out capacity-building programs and benefiting from the comparative advantages of its Member and Observer States. Within this framework, "pragmatic economic interests have played a more important role than ideological concerns in the development of the OTS."70 Furthermore, its ongoing cooperation with UN agencies and bodies, as well as with other international and regional organizations sharing common goals, has already positioned the OTS among the promising regional institutional mechanisms contributing to the empowerment of global governance.<sup>71</sup> Therefore, one might say that a resilience-oriented approach is already in the genes of the OTS. "Turkic World Vision-2040" brings further dynamic resiliency to the projects and programs that the OTS is already carrying out while paving the way for the development of adequate tools to equip the organization with resilient solutions to the issues on its agenda of cooperation.

Moreover, "Turkic World Vision-2040" provides a strategic perspective to the OTS to shape its future, based on its ongoing rules and values, but in a more innovative, comprehensive and smart manner in line with the requirements of our time.<sup>72</sup> Within this framework,

each of the document's sub-sections contains references to resiliency. In this regard, further emphasis is placed on the harmonization of policies and regulations on sectoral cooperation areas with adequate up-to-date means, stimulation of digitalization in each area of cooperation with the power of Big Data, better use of smart technologies, support to entrepreneurship with a reference to young and women entrepreneurs, implementation of environmentally friendly, green solutions, and the development of accountability and sustainability. These are indispensable components of enhancing resiliency. Moreover, the enhancement of knowledge experience and capacity building, and ensuring preparedness in a wide range of cooperation areas from health to disaster management are emphasized, with the aim of rendering the OTS more robust to potential shocks and crises.<sup>73</sup>

From contributing to the green economy and low-carbon development to jointly promoting sustainable rural development programs and effective intellectual property protection, "Turkic World Vision–2040" calls repeated attention to the importance of resilient-thinking and acting. For example, in the pillar of "political and security cooperation", it makes a firm pledge for "strengthening the regular mechanism of multilateral political consultations among the Member States on international and regional foreign policy issues of common interest while increasing synergy among national institutions and other stakeholders to achieve the targets of OTS to leverage Turkic cooperation." This commitment constitutes an important proof that the Organization is seeking to enhance its resiliency with regard to the empowerment of cooperation in foreign policy areas. Upon the call of Turkish Foreign Minister Çavuşoğlu, the OTS had organized an extraordinary meet-

Moreover, "Turkic World Vision-2040" provides a strategic perspective to the OTS to shape its future, based on its ongoing rules and values, but in a more innovative, comprehensive and smart manner in line with the requirements of our time.

ing to take up the developments in Afghanistan on September 27, 2021, after which a joint statement was released, before the adoption of "Turkic World Vision–2040".<sup>75</sup> Moreover, the Council of Foreign Ministers of the OTS, upon the initiative of Foreign Minister Çavuşoğlu, acting as Chairperson in Office of

the Organization, held an extraordinary video-conference meeting on January 11, 2022 to discuss the recent developments in Kazakhstan.<sup>76</sup> In addition to the regular meetings of Foreign Ministers, the OTS has already accelerated its efforts to voice joint positions on issues of common interest. The OTS is on a path to empower political resilience among its Member and Observer States.

References made to "the improvement of professional skills of public entities in good governance and public service delivery, strengthening of rule of law, judicial systems and legal infrastructure and institutional capacities in Member States" perfectly dovetail with the endeavor to render regional cooperation more resilient.<sup>77</sup> With this aim, "strengthening the Representation Office of Organization of OTS in Budapest as a hub for developing multi-layered cooperation with European institutions including the Visegràd Group" constitutes a significant target to bolster cooperation between the OTS and European institutions on issues of mutual interest.<sup>78</sup> Moreover, the pledge "to carry out tangible joint projects with international and regional organizations that share common goals to contribute to the global governance" indicates that the Organization will continue to track the global agenda very closely.<sup>79</sup>

When it comes to security cooperation, the OTS' focus is "on building a network for cooperation and information-sharing among the Member States to combat the threats of radicalization, violent extremism, Islamophobia, xenophobia and terrorism, and to ensure border security." Furthermore, "carrying out effective cooperation and coordination among law enforcement authorities to combat transnational organized crime, including illegal drug trade, irregular migration, human trafficking, illicit arms trade, organ trafficking, economic, financial and cybercrimes as well as illegal migration" are equally important in enhancing security cooperation in the region and for empowering the resilience of the Turkic States in the mentioned fields. 81

The section of the document that addresses economic and sectoral cooperation is quite long and detailed. What is pressing here, is the strong commitment to "work toward the achievement of free movement of commodities, capital, services, technologies and people among the Member States." Supporting the development of SMEs in the Member and Observer States and mobilizing resources to be allocated to the development of joint projects are other important issues touched upon in this part of the document. For more than two years, the OTS has been working on the establishment of the Turkic Investment Fund to be operationalized as a significant step toward boosting economic cooperation between the Member and Observer States for these particular reasons.<sup>83</sup>

Digitalization, in the context of several economic and financial issues, is also of utmost importance for the OTS. In this regard, prioritizing the diversification of economic activities to increase the resiliency with a focus on evolving digital technologies, cooperating to build a future knowledge economy, generate opportunities and enhance infrastructure for greater production capabilities in different sectors constitute specific, achievable targets to be reached by joining efforts. Specific reference is made to nurture policies for "sustainable, green, innovative, smart, and inclusive economic growth while preserving macroeconomic and financial stability" and "to prepare a favorable environment for the development of start-ups and innovative entrepreneurship and expanding the network of incubators among the Member States," indicating that the OTS is fully aware of the need for global economic resilience and has a realistic strategy for its development vis-à-vis economic and financial issues.<sup>84</sup> Furthermore, the Vision makes a significant pledge for "jointly promoting the Zangezur Corridor at various international economic platforms" to enhance regional economic and logistic connectivity; this corridor has become a significant cooperation issue since the glorious 44 Days Victory of the Republic of Azerbaijan. 85

Among other sectors of cooperation, the environment has an innovative share in the Vision document and this is the first time that the OTS has been vocal in its commitment "to give priority to environmental protection in the national and joint policies of the Member States and take necessary measures to increase societal awareness on this global challenge." Furthermore, the announcement of the establishment of a "Turkic Council Civil Protection Mechanism" to take joint action to prevent and respond to natural and manmade disasters and to mitigate their effects while working on recovery is another important contribution to the preparedness aspect of the OTS' emphasis on resilience. This on-call mechanism, whose regulatory documents are under preparedness as the contribution of the preparedness as the other contribution to the preparedness as presented as the contribution of the preparedness as the other contribution to the preparedness as presented as the contribution of the preparedness as presented as the contribution of the preparedness as the contribution of the other contribution to the preparedness as presented as the contribution of the other contribution to the preparedness as presented as the contribution of the other contribution of the

ration, will provide a concrete cooperation mechanism through which the peoples of the OTS will benefit when needed. The OTS pledge to increase cooperation in this area matches well with the "Drought Prevention Center" proposed by Hungary to be established in addition to the OTS Representation Office in Budapest.<sup>87</sup> Moreover, although there is no reference to it in the Vision, this goes hand-in-hand with the document's spirit with regard to environmental protection as a sign of the OTS's further engagement in the fight against climate change and its devastating consequences.

In addition to environmental issues, "Turkic World Vision–2040" touches upon on food security as another important challenge facing the world today. It details the means to carry out cooperation in agriculture, an important aspect of resilient economies and societies. References made to "the achievement of digital connectivity through the effective use of space technologies within the ICT cooperation" are also remarkable in terms of enlarging the scope of cooperation to such an important area that requires resiliency. References and establishing result-oriented cooperation among the Member States through joint programs" and the intention to "share space-based data for resource management, disaster risk reduction and sustainable development" indicates that even the sky is not the limit for enhancing collaboration within the OTS.

In terms of ideas to build resilient societies, the Vision is very generous in its pillar of people-to-people cooperation in culture, education and science, to youth and sports, diaspora, and information and media cooperation. In each area of this cooperation sphere, "Turkic World Vision–2040" emphasizes the importance of raising Turkic generations who are aware of the necessity of national, regional and global good governance directly linked to the concept of resilience. In addition to this, the Vision seeks to foster an "enabling environment for networking, and supporting the joint work of civil society organizations with the aim of strengthening dialogue among them and ensuring their active engagement in the socio-economic and political development of their countries." Meanwhile, it urges "the involvement of civil societies in the activities of OTS and other Turkic Cooperation Organizations to promote common culture, foster dialogue and boost people-to-people

contacts within the region" through a participatory and inclusive approach. 92 All of these elements are crucial to building and sustaining resilient societies through connectedness and engagement.

In the section addressing cooperation with external parties, "Turkic World Vision–2040" reiterates the OTS' pledge to enhance cooperation with international and regional organizations as well as third countries through joint projects and sectoral partnerships. Contributing to the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in the Member States and across the globe, as it was first enshrined in the OTS' 2018 Cholpon-Ata Declaration, is also emphasized in this part of the document. 93 What is more striking is the inclusion of humanitarian and development cooperation in this pillar with a firm commitment "to channel official development assistance and lines of development credit for the Member States for poverty eradication in developing countries while initiating a regular dialogue with the donor community and providing a regional perspective in donor assistance."94 This crafts a perspective for the OTS "to carry out joint projects to link countries that have development needs with Member States that have solutions."95 These commitments accentuate the significance that the OTS attributes to humanitarian and development cooperation. The donation

In terms of ideas to build resilient societies, the Vision is very generous in its pillar of people-to-people cooperation in culture, education and science, to youth and sports, diaspora, and information and media cooperation.

of a total of 511,000 COVID-19 vaccine doses by OTS members Türkiye and Azerbaijan and observer Hungary to African countries in need in the course of the historical Istanbul Summit constituted an important action step already taken to this end – one that demonstrates cognizance of the close linkage between regional and global resilience. <sup>96</sup>

#### Conclusion

"Turkic World 2040–Vision" represents a dynamic, adaptive and transformative approach to ongoing collaboration within the OTS, which is

truly in line with the realities the organization faces on the ground. The rhetoric used in the document and the ongoing endeavors conducted within the OTS indicate the organization's efforts to make regional cooperation less vulnerable and more robust to face the inevitable crises and shocks the future will hold. Therefore, throughout its four-pillar structure, the Vision aims to better prepare its Member and Observer States to the emerging challenges and provide the necessary climate to deliver a prosperous and sustainable form of well-functioning regional cooperation to the benefit of the rules-based global order. Among others, good governance prevails as a keyword in this sense, at national, regional and global levels that are closely interlinked. The most profound elaboration of resilience can be observed in international organizations whose scope of activities includes the development of expertise, methodologies and instruments for regional and global governance.<sup>97</sup> Through the "Turkic World 2040-Vision", the OTS addresses all three, with a concrete projection for the upcoming two decades in a geo-political and geo-economic environment that is more complicated than ever.

Of course, no vision document is perfect or a "silver bullet". Therefore, the implementation of "Turkic World 2040–Vision" by means of five-year strategic road maps to be adopted at regular intervals is essential to render it a vivid and valid document. As such, the adoption of this document is an important achievement in itself to render Turkic cooperation a more resilient process for regional and global governance. The methods and means for the implementation of commitments stipulated within the Vision are as important as the document itself. Therefore, the materialization of the commitments indicated in the Vision is essential even with a reasonable delay. Thus, the necessary efforts should

be exhorted to properly manage the establishment and implementation of mechanisms such as the Turkic Investment Fund, the Turkic Civil Protection Mechanism and the Drought Prevention Center and to secure their successful functionning and test the resiliency of these commitments. Hence,

"Turkic World 2040–Vision" represents a dynamic, adaptive and transformative approach to ongoing collaboration within the OTS, which is truly in line with the realities the organization faces on the ground.

a balance needs to be struck between theory and practice.

Meanwhile, any redundancy in the projects of the OTS and the other Turkic Cooperation Organizations should be avoided to produce the most efficient and resilient outcomes possible. The aim of building resilient societies and institutions must always be kept top of mind in the OTS, whatever cooperation area is at the stake. To this end, principles such as accountability, preparedness, readiness to adapt and responsibility should continue to be the anchors of Turkic cooperation. These solid principles have long resonated throughout the Turkic world. They appear in *Kutadgu Bilig (Blessed Knowledge)*, written centuries ago in the Karakhanids age by Yusuf Has Hacib, a Turkic philosopher and writer from Balasagun. As a timeless work of Turkic literature dating back to the 11th century, this book and the values it ensconces will keep on inspiring the visionary and resilient aspects of Turkic cooperation.

### **Endnotes**

- 1 See Charles Dickens, A Tale of Two Cities, London: Dent & New York: Dutton Collection, 1906, p.1. For further information on the activities of Antalya Diplomacy Forum, see https://antalyadf.org/en/adf-english/
- Former NATO Deputy Secretary General and Former Turkish Ambassador to NATO and OSCE Tacan İldem also participated in this committee. For further information, see: "NATO 2030: United for a New Era," NATO, December 2020, https://www.nato.int/nato\_static\_fl2014/assets/pdf/2020/12/pdf/201201-Reflection-Group-Final-Report-Uni.pdf.
- 3 Nathalie Tocci, "Resilience and the Role of the European Union in the World," Contemporary Security Policy, Vol. 4, No. 12 (2020), p. 177.
- 4 "Shared Vision, Common Action: A Stronger Europe: A Global Strategy for the EU's Foreign and Security Policy," EU, June 2016, https://europa.eu/globalstrategy/sites/globalstrategy/files/eugs\_review\_web.pdf.
- 5 "A Strategic Compass for Security and Defence: For a European Union that Protects its Citizens, Values and Interests and Contributes to International Peace and Security," EU, March 21, 2022, https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-7371-2022-INIT/en/pdf.
- 6 "Press Release regarding the 'Strategic Compass' Document Approved by the EU," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Republic of Türkiye, March 22, 2022, https://www.mfa.gov.tr/no\_-98\_-ab-tarafindan-onaylanan-stratejik-pusula-baslikli-belge-hk.en.mfa.
- 7 "Nakhcivan Agreement of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/temel\_belgeler/nakhchivan-agreement-on-the-establishment-of-the-copperation-council-of-turkic-speaking-states-1-en.pdf.
- 8 Pelin Musabay Baki, La Coopération entre les pays turcophones et le nouveau régionalisme, unpublished PhD thesis, Galatasaray University, Istanbul, 2020, pp. 420–429.
- 9 Ufuk Ulutaş, "The Turkic Council on the 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of the Nakhchivan Agreement: A View from Turkey," in Ceyhun Şahverdiyev & Dr. Cavid Veliyev (eds.), The Turkic Council on the 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of the Nakhchivan Agreement, Baku: Turkic Council and Air Center, 2019, p. 121.
- 10 "8th Summit Declaration of the Organization of Turkic States," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/declaration-of-8th-summit-2395-148.pdf.
- 11 See Merriam-Webster Dictionary's definition: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/resilience#.
- 12 Jeremy Walker & Melinda Cooper, "Genealogies of Resilience: From Systems Ecology to the Political Economy of Crisis Adaptation," Security Dialogue, Vol. 14, No. 2 (2011), p.156.
- 13 Ibid, p. 157.
- 14 Uri Friedman, "The Pandemic is Revealing a New Form of National Power," *The Atlantic*, November 15, 2020, https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/11/pandemic-revealing-new-form-national-power/616944.
- 15 Walker & Cooper, "Genealogies of Resilience," p. 157.
- 16 Philippe Bourbeau, "La résilience en relations internationales : le côté clair et le côté obscure," in Serban Ionescu (ed.), *Résiliences: Ressemblances dans la diversité*, Paris: Odile Jacob, 2016, p. 283-297.
- 17 Elana A. Treshchenkov, "Resilience in Discourses of the European Union and International Organizations," *International Organizations Research Journal*, Vol. 14, No.1 (2019), p. 56.
- 18 Elena A. Korosteleva & Trine Flockhart, "Resilience in EU and International Institutions: Redefining Local Ownership in a New Global Governance Agenda," *Contemporary Security Policy*, Vol. 41, No.2 (2020), p. 158. For further information on the SDGs, please see https://sdgs.un.org/goals.
- 19 "American Leadership on the Sustainable Development Goals," UN Foundation, https://unfoundation.org/what-we-do/issues/sustainable-development-goals/u-s-leadership-on-the-sdgs/.

- 20 Bourbeau, "La résilience en relations internationales," pp. 283-297.
- 21 "OIC Secretary General Calls for Enhancing Food Security, Agricultural Productivity and Resilience in Member States," Organization of Islamic Cooperation, December 3, 2020, https://www.oic-oci.org/ topic/?t\_id=25012&t\_ref=15266&lan=en
- 22 "ECO Vision 2025 and Implementation Framework", ECO, February 2017, https://www.eco.int/parameters/eco/modules/cdk/upload/content/general\_content/3624/1506486491201cflnbtm0acra-83f5arho4dgc65.pdf.
- 23 "Declaration on Institutionalising the Resilience of ASEAN and its Communities and Peoples to Disasters and Climate Change," ASEAN, May 26, 2012, https://asean.org/wp-content/up-loads/2012/05/26th-DECLARATION-ON-INSTITUTIONALISING-Final.pdf.
- 24 "Eurasian Economic Union: Facts and Figures," *Eurasian Economic Commission*, November 2017, http://www.eurasiancommission.org/ru/Documents/2659\_1\_eng\_Цифры%20и%20 факты\_04Итоговый%20итог.11.2017.pdf.
- 25 "Secretary-General Calls for Stronger Ties with Shanghai Cooperation Organization in Tackling Climate Crisis, Geopolitical Tensions amid COVID-19 Recovery," *Reliefweb*, November 10, 2020, https://reliefweb.int/report/world/secretary-general-calls-stronger-ties-shanghai-cooperation-organization-tackling.
- 26 "Goals and Priority Agenda of 2063," African Union, January 2015, https://au.int/en/agenda2063/goals.
- 27 Tocci, "Resilience and the Role of the European Union in the World," p. 183.
- 28 Bourbeau, "La résilience en relations internationales," p. 283.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 David Chadler, "Resilience and Human Security: The Post-interventionist Paradigm," Security Dialogue, Vol. 43, No. 3 (2012), p. 216.
- 31 Korosteleva & Flockhart, "Resilience in EU and International Institutions," p. 158.
- 32 "Social Capital and Good Governance," *Mercy Corps*, April 2017, https://www.mercycorps.org/sites/default/files/Social-Capital-GoodGovernance-Mercy-Corps-2017.pdf.
- 33 Nikki Bedi et al., "Linking Resilience and Good Governance: A Literature Review," *Anthós*, Vol. 6, No. 1 (2014), pp. 15–23.
- 34 Olivier Nay & Franck Petiteville, "Éléments pour une sociologie du changement dans les organisations internationales," *Critique internationales*, No. 54, (2011/4), pp. 14–15.
- 35 Ömer Kocaman, "Adjusting to the 'New Normal' of Post COVID-19: The Role of Organization of Turkic States in Multilateral Cooperation," *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 26, No. 2 (2021), pp. 192–201.
- 36 Astrid Schnitzer-Skjonsberg, South-South in Action: The Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (The Turkic Council), New York: UNOSSC Publications, 2017, https://www.unsouthsouth. org/2017/09/25/the-cooperation-council-of-turkic-speaking-states-the-turkic-council-2017.
- 37 "Turkic World Vision–2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- 38 Ibid, p.1.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 Ibid, pp. 1–2.
- 41 Ibid, pp. 2-3.
- 42 Ibid, p. 2.
- 43 Pelin Musabay Baki, "Avrasya'da Bölgesel İşbirliği Sürecinden İşbirliği Mekanizmasına: Türk Konseyi," Bilge Strateji, Vol. 6, No. 11 (2014), pp. 141–142.
- 44 "Turkic World Vision-2040," p. 3.
- 45 Ibid.

- 46 Ibid.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Ibid, p. 4
- 50 Ibid.
- 51 "Ibid, pp. 3-4.
- 52 Cengiz Tomar, "Tarihi Dönüm Noktası: Türk Dünyası 2040 Vizyon Belgesi," Anadolu Ajansı, November 19, 2021, https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/analiz/tarihi-donum-noktasi-turk-dunyasi-2040-vizyon-belgesi/2425103.
- 53 "Turkic World Vision-2040," p. 4.
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 Ibid, pp. 4-5.
- 56 For further information on the developments across the Middle Corridor, see Robert M. Cutler, "Is Trans-Caspian Corridor Ready for Prime Time?" *Asia Times*, June 2, 2022, https://asiatimes.com/2022/06/is-trans-caspian-corridor-ready-for-prime-time/.
- 57 "Turkic World Vision-2040," pp. 4-5.
- 58 Eli Hadzhieva, "Silk Road, Revived," *Skylife Magazine*, April 2018, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/yayinlar/modern-ipek-yolu-ortak-tur-paketi-skylife-dergisinin-kapaginda-yer-almistir-9-en.pdf.
- 59 "Turkic World Vision-2040," p. 5.
- 60 Ibid.
- 61 Ibid, p. 6.
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Gülperi Güngör, "Deepening Cooperation: Organization of Turkic States," AVIM Commentary, No: 72 (2021), p. 2.
- 64 "Turkic World Vision-2040," p.6.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 Ibid.
- 67 Ibid.
- 68 Ibid.
- 69 Servet Günerigök, "Turkish Foreign Minister Urges International Cooperation to Tackle Migration," Anadolu Agency, May 19, 2022, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/world/turkish-foreign-minister-urges-international-cooperation-to-tackle-migration/2592647.
- 70 Emre Erşen, "Turkey and the Eurasian Integration: Ideology or Pragmatism?" Vestnik RUDN International Relations, Vol. 22, No. 1 (2022), p. 113.
- 71 Ömer Kocaman, "Adjusting to the 'New Normal' of Post COVID-19," pp. 207–211.
- 72 Baghdad Amreyev, "A New Beginning for Turkic World," Hurriyet Daily News, November 11, 2021, https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/a-new-beginning-for-turkic-world-op-ed-169278.
- 73 "Turkic World Vision-2040," pp. 6-7.
- 74 Ibid, pp. 7–17.
- 75 "Joint Statement of the Council of Foreign Ministers of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States on the Situation in Afghanistan," Organization of Turkic States, September 27, 2021, https:// www. turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-of-the-council-of-foreign-ministers-of-the-coopertion-council-ofturkic-speaking-states-on-the-situation-in-aghanistan\_2344.
- 76 "Organization of Turkic States Convened its Extraordinary Meeting of Foreign Ministers on the Situation in Kazakhstan," *Organization of Turkic States*, January 11, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/organization-of-turkic-states-convened-its-extraordinary-meeting-of-foreign-ministers-on-the-situation-in-kazakhstan\_2437.

- 77 "Turkic World Vision-2040," p. 7.
- 78 Ibid.
- 79 Ibid.
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 Ibid, pp. 7-8.
- 82 Ibid.
- 83 "Turkic Council to Establish US\$500 Million Investment Fund," Silk Road Briefing, June 19, 2020, https://www.silkroadbriefing.com/news/2020/06/19/turkic-council-establish-us500-million-invest-ment-fund/
- 84 "Turkic World Vision-2040," pp. 8-10.
- 85 Ibid.
- 86 Ibid.
- 87 "The Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade of Hungary and Bagdad Amreyev Held a Meeting in a Narrow Circle," *Bright Uzbekistan*, July 26, 2021, https://brightuzbekistan.uz/en/the-minister-of-foreign-affairs-and-trade-of-hungary-and-bagdad-amreyev-held-a-meeting-in-a-narrow-circle/.
- 88 "Turkic World Vision–2040," p. 13.
- 89 Ibid.
- 90 Ibid, pp. 14-16.
- 91 Ibid.
- 92 Ibid, pp. 16-17.
- 93 "Press Release of the Sixth Summit of the Turkic Council," Organization of Turkic States, September 3, 2018, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/press-release-of-the-sixth-summit-of-the-turkic-council\_1670.
- 94 Turkic World Vision-2040," p. 17.
- 95 Ibid.
- 96 Gülsüm İncekaya, "Turkic States to Donate Covid Vaccines to African Countries," *Anadolu Agency*, November 11, 2011, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/latest-on-coronavirus-outbreak/turkic-council-states-to-donate-covid-vaccines-to-african-countries/2418098.
- 77 Treschchenkov, "Resilience in Discourses of the European Union and International Organizations," p. 69.
- 98 Yusuf Has Hacib, Kutadgu Bilig (trans. Reşit Rahmeti Arat), Istanbul: Kabalcı, 2008.

# The Organization of Turkic States' Economic Potential and Cooperation Prospects among its Members

Orkhan BAGHIROV\*

#### **Abstract**

In recent years, the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) has significantly increased its global influence and has attracted new member and observer states. In this process, its economic potential has played an important role. Thus, the main goal of this article is to analyze the OTS' present economic potential and the extent of economic cooperation within the organization, and to determine the future prospects of such cooperation. For this purpose, the article examines the economic potential of OTS member and observer states and the total potential of the organization by focusing on major economic sectors such as trade, transport and energy. It then analyzes the current extent of cooperation among member and observer states in these sectors. Based on the results of these analyses, the article determines the OTS' economic cooperation prospects and discusses the measures that could be taken for the further development of cooperation within the OTS. In general, the results of the research presented in the article reveal that the OTS has a large and comprehensive economic potential, and that despite the level of economic cooperation that has already been achieved within the organization, there are many unrealized opportunities. Therefore, the economic prospects and measures identified in the article could enable member and observer states to focus on those opportunities, thereby increasing the economic strength of the OTS.

Received on: 03.02.2022 Accepted on: 29.05.2022

<sup>\*</sup> PhD Candidate & Leading Advisor, Center of Analysis of International Relations (AIR Center), Baku, Azerbaijan. E-mail: b.orxan07@gmail.com. ORCID: 0000-0002-6517-615X.

# Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, economic cooperation, Middle Corridor, energy, Turkic world.

#### Introduction

The Organization of Turkic States (OTS) is an intergovernmental organization with the goal of promoting and developing comprehensive cooperation among the independent Turkic States. The organization was formerly called the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (Turkic Council). Its name was changed via a joint declaration of the organization's 8th Summit held in Istanbul in 2021. The OTS was founded on October 3, 2009, on the basis of the Nakhchivan Agreement signed by the founding member states of Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Türkiye,<sup>2</sup> becoming the first voluntary alliance of Turkic states in history. In subsequent years, other states joined the organization. During the 6th Summit in Cholpon-Ata, the Kyrgyz Republic became a member, and in September 2018, Hungary received observer status.<sup>3</sup> At the next summit held in Baku in October 2019, Uzbekistan joined the organization as a full member. And at the latest 8th Summit held in November 2021 in Türkiye, Turkmenistan joined as an observer member.

The OTS is committed to the principles of the Charter of the United Nations (UN) and the norms of international law, including sovereign equality, territorial integrity and the inviolability of internationally recognized borders. Although the organization brings together Turkic states, it does not take an exclusive approach. By promoting solidarity and deeper relations among the Turkic-speaking states, it aims to become an effective regional instrument not only for developing cooperation between its members, but also for expanding international cooperation in the Eurasian continent. To achieve this aim, the OTS does not limit itself to working solely within the framework of its members and cooperates with its neighboring states in order to ensure regional and global peace and stability.

As the first organization of Turkic states, the OTS was formed on the basis of the four main shared characteristics of its members: common history, common language, common identity and common culture. The organization aims to broaden existing cooperation in areas such as the economy, science, education, transportation, customs and tourism.

Multilateral cooperation in these areas within the OTS will positively contribute to regional development, particularly in Central Asia and the Caucasus.

While the OTS promotes cooperation in many different sectors, economic cooperation is one of its highest priorities. The organization's purposes and tasks in the economic sector, outlined in Article 2 of the Nakhchivan Agreement, demonstrate that economic cooperation is one of the main pillars of the OTS. The agreement's economic goals include creating favorable conditions for trade and investment; simplifying customs and transit procedures to facilitate the effective movement of goods, capital, services and technologies; and simplifying financial and banking operations to achieve comprehensive and balanced economic growth.<sup>4</sup> The aims to which the summits of the OTS are dedicated also demonstrate the importance of economic cooperation within the organization. Three of the last seven summits have been entirely dedicated to economic issues such as transport and connectivity, cooperation in tourism and support for small and medium-sized enterprises. At the 8<sup>th</sup> Summit, the members agreed to establish a Turkic Investment Fund.<sup>5</sup>

Taking into account the importance of economic issues for the OTS, the main goal of this article is to analyze the economic cooperation opportunities within the organization. For this purpose, the first section focuses on revealing the economic potential of the OTS by analyzing the economic potential of its member and observer states and assessing the total economic potential of the organization. The second section examines the current level, and the weak points of economic cooperation between the member and observer states of the OTS. The last section articulates the prospects for economic cooperation within the organization.

#### Economic Potential

In order to analyze the extent of economic cooperation between OTS member and observer states and the prospects for developing their cooperation, it is important to determine the economic potential of the organization as a whole. Therefore, in this section,

In order to analyze the extent of economic cooperation between OTS member and observer states and the prospects for developing their cooperation, it is important to determine the economic potential of the organization as a whole.

we briefly describe the economic potential of the member and observer states and the total economic potential of the organization by analyzing the level of GDP, trade potential, main trade partners and areas of specialization of the economics of the member states. Determining the economic potential of the OTS enables us to identify the areas in which economic cooperation could be effectively developed, as well as the prospects for further integration.

# The Economic Potential of OTS Member and Observer States

Among the member and observer states of the OTS, Türkiye has the biggest economy. In 2020, despite the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, Türkiye's economy grew by about 1.6%. The following year, the growth level of Türkiye's economy was about 11%, which resulted in the formation of a GDP of \$803 billion. Türkiye's significant economic growth in 2021 affected its levels of trade, and its export volume increased by about 32% to \$225.3 billion. In the same period, Türkiye's level of imports increased by about 23% to \$271.4 billion. The manufacturing industry is the most developed sector of the Turkish economy, and the products of this sector had the biggest share of exports in 2020 (79%).

The second biggest economy in the OTS is Kazakhstan, with a total GDP of \$164.79 billion in 2020. Unlike Türkiye, the size of Kazakhstan's economy decreased in 2020 by about 2.6%; after the bounceback in 2021, the Kazakh economy expanded by about 4% to reach a total GDP of \$171.4 billion. The structure of Kazakhstan's exports is not very diversified as fuels constitute about 61% of its total exports. Kazakhstan's other main export products are manufactured goods, and ores and metals, which have a share of 17% and 6%, respectively.

The third biggest economy among the OTS member states is Uzbekistan, which proved resilient against pandemic-related problems and expanded by about 1.6% in 2020.<sup>11</sup> In 2021, according to preliminary calculations, Uzbekistan's GDP increased by about 6.2%.<sup>12</sup> Compared to the other member states, Uzbekistan has a more diversified economy, since the main products it exports are manufactured goods (26%) and fuel products (22%).

Azerbaijan has the fourth largest economy among the OTS member states, with a total GDP of \$42.6 billion as of 2020. In 2020, because of pandemic-related economic problems, its economy shrank by 4.3%.<sup>13</sup>

According to preliminary calculations, Azerbaijan's GDP increased by about 5.6% the following year to reach \$54.52 billion. <sup>14</sup> The structure of Azerbaijan's exports is not very diversified, and mostly consists of fuel products. In 2020, the share of fuel products in its exports was 86%, whereas the shares of manufactured goods and food products were 4% and 6%, respectively.

In terms of economic size, Kyrgyzstan ranks last among the member states. In 2020, Kyrgyzstan's GDP was about \$7.4 billion, 8.6% smaller compared to 2019. However, in 2021, Kyrgyzstan's GDP level increased by about 3.6% in real terms. As Kyrgyzstan has a diversified economy, the structure of its exports is also diversified. The largest share belongs to manufactured products (17%).

Among the observer states, Hungary has the biggest economy, with a GDP of \$154.3 billion as of 2020.<sup>17</sup> Hungary has a diversified economy, and most of its exports are manufactured products. In contrast, Turkmenistan, the other observer state, has a less diversified economy, and its exports mostly consist of fuel products (88%).<sup>18</sup>

# Total Economic Potential of the OTS

After analyzing the economic potential of the member and observer states separately, we can now determine the total economic potential of the OTS. According to the official statistical numbers of the OTS, the Turkic States have a combined population of approximately 150 million, which constitutes 2% of the world's population. They comprise an area of over 4.5 million square kilometers, 0.9% of the world's

total area.<sup>19</sup> The total GDP of the member states is around \$1.5 trillion, ranking 13<sup>th</sup> as a whole globally. The proportion of the total GDP of the OTS members in the world's GDP is about 1.8%.

After 2015, the OTS member countries' trade relations improved significantly. According to the official calculations of the or-

The total GDP of the member states is around \$1.5 trillion, ranking 13th as a whole globally. The proportion of the total GDP of the OTS members in the world's GDP is about 1.8%.

ganization, since 2015, the trade turnover among the founding member states of the Turkic Council has increased by 22%, reaching almost \$9 billion.<sup>20</sup> If we include Uzbekistan's trade turnover with that of the

member states (Uzbekistan joined the organization as a full member in 2019), then the increase in member states' total trade turnover was about 35% higher in 2020 compared to 2015.<sup>21</sup> Considered separately, Uzbekistan's trade turnover with the member states has increased by 40% since 2016. Adding the trade turnover of the observer states (i.e. Turkmenistan and Hungary) to that of the other members, we come up with a total trade turnover number of \$19.9 billion.<sup>22</sup>

It is instructive to consider the total trade turnover of the OTS members in comparison with countries around the world. According to Türkiye's Union of Chambers and Commodity Exchanges, in 2020, the total foreign trade volume of the OTS member states was about \$560 billion, constituting about 3% of global trade. This represents a huge market in which all the member and observer states could increase their share. By engaging more fully in each others' markets, the OTS members could enter other markets in different parts of the world. An increase of integration between the member states would also create new opportunities to deepen integration with other countries.

To determine the OTS' general economic potential, it is important to analyze the changes in the organization's GDP and total trade volume in recent years, and to look at the structure of its total trade based on product groups and main trade partners. If we look at the data regarding GDP growth, we can observe that during 2020, most of the economies of the member and observer states were affected by the pandemic and their economic growth decelerated. Growth in GDP was recorded only in Türkiye, Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan. The greatest decrease in the size of the economy was recorded in Kyrgyzstan (-8.6%). Despite the pandemic, Türkiye and Uzbekistan were able to maintain a growth rate because their economies are more diversified compared to other members. The economies of the member states in which the oil and gas sectors play an important role were hit hard by the pandemic. However, in 2021, the GDP of all member and observer states increased, as they were able to restore their economies. The highest increase in the level of GDP was recorded in Türkiye, at about 11%. So, the total GDP of the OTS was mostly affected by the pandemics in 2020, and the next year its growth was restored. Compared to other organizations, such as the European Union (EU) and Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU), the effect of the pandemic on the economies of the OTS (including observer states) was moderate.

In 2020, the export levels of most of the member and observer states were also affected by the pandemic. The most significant decreases in

the level of exports were recorded in Turkmenistan, Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, at 34.1%, 30% and 19%, respectively, due to sharp decrease in the prices of crude oil In 2020, the export levels of most of the member and observer states were also affected by the pandemic.

and natural gas, which were the main export products of these countries.<sup>24</sup> However, the dependence of their exports on the oil and gas sector enabled these countries to achieve the highest growth in export levels in the following year. Azerbaijan's export level increased by approximately 64%,<sup>25</sup> while Turkmenistan's and Kazakhstan's export levels increased by 61%<sup>26</sup> and 26%,<sup>27</sup> respectively, in 2021. Türkiye also had a huge increase in the level of exports—32%—in 2021. Similar changes were recorded in the volume of imports in the last two years. In 2020, the level of imports of the OTS member and observer states, with the exception of Turkmenistan, fell as a result of contractions in GDP.<sup>28</sup> In the subsequent year, the import levels of all of the OTS member and observer states increased. All these changes show that fluctuations in the international oil and gas markets affect the trade level of the organization. However, the richness of some member states in terms of oil and gas resources contributes positively to the energy security of the organization as a whole.

An analysis of the structure of OTS trade in general indicates that fuel products, especially oil and gas, along with manufactured products, constitute most of the exports. Some member and observer countries specialize in the export of fuels, and others in the export of manufactured products. This fact reveals that the OTS can effectively meet the demand of the members for energy and manufactured products, which increases the economic security of the organization as a whole. Additionally, some member and observer states specialize in the production of food products, ores and metals, which could play an important role in maintaining food security and supplying the necessary raw materials for the heavy industries of the other members.

Unlike the structure of its trade, the geography of the OTS' trade relations is not very diversified.<sup>29</sup> Because the majority of the member and observer states are post-Soviet countries, they have highly developed trade relations with Russia, making Russia one of the OTS' main trading partners. Russia is one of the top five trade partners of the majority of OTS member and observer states. The members and observer states from Central Asia also have good trade relations with China, their neighboring country. China is one of the top five trade partners of four

out of seven member and observer states. Along with Russia and China, EU members, especially Italy and Germany, are among the countries with which OTS member and observer states have strong trade ties. Oil and gas products play an important role in the formation of trade relations between OTS members and EU states; most of Kazakhstan and Azerbaijan's exports go to Europe. Through these countries, then, the OTS plays an important role in contributing to Europe's energy security. Most of the remaining oil and gas products are exported to China. Manufactured goods and agricultural products are mostly exported to Russia. In short, the geography of OTS trade relations mostly includes Russia, China and Europe—with one major exception: Russia and China are not among Türkiye's top five export partners, while the EU countries are Türkiye's main export partners. 30 Among the member and observer states, Türkiye is the only member country on the list of the top trade partners of the other members, with the exception of Kyrgyzstan.

# Economic Cooperation within the OTS

As detailed in the previous section, the OTS has huge economic potential and many opportunities for its members and observer states to develop bilateral relations. The development of economic relations between members could effectively contribute to their economic growth and financial and energy security. Although economic relations between the member states have significantly improved since the establishment of the organization, there are still untapped opportunities that could expand the scale of their cooperation. In order to determine the potential directions in which their economic cooperation could proceed, it is important to analyze the current extent of economic cooperation between the member and observer states. Thus, in this part, we will analyze the current extent of economic cooperation and compare it to the total potential of the OTS. Comparing the current cooperation level with the total potential will help us determine the OTS' economic cooperation prospects in the subsequent section. For the purpose of analyzing the current extent of cooperation, it is important to look at the main areas of cooperation within the OTS, such as trade, transport and energy.

If we review the total trade turnover of each member and observer state in comparison with other members, we can see that Türkiye has the biggest economy and the greatest volume of trade turnover with other member and observer states—more than \$14 billion as of 2020.<sup>31</sup> The products with the greatest share in Türkiye's trade turnover with other member states are natural gas and manufactured products. Türkiye imports gas from and exported manufactured products, especially those of the light industry, to other members. After Türkiye, Kazakhstan has the highest level of trade turnover with other members, which in 2020 reached a level of more than \$7 billion.<sup>32</sup> Most of the trade turnover between Kazakhstan and other OTS members consists of oil, wheat and gas products. Azerbaijan, the other oil- and gas-rich member of the OTS, had a trade turnover of more than \$4.5 billion with the other member and observer states in 2020.<sup>33</sup> Uzbekistan also has a high level of trade turnover with other members. Its total trade turnover with other OTS states amounted to \$6.5 billion in 2020,34 and consists primarily of fuels, fruits, metals and manufactured goods. Kyrgyzstan has the lowest level of trade turnover with other member and observer states, at about \$1.7 billion in 2020.35 Hungary had a trade turnover with other OTS members of \$3.9 billion at the end of the 2020.36 Although the total trade volume between member and observer states increased from \$11 billion to more than \$20 billion between 2010-2020, it still constitutes only 3% of the total trade of the member and observer states.<sup>37</sup>

To see a clear picture of the trade relations between the member and observer states and the importance of these relations for the countries involved, it is worthwhile to calculate and analyze the share of the trade relations of each member and observer state with the OTS in their total trade. The results of calculations based on the data provided above indicate that Kyrgyzstan had the biggest share of the trade with OTS in its total trade in 2020 at 32%. Although Kyrgyzstan's total trade turnover with other member and observer states is not that high, three members of the OTS—Türkiye, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan—are included in the country's top five trade partners. Kyrgyzstan's trade with other OTS member and observer states mostly consists of food products, metals and manufactured products. Among the other members, Uzbekistan, Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan also had a high share of trade with the organization in their total trade turnover, which in 2020 was 17%, 18% and 19%, respectively.<sup>38</sup> Among them, Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan have one each, and Uzbekistan has two other member states in their top trade partners list. Although Türkiye has the biggest economy and the highest level of trade among the members of the OTS, its share of trade with the member and observer states constitutes only 3% of its total trade.<sup>39</sup> In the case of Kazakhstan, trade with OTS member and observer states also has only a small share in total trade volume, which in 2020 was about 8%. That is why none of the other member or observer states are on the list of Türkiye or Kazakhstan's top trade partners. Although most of the members have a great share of trade with other OTS members in their total trade, the two biggest economies in the organization have a low level of trade with other members and observer states.

The transportation sector is one of the main areas that member and

From a geographical point of view, the members of the organization are spread horizontally across Eurasia, which makes them a natural segment of the East-West transportation corridor and necessitates the development of transportation connections with each other.

observer states are striving to develop within the framework of the OTS. From a geographical point of view, the members of the organization are spread horizontally across Eurasia, which makes them a natural segment of the East-West transportation corridor and necessitates the development of transportation connections with each other. Such connections would empower OTS countries to become major players in the transportation of cargo between

Europe and China. Taking into account the importance of cooperation in this sector, member states are working together on the realization of different transportation projects, especially the Trans Caspian International Transportation Corridor (TITR) or the Middle Corridor.

The Middle Corridor is a rail freight corridor linking China and the EU through Central Asia, the Caucasus, Türkiye and Eastern Europe. The history of the establishment of this route dates back to 2013, when the main railway companies of Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan and Georgia signed an agreement on the establishment of a Coordination Committee for the Development of the TITR.<sup>40</sup> The work of the Coordination Committee led to the adoption of an effective, complex rate schedule for container transportation, and preferential tariffs for the transportation of important products such as fuel, oil and grain. The technology of interaction between transport companies for the passage of container trains via China-Kazakhstan-Azerbaijan-Georgia-Türkiye was also approved. In 2022, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and Georgia agreed to establish a joint venture to develop the TITR by addressing the issues of tariff setting, cargo declaration and the use of unified IT solutions. 41 The Middle Corridor has the potential to transport up to 10 million tons annually, in up to 200,000 containers. 42 The efforts of OTS members

to develop the Middle Corridor have already begun to yield significant results as the volume of freight transportation via this route increased by 101% in 2021 compared to the previous year.<sup>43</sup>

While the Middle Corridor is the primary transport project on which the OTS members have coordinated, other transport routes connect these states as well. These include China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which connects Türkiye, Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Azerbaijan and Kyrgyzstan; the International North-South Transport Corridor, which runs through Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan and Kyrgyzstan; the Southern Trans-Asian Railway, which runs through Kazakhstan, Türkiye and Turkmenistan; and Lapis-Lazuli, which runs through Türkiye and Azerbaijan. Most of these projects, including the Middle Corridor, connect to each other, given that the members of the OTS in the South Caucasus, Central Asia and Türkiye are in the center of Eurasia, and serve as connectors for different transportation corridors. The comprehensive connection of the member states through different communication and transport lines creates great opportunities for the development of cooperation in the transportation sector. Therefore, transportation remains one of the main areas of cooperation within the organization.

In contrast to the transportation sector, cooperation between member and observer states in the energy sector is not very developed. Although three members of the organization are major global oil and gas producers, they mostly export their fuel resources to Europe and China, two of the main economic centers in the world. Among the member and observer states, Azerbaijan and Türkiye have the most developed energy cooperation. In recent years, Azerbaijan has become one of the main natural gas suppliers to Türkiye. Especially after the launch of the Southern Gas Corridor in 2020, gas exports to Türkiye have substantially increased (more than 20% in 2021).44 The other member of the OTS that engages in energy cooperation with other member and observer states is Kazakhstan, which exports oil and gas to Kyrgyzstan and Uzbekistan, albeit in low volumes. Kazakhstan's export of these products to Kyrgyzstan made up 17% (\$103 million) of its total exports to Kyrgyzstan in 2020.<sup>45</sup> In the case of Uzbekistan, it was only 6%. Turkmenistan, another OTS member rich in oil and gas resources, exports these products only to Uzbekistan among the member states. In 2020, it exported about \$161 million worth of refined and crude petroleum to Uzbekistan. 46 All of these factors indicate that, despite progress in cooperation among the OTS countries in the energy sector, its level is too small compared to the capabilities of the member states that are rich in oil and gas resources.

All of the factors and development trends in different economic sectors mentioned above suggest that even though economic cooperation within the OTS has been increasing, many prospective opportunities remain that could be realized in the future. It is worth mentioning that although the OTS was established in 2009, the most noticeable increase in the development of relations within the organization has taken place in more recent years, and the full economic potential of the organization has yet to be realized. Thus, continuing the growth trend of economic cooperation within the OTS in upcoming years could significantly expand the OTS' capabilities to positively contribute to the development of the economies of member states and cooperation within Eurasia.

# Prospects for Economic Cooperation

After analyzing the economic potential and extent of economic cooperation within the OTS, we can now determine its future prospects by focusing on the directions and measures that could expand cooperation within the organization. As noted in the previous sections, cooperation between the member states in the early years of the organization was not highly developed, and this lag affected the OTS' total potential. Over time, as new members and observer states joined the organization, its economic potential expanded in different sectors such as trade, transportation and energy. Today, the OTS still has significant potential that could be realized in the future. So, it is important to identify the main directions and measures that could unleash the unused potential of the OTS in different sectors.

Today, the OTS still has significant potential that could be realized in the future. So, it is important to identify the main directions and measures that could unleash the unused potential of the OTS in different sectors.

According to our research, as presented above, trade volumes between member and observer states have been increasing in recent years. After experiencing a decrease in total trade turnover within the OTS from 2013–2016, the total level of trade turnover among the member and observer states increased by about 1.5 times during 2015–2020 and

reached its highest level in 2019—close to \$21 billion. Nonetheless, the level of trade turnover remains low compared to the total trade poten-

tial of the OTS. Specifically, trade turnover within the OTS constitutes only 3% of the total trade of the member and observer states. Thus, a huge amount of potential for the development of trade relations within OTS remains unused. Taking this factor into account, the member states and management bodies of the OTS should take the necessary measures to promote the development of trade relations between member and observer states. These measures could include the application of tax and customs concessions and the opening of trade houses in order to promote the products of member and observer states in the local markets of other members. Although several measures of this kind have already been taken, it is important to intensify this process and offer more effective concessions. In particular, the members with more diversified economies should be active in this process.

With its large and diversified economy, Türkiye could play a leading role in expanding trade relations within the OTS. Currently, trade with member and observer states makes up only a small part of Türkiye's total trade. Thus, additional measures should be taken to attract Turkish producers and sellers to the markets of OTS member and observer states, and special concessions should be offered by the Turkish side to the other members to allow them to easily enter its market. Observer states could also play an active role in the expansion of the OTS' trade relations. For example, Hungary could play a key role as a bridge between the markets of member states and the EU. Other members' products in the manufacturing and food industries, unlike Türkiye's, cannot easily enter the European market due to standardization differences. Therefore, along with Türkiye, Hungary as a an EU member state could play an important role in the OTS member states' adoption of the EU's production standards. In doing so, Hungary could help the local producers of the member states enter the European market and significantly contribute to the development of the OTS' trade potential.

There are also promising prospects for the development of transportation relations between the member and observer states of the OTS, as global and regional geopolitical processes continue to increase the role of the Middle Corridor, the main transportation project on which the member states are working. It is clear that the heavy sanctions imposed against Russia because of the Russia-Ukraine war will weaken its position as the main transit country connecting Europe with China. Therefore, the importance of the Middle Corridor as an alternative route will increase, and it could become the main overland transportation route in Eurasia. As a result, the OTS member states that are part of

the Middle Corridor will strengthen their position as primary transit countries. However, for this to happen, some technical issues, especially the harmonization of policies and legislation in relevant countries of the OTS, should be finalized as soon as possible in order to make the Middle Corridor ready for the expected increases in cargo. The first steps toward addressing the harmonization issues have already been taken. Recently, Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan and Georgia agreed to establish a joint venture for the development of the TITR.<sup>47</sup> The main goal of this venture is to consolidate transit cargo by contributing to tariff setting, cargo declaration and unified IT solutions.

Along with the Russia-Ukraine war, the intensification of US-China rivalry in the Indo-Pacific region will also increase the importance of the Middle Corridor, as this confrontation is expected to redirect some Chinese cargo from sea to overland transportation through Eurasia. Another geopolitical event generating new prospects for the development of OTS relations in the transportation sector is the end of the Armenian occupation of Azerbaijan's territories in the South Caucasus

Along with the Russia-Ukraine war, the intensification of US-China rivalry in the Indo-Pacific region will also increase the importance of the Middle Corridor, as this confrontation is expected to redirect some Chinese cargo from sea to overland transportation through Eurasia.

after the 44-Day War. As a result of the war, the parties agreed to the establishment of the Zangezur Corridor, which will connect the mainland of Azerbaijan with the Nakhchivan Autonomous Republic, an exclave of Azerbaijan that had been isolated due to the Armenian occupation. Due to the closure of the Azerbaijan-Armenia border because of the occupation, direct land connections between Azerbaijan and Türkiye had also been interrupted. After the estab-

lishment of the Zangezur Corridor, this connection will be restored, and Türkiye will be able to connect directly not only with Azerbaijan, but through Azerbaijan to the other members of the OTS in Central Asia.

Recently, Azerbaijan signed a memorandum of understanding with Iran for the establishment of communication lines connecting the mainland of Azerbaijan with its exclave of Nakhchivan through Iranian territory. The opening of the two parallel communication lines between the mainland of Azerbaijan and Nakhchivan will add new arteries to the

Middle Corridor, increasing its capacity to meet the expected increase in cargo volumes in the future. All of these processes and their anticipated results create advantageous prospects for the development of cooperation within the OTS in the transportation sector. The realization of these new opportunities will not only strengthen the positions of the OTS member states but also increase the geopolitical role of the organization.

Opportunities abound in the energy sector as well. While cooperation in the energy sector has developed to some extent, especially in recent years, and Azerbaijan has become one of Türkiye's main gas suppliers, there is a large gap between the capabilities of the oil- and gas-rich members of the OTS and their actual performance in exporting these resources to other members. The wealth of their capabilities presents opportunities for resourced OTS countries to become the main guarantors of other members' energy security. Thus, in order to strengthen the energy security of the OTS as a whole, the member and observer states should work together on new energy projects and expand cooperation in this direction. To strengthen energy security within the organization, some of the member and observer states could cooperate to become the main transit countries for exporting the oil and gas resources of other members.

Some preliminary steps in this direction have already been taken; for example, discussions on the establishment of the Trans-Caspian Pipeline (TCP) intensified after the completion of the Southern Gas Corridor (SGC).<sup>50</sup> The TCP's purpose is to transport natural gas from Turkmenistan to the EU through Azerbaijan. In 2021, the American company Trans Caspian Resources presented its project for the Trans-Caspian Interconnector.<sup>51</sup> Some plans propose a connection with Kazakhstan. At a recent meeting between the official representatives of Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, the potential for cooperation in the transportation of Kazakh oil through Azerbaijan was discussed.<sup>52</sup> Discussion on the export of Azerbaijani oil to Hungary has also started, and Hungary could receive Azerbaijani gas starting in 2023.53 The implementation of these projects will contribute substantially to the development of cooperation within the OTS in the energy sector. It will also increase the role of some member and observer states in the energy security of other members.

In exploring the OTS' economic cooperation prospects, it is worth looking at "Turkic World Vision–2040", which was approved at the 8<sup>th</sup> Summit of the OTS. The vision statement lays out the organization's medium- and long-term goals and tasks.<sup>54</sup> It also includes a section

titled "Economic and Sectoral Cooperation", which covers general economic development priorities and economic sectors such as transport and customs, energy, tourism and agriculture. The directions indicated in the document for the development of cooperation in these sectors include the prospects mentioned above. The realization of the directions and prospects identified in our analysis, along with the cooperation directions laid out in "Turkic World Vision–2040" will greatly expand the scale of cooperation within the OTS and significantly affect the economic potential of the organization.

#### Conclusion

The research conducted in this article brings us to the conclusion that the OTS has great, untapped economic potential, as its total GDP is ranked 13<sup>th</sup> in the world. The total trade turnover, on the other hand, constitutes 3% of the global trade. Although in 2020, because of the pandemic, the economic potential of OTS decreased, in the following year all member and observer states were able to restore their economies. Compared to other organizations such as the EU and EAEU, the effect of the pandemics on the economy of the OTS was moderate.

The article also analyzed the extent of economic cooperation within the OTS in different sectors such as trade, transport and energy, and revealed that there are still a lot of unused opportunities that could be realized. A noticeable increase in the development of relations within the organization has begun in recent years, which was not enough to realize the full economic potential of the organization. Despite the fact that the total trade volume between the member and observer states increased about 1.8 times from 2010–2020, it constituted only 3% of the total trade of the member and observer states. Among the member and observer states, Kyrgyzstan has the largest share of trade with the OTS in its total trade. However, unlike the other member and observer states, Türkiye and Kazakhstan, the two biggest economies in the organization, have a low share of trade with OTS in their total trade.

Cooperation in the transportation sector within the OTS has also developed in recent years. Member states have worked jointly on the realization of different transportation projects, especially the Trans Caspian International Transportation Corridor or Middle Corridor. The efforts of the members to develop the Middle Corridor have begun to yield significant results, and in 2021, the volume of freight transportation via this route increased by 101%. Cooperation in the energy sector

is less developed, although the three members of the organization are the major oil and gas producers in the world. Among the member and observer states, Azerbaijan and Türkiye have the most developed energy cooperation, as in recent years, Azerbaijan has become one of the main natural gas suppliers to Türkiye.

Based on the analyses in the previous sectors, the last section of the article determined the economic cooperation prospects and the measures that could strengthen cooperation within the OTS. Member states and OTS management bodies could take the significant steps to expand trade cooperation, such as implementing more effective tax and customs concessions and opening trade houses to promote the products of member and observer states. With its large and diversified economy, Türkiye could play a leading role in expanding trade relations within the OTS. Taking into account that trade volume with member and observer states makes up only a small part of Türkiye's total trade, additional measures should be taken to attract Turkish producers and sellers to the markets of OTS countries, and special concessions should be offered by the Turkish side to the other members. Hungary along with Türkiye could play a role as a bridge between the markets of member states and the EU.

There are also promising prospects for the development of transportation relations within the OTS, as recent global and regional geopolitical processes such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict and US-China rivalry in the Indo-Pacific region will increase the importance of the Middle Corridor, which has a chance to become the main overland transportation route in Eurasia. However, for this to happen, some technical issues, especially the standardization of policies and legislation in the relevant countries of OTS, should be finalized. The 44-Day War also created prospects for the development of cooperation in transportation sector. As a result of the war, the establishment of the Zangezur Corridor was agreed upon. Using this corridor, Türkiye will restore direct land connections with Azerbaijan and other members of the OTS in Central Asia. Also, the laying of parallel communication lines to the Zangezur Corridor through the territory of Iran, the establishment of which was recently approved, will also positively contribute to cooperation in the transportation sector within the OTS.

An abundance of capabilities in the energy sector within the OTS creates opportunities for the development of cooperation there as well. Some preliminary steps in this direction have already been taken, and discussions on the establishment of the Trans-Caspian Pipeline, which

will transport natural gas from Turkmenistan to the EU through Azerbaijan, have intensified. Some plans also include a connection of the pipeline with Kazakhstan. In 2021, the American company Trans Caspian Resources presented its project for the Trans-Caspian Interconnector. The export of Azerbaijani gas to Hungary is scheduled to begin in 2023. The implementation of these projects will also increase the role of some member and observer states in the energy security of other members.

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 "Turkic Council's Name Changed to Organization of Turkic States," Hürriyet Daily News, November 13, 2021, https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkic-councils-name-changed-to-organization-of-turkic-states-169333.
- 2 "Turkic Council: 10<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of the Nakhchivan Agreement," Organization of Turkic States, 2019, https://www.turkkon.org/en/yayinlar/special-publication-turkic-council-10th-anniversary-of-the-nakhchivan-agreement\_11.
- 3 "Organization of Turkic States," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/en/turk-konseyi-hakkinda.
- 4 "Nakhchivan Agreement on the Establishment of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States," Organization of Turkic States, October 3, 2009, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/temel\_ belgeler/nakhchivan-agreement-on-the-establishment-of-the-copperation-council-of-turkic-speakingstates-1-en.pdf
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 "General Profile: Türkiye," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/GeneralProfile/en-GB/792/index.html.
- 7 Aysu Biçer, "Turkish Economy Expands 11% Year-on-year in 2021," Anadolu Agency, February 28, 2022, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/economy/turkish-economy-expands-11-year-on-year-in-2021/2517712#.
- 8 "Foreign Trade by Years," Turkish Statistical Institute, 2022, https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=Foreign-Trade-104.
- "General Profile: Kazakhstan," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/countryprofile/generalprofile/ en-gb/398/index.html.
- 10 "Kazakhstan GDP Annual Growth Rate," Trading Economics, https://tradingeconomics.com/kazakhstan/gdp-growth-annual.
- 11 "General Profile: Uzbekistan," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/GeneralProfile/en-GB/860/index.html.
- 12 "The World Bank in Uzbekistan," The World Bank, https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/uzbekistan/overview#context.
- 13 "General Profile: Azerbaijan," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/GeneralProfile/en-GB/031/index.html.
- 14 Ayya Lmahamad, "Minister: Azerbaijan's GDP up by 5.6 pct," Azernews, February 25, 2022, https://www.azernews.az/business/189803.html.
- 15 "General Profile: Kyrgyzstan," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/GeneralProfile/en-GB/417/index.html.
- 16 "Kyrgyz Republic Monthly Economic Update," The World Bank, January 2022, https://www.world-bank.org/en/country/kyrgyzrepublic/brief/monthly-economic-update.
- 17 "General Profile: Hungary," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/GeneralProfile/en-GB/348/index.html.
- 18 "General Profile: Turkmenistan," UNCTAD, http://unctadstat.unctad.org/CountryProfile/General-Profile/en-GB/795/index.html.
- 19 "Economic Cooperation," Organization of Turkic States, February 16, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/isbirligi-alanlari/economic-cooperation\_2.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 "Foreign Trade Turnover of the Republic of Uzbekistan with the CIS Countries," *Open Data Portal of the Republic of Uzbekistan*, https://data.gov.uz/ru/datasets/16529.
- 22 Ibid.

- 23 Fatma Eda Topçu & Muhammet Emin Horuz, "Turkish Chambers Union Head Urges Higher Trade, Investment with Partners," *Anadolu Agency*, November 11, 2021, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/economy/ turkish-chambers-union-head-urges-higher-trade-investment-with-partners/2417576.
- 24 Ibid
- 25 "External Trade," Azerbaijan Statistical Information Service, https://www.azstat.org/portal/tblInfo/TblInfoList.do#.
- 26 "Turkmenistan Exports," Trading Economics, https://tradingeconomics.com/turkmenistan/exports.
- 27 "European Union Kazakhstan 2021 Trade Up 25.6%," Silk Road Briefing, February 3, 2022, https://www.silkroadbriefing.com/news/2022/02/03/european-union-kazakhstan-2021-trade-up-25-6/.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Ibid.
- 31 "Foreign Trade by General Trade System," *Turkish Statistical Institute*, 2021, https://data.tuik.gov.tr/ Kategori/GetKategori?p=dis-ticaret-104&dil=2.
- 32 "Foreign Trade of The Republic of Kazakhstan," *Bureau of National Statistics*, 2020, https://stat.gov.kz/official/industry/31/publication.
- 33 "External Trade," Azerbaijan Statistical Information Service, https://www.azstat.org/portal/tblInfo/ TblInfoList.do#994\_017.
- 34 "Uzbekistan," Observatory of Economic Complexity, https://oec.world/en/profile/country/uzb.
- 35 "International Economic Activity," National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic, http://www.stat.kg/en/statistics/vneshneekonomicheskaya-deyatelnost/.
- 36 "External Trade and Balance of Payments," Hungarian Central Statistical Office, https://www.ksh.hu/stadat\_eng?lang=en&theme=kkr.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 "History of Company," Middle Corridor, 2017, https://middlecorridor.com/en/about-the-association/ history-en.
- 41 Ayya Lmahamad, "Baku, Nur-Sultan, Tbilisi to Create Joint Venture for TITR Development," Azernews, March 12, 2022, https://www.azernews.az/business/190571.html.
- 42 "Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Georgia Agree on Development of Trans-Caspian Route," Report, March 11, 2022, https://report.az/en/infrastructure/azerbaijan-kazakhstan-georgia-agree-on-development-of-trans-caspian-route/.
- 43 "Middle Corridor Vessel Transport to Improve, but Main Player Missing," *Rail Freight*, January 31, 2022, https://www.railfreight.com/corridors/2022/01/31/middle-corridor-vessel-transport-to-improve-but-main-player-missing/.
- 44 "Azerbaijan Boosts Gas Exports to Türkiye via TANAP," ACE Consultants, February 17, 2022, https://aceconsultants.az/en/news/1073.html.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Ibid.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 "Statement by the President of the Republic of Azerbaijan, Prime Minister of the Republic of Armenia and President of the Russian Federation," *President of the Republic of Azerbaijan*, November 10, 2020, https://president.az/en/articles/view/45923.
- 49 Orkhan Jalilov, "Azerbaijan to Establish New Communication Links with Iran," Caspian News, March 14, 2022, https://caspiannews.com/news-detail/azerbaijan-to-establish-new-communication-links-wi th-iran-2022-3-13-0/.
- 50 Daniel D. Stein, "Trans-Caspian Pipeline—Still a Pipe Dream?" *Atlantic Council*, August 20, 2020, https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/energysource/trans-caspian-pipeline-still-a-pipe-dream/.

- 51 "American Company Plans to Build the Main Part of the Trans-Caspian Gas Pipeline in Four Months," *Caspian Barrel*, March 30, 2022, http://caspianbarrel.org/en/2022/03/american-company-plans-to-build-the-main-part-of-the-trans-caspian-gas-pipeline-in-four-months/.
- 52 "Kazakhstan and Azerbaijan to Intensify Cargo Transportation Along Trans-Caspian Route," *The Astana Times*, March 10, 2022, https://astanatimes.com/2022/03/kazakhstan-and-azerbaijan-to-intensify-cargo-transportation-along-trans-caspian-route/.
- 53 "Hungary Could Import Gas from Azerbaijan from 2023," *Hungary Today*, February 14, 2020, https://hungarytoday.hu/hungary-could-import-gas-from-azerbaijan-from-2023/.
- 54 "Turkic World Vision–2040," *Organization of Turkic States*, November 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.

## **ARTICLE**

# New Kazakhstan and the Future of the Organization of Turkic States: Key Areas of Cooperation

Sanat KUSHKUMBAYEV\* & Aliya MUSSABEKOVA\*\*

#### **Abstract**

This article explores promising areas of cooperation between the member states of the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), which need to be developed in response to global climate and geopolitical challenges. It also examines issues of economic, energy and environmental security while referring to the theory of regional security complex developed by representatives of the Copenhagen School of international relations. After the theoretical introduction, the article analyses the significance of different areas of cooperation, such as transport and communications, the green energy sector and food security. In line with its aim, the article focuses on the role of the OTS in providing security in the sensitive fields of transportation, logistics, agriculture and power supply. Finally, the article discusses the need for a qualitative deepening of integration between the Turkic countries in the face of geopolitical uncertainty.

# Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, New Kazakhstan, regional security complex, diversification of transport routes, green energy, food security.

Received on: 18.01.2022 Accepted on: 13.05.2022

PhD, Deputy Director, Kazakhstan Institue for Strategic Studies, Nur-Sultan, Kazakhstan. E-mail: kushkumbayev\_sk@kisi.kz. ORCID: 0000-0002-5600-169X.

<sup>&</sup>quot; Senior Research Fellow, Kazakhstan Institue for Strategic Studies, Nur-Sultan, Kazakhstan. E-mail: musabekova\_ab@kisi.kz. ORCID: 0000-0002-7758-0555.

#### Introduction

During the first thirty years of Kazakhstan's independence, there was a powerful connection between its socio-economic situation and the legacy of the Soviet Union. However, in 2022, affected by the tragic January events in the country and the military conflict in Ukraine, the Kazakh society is witnessing a breakdown of the previous system. Kazakhstan is on the verge of moving to a new stage: it is vital to understand that the country's future depends on the citizens themselves, and it is crucial to respond to the current geopolitical challenges in a balanced and correct way.

In March 2022, the authorities of the country announced the transition to a New Kazakhstan and Second Republic.1 These two ideologemes have the same essence but differ in emphasis. As noted by the state authorities, New Kazakhstan is, in general, an image of the future of the country, a new goal of nation-building with updated social values. The construction of New Kazakhstan entails a deep and lengthy process of social transformation.<sup>2</sup> Meanwhile, the term "Second Republic" first used by the President of Kazakhstan Kassym-Jomart Tokayev in his speech on the Nowruz holiday this year, represents the formation of a fundamentally new constitutional balance between the institutions of power which, in brief, means transitioning from a super-presidential form of government to a presidential republic with a strong parliament.<sup>3</sup> The ambitious reform plan includes working to amend more than 30 articles of the Constitution and 20 laws with the focus on expanding the participation of citizens in the government and the formation of a new political culture. According to experts, the implementation of the political initiatives announced by the President has already begun, so the transition to the Second Republic will take place quite soon. Therefore, if New Kazakhstan is the renewal of the society and nation, that is, a profound and conceptual process, then the Second Republic is the renewal of the state model, which is an institutional process.4

As a result of internal revisions and the tragic Russian-Ukrainian war (or "special military operation" by Russian interpretation), the Kazakh people are beginning to realize the value of independence obtained with difficulties and the significance of the country's multilateral foreign policy. As President Tokayev noted in his article "Independence is Above All,"

"Our ancestors survived and went through a terrible famine, repressions, world war. During totalitarianism, we almost lost our traditions, language, and religion. Nevertheless, thanks to Independence, we were able to revive and strengthen our values. However, if we want to survive as a nation and state, current and future generations must be ready for new challenges." 5

It is necessary to review modern geopolitical threats and challenges in the context of security, which is understood not as an objective state of affairs but as a

political practice or social construct. This is the main principle of the influential Copenhagen School of security studies. While crediting the importance of the military meaning of security, an expanded understanding of the concept includes various spheres of public life. New threats such as population growth, lack of resources, unfavorable environmental conditions, natural disasters and energy dependence are coming to the fore.<sup>6</sup>

The authors of securitization theory, Danish researcher Ole Waever and British researcher Barry Buzan, write that small and medium-sized states cannot cope with such challenges alone and can only respond adequately to these threats by cooperating with their neighbors. Thus, the dynamics of the security of medium and small countries must be considered at the regional level. To analyze regional processes, Buzan and Waever propose the theory of regional security complex (RSC), defined as distinct and stable patterns of security interaction between actors. 8

RSCs are conceptually distinct from "regions". Buzan and Wæver's view of security as a social construct means that such factors as culture and history can significantly influence actors' perceptions. In this sense, the OTS has the potential to evolve into an RSC. There are certain factors that could facilitate this transformation

- Turkic states share a common understanding of external sources of risks.
   Often, in the political discourse of the Turkic countries, the challenges
   represented by their considerable neighbors have an increased significance.
   At the same time, Türkiye along with Kazakhstan, as OTS drivers, are
   perceived as allies and partners.
- Turkic states are concerned with nontraditional security threats and prioritize such issues as climate change, water resources management, energy deficit and food security. These multivariate security threats require deeper understanding, strategic planning and transnational cooperation among member states of the OTS in order to design and implement effective mitigation and adaptation measures at scale. Meanwhile, policies and frameworks constructed in Washington, Moscow or Beijing fail to resolve these regional concerns.

The 8<sup>th</sup> Summit of the OTS in Istanbul in November 2021 marked a fundamental transformation in regional cooperation where the name of the Turkic Council changed into the Organization of Turkic States. This Summit will undoubtedly further strengthen the unity and solidarity of the Turkic countries. H.E. Nursultan Nazarbayev, the First President of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Honorary Chairman of the Turkic Council, initiated the change to the name of the organization and the approval of the "Turkic World Vision–2040" strategic document.

It is noteworthy that new parties are joining the OTS. In particular, Turkmenistan's official inclusion as an observer country has practically united the Turkic states into a single unit. Thus, the evolutionary development of the Turkic Council has transformed it into a full-fledged political subject in the world arena.

Kazakhstan has been an active member, architect and author of initiatives within the Turkic world since gaining its independence. It has initiated the

establishment of the International Organization of Turkic Culture (TURKSOY), the Turkic Council, the Turkic Academy, the Parliamentary Assembly of Turkic-Speaking Countries (TurkPA) and the Coordination Committee of Turkic Cooperation Organizations. These interaction formats were essential and

Kazakhstan has been an active member, architect and author of initiatives within the Turkic world since gaining its independence.

relevant for maintaining cultural and humanitarian relations with fraternal countries. In the past two years, Kazakh representatives have headed three out of five Turkic cooperation organizations and have been instrumental in bringing Turkic integration to a new level. Low politics has provided an excellent political background for cooperation, but the evolution of the OTS is more visible in high politics. The development vectors of the Turkic countries are associated with such sectors as the economy and security. Now is the time to deepen their integration and enhance their strategic development.

This article aims to introduce the reader to the promising projects of the Turkic countries in transport, communications, sustainable development and green energy to show the productivity of these areas of cooperation. From this perspective, the OTS could become not only a driver of economic and environmental initiatives but also a provider of security in climate, decarbonization and sustainable development for people living on a vast territory stretching from the Altai to the Balkan Mountains. The evolution of the OTS in this direction will contribute to the content and institutional development of the organization.

## Transport and Communications

Transport and communication is already a solid platform for interaction among the member states of the OTS and an essential integrating factor. Increasing the capacity of transport corridors and expanding the possibilities of transit and logistics centers would provide ample opportunities for the OTS states to enter European and Asian markets. However, infrastructure improvements must be accompanied by improvements in public policies and agreements to facilitate trade and transit across national borders.

For Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan, diversifying and increasing the capacity of hydrocarbon transportation routes to world markets is of great importance. This spring, due to the international sanctions imposed on Russia

For Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan, diversifying and increasing the capacity of hydrocarbon transportation routes to world markets is of great importance. and an emergency that necessitated repairs on the Caspian Pipeline Consortium (CPC) pipeline, Kazakhstan could not export oil to Europe for a month. As a result, the country's budget is presently short by more than \$300 million. In these challenging circumstances, oil-producing corporations are considering the possibility of constructing a pipeline from the north of the Caspian Sea

with a further tie-in to Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan. In addition to European partners, companies from Türkiye and Azerbaijan could be involved in creating this critical infrastructure.<sup>10</sup>

Despite ongoing geopolitical tensions, interest in the transit opportunities of Kazakhstan and other Turkic states remains high, and the demand for transport and logistics services is growing. According to Russian carriers, in the first two months of the war in Ukraine, almost 3,000 twenty-foot equivalent (TEU) containers were transported along the Transport Corridor Europe-Caucasus-Asia (TRACECA) corridor through the Caspian Sea, Azerbaijan and Georgia. Experts say that cargo transportation to Georgian ports can reach 10 million tons, but Georgia lacks locomotives and freight trains to further disperse the cargo.<sup>11</sup> Therefore, the best solution is to share locomotives with Georgia and increase the volume of traffic along the Trans-Caspian corridor. In addition, the first train was launched from China, bypassing Russia, through Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, Romania, Hungary, Slovakia and the Czech Republic to Mannheim, Germany. 12 In this context, the potential for strategic cooperation in the railway sector opens up broad prospects for the Turkic countries. According to the government of Kazakhstan, machine engineering is one of the most promising sectors of the national economy, and there is significant potential for expanding localization in Kazakhstan. Systematic work is underway to upgrade the rolling stock. 13

One of the essential components of transport and communications development is the Trans-Caspian International Transport Route (TITR) initiative or "Middle Corridor". It begins in Türkiye and passes through the Caucasus region via Georgia and Azerbaijan, crosses the Caspian Sea, traverses Central Asia and finally reaches China. It connects via rail and road respectively through Georgia and Azerbaijan, and across the Caspian Sea via the Caspian transit corridor, reaching China by following the Turkmenistan-Uzbekistan-Kyrgyzstan or Kazakhstan route. On this route, the ports of Baku/Alat in Azerbaijan, Aktau/Kuryk in Kazakhstan and Turkmenbashi in Turkmenistan

are the main points of multimodal transport on the Caspian transit corridor. The Baku-Tbilisi-Kars (BTK) Railway, inaugurated in 2017, offers broad opportunities for uninterrupted trade between China and Europe, and has an initial capacity of 1 million passengers and 6.5 million tons of cargo, which is foreseen to increase to 3 million passengers and 17 mil-

One of the essential components of transport and communications development is the Trans-Caspian International Transport Route (TITR) initiative or "Middle Corridor".

lion tons of cargo per year by 2034. The Middle Corridor is crucial for land-locked Kazakhstan and offers excellent opportunities for cargo traffic from Central Asia. The loads can reach the Middle East, North Africa and the Mediterranean region by benefiting from port connections in Türkiye.<sup>14</sup>

According to the results of the activities of the "International Association Trans-Caspian International Transport Route" for 2021, the stable growth of transit and container traffic along the TITR was noted. Thus, over the past year, 25,200 TEU containers were transported along the TITR route—20% more than in 2020. This year, cargo transshipment is expected to grow six times, reaching 3.2 million tons due to sharply increasing demand for the TITR route against the backdrop of recent world events. The container shipping plan also aims to increase capacity to 50,000 TEU containers.<sup>15</sup>

The branching and resilience of transport networks are vital to strengthening regional economic integration. The "Turkic World Vision–2040" adopted at the summit last year calls the Trans-Caspian International Transport or "Turan" Corridor "the shortest and safest transport link between East and West." It also states that it is crucial to incorporate the member states into the supply and value chains regionally and globally via this corridor. The implementation of the Turan Corridor project will significantly unlock the economic transit potential of the OTS.

In addition, the Turan corridor is of great geo-economic importance. Land corridors will become increasingly vital, given the growing pressure on China from the U.S., Japan and South Korea. As the first President of Kazakhstan Nursultan Nazarbayev mentioned in his speech before the Turkic countries in March 2021, with the development of the Chinese project "Belt and Road Intitiative", the importance of transit along the Turan corridor becomes the most optimal.<sup>17</sup> However, for large volumes of transportation, it is necessary to build infrastructure, specifically to increase the ferry and dry cargo fleet in the Caspian Sea, develop alternative pipeline routes and attract long-term investments.

It is also essential to increase the capacity of digital transit corridors. Therefore, Kazakhstan attaches great importance to the Trans-Eurasian Information Super Highway (TASIM) project as a strategic initiative that can serve

the interests of many states. In addition, on a bilateral basis, Kazakhstan and Azerbaijan have already launched the construction of a fiber-optic communication line (Transcaspian Fiber Optic) along the bottom of the Caspian Sea. The joint project will facilitate a higher level of development of high-speed, secure data transmission infrastructure joining several leading Europe-Asia trunk routes and taking a worthy place in the network of global data transit.

Further, the creation of special economic tourist zones and routes can contribute to building economic corridors and expanding economic cooperation. Creating special economic zones of this type would significantly promote the fast-growing market for event tourism. In the current conditions of economic recession, this should be one of the factors for increasing regional products, diversifying sources of income, creating jobs and improving the population's quality of life. Their rich cultural heritage, national holidays and traditions provide the basis for the development of event tourism among the OTS members. Many cities with unique and interesting sites and art installations provide the hubs for forming tourist routes and marketing these attractions would serve as an additional tool to increase tourist traffic from abroad.

## **Funding**

As Kazakhstan's Minister of Foreign Affairs Mukhtar Tleuberdi stated at the Meeting of the Council of Foreign Ministers of the Turkic Council in November 2021, the digital age sets different technological requirements and priorities. Today it is crucial to develop and invest in new environmentally friendly technologies and ensure comfortable conditions for living places. Tleuberdi accentuated the importance of the Turkic Investment Fund initiated by the Presidents of Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan. On November 11, 2021, following the results of consultations and negotiations between the parties, the Heads of State decided to create such a fund by September 1, 2022, with equal contributions from each of the parties. The matter of its location is currently under consideration. One of the possible locations for the Fund is Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan. Tleuberdi proposed to establish its headquarters in the Astana International Financial Center, which plays a pivotal role as a global center for business and finance, connecting the economies of Central Asia, the Caucasus, the Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU), West China, Mongolia, the Middle East and Europe. 18 In future, the Turkic Investment Fund may play an extremely important role in the sphere of economic development across many sectors.

# Green Energy as a Ground for Consolidated Solutions

In 2010, climate change was identified as a key threat to global stability—one that is contributing to poverty, food and water scarcity, environmental degra-

dation and the weakening of already fragile states.<sup>19</sup> Eleven years later at the COP26 conference, over 153 countries pledged to reach net-zero emissions, and more than 40 countries pledged to move away from coal.<sup>20</sup> Türkiye declared that it would be a party to the Paris Agreement and that it would accept the 2053 net-zero emissions target. Uzbekistan, Turkmenistan, Kyrgyzstan and Azerbaijan will endeavor to reach carbon neutrality by 2050, and Kazakhstan confirmed its commitment to achieve net-zero emissions by 2060.

Achieving these goals will require significant changes in the structure of electricity generation, since electrification based on renewable energy sources (RES) is the best way to reach carbon neutrality. Also, energy transition creates incentives for developing new innovative sectors of the economy. Türkiye, Kazakhstan, and Azerbaijan are the OTS members with the highest carbon footprint. Therefore, these countries face complex tasks in reforming their energy market structure.

As President Tokayev noted at the 8<sup>th</sup> Summit of the Organization of Turkic States, in order to achieve carbon neutrality, Kazakhstan intends to develop the use of RESs. At the time of this writing, the country has brought its share of renewable energy to 3%. By 2030, this figure will rise to 15%, as stated in Kazakhstan's concept for

Türkiye, Kazakhstan, and Azerbaijan are the OTS members with the highest carbon footprint. Therefore, these countries face complex tasks in reforming their energy market structure.

the transition to a "green economy". Over the next ten years, greenhouse gas emissions will be reduced by 15%. The International Center for Green Technologies and Investment Projects was opened in Nur-Sultan to achieve these goals. Therefore, the 8th Summit that was dedicated to the theme of "Green Technologies and Smart Cities in the Digital Age" upon the proposal of the host country Türkiye could be regarded as a significant commitment for the activities of the OTS in the aforementioned areas.

The backbone of any energy transition to achieve net-zero emissions consists of renewable energy sources. The growth of the world's capacity to generate electricity from solar panels, wind turbines and other renewable technologies is on course to accelerate over the coming years, with 2021 setting a record for new installations (290 gigawatts of new renewable power capacity), according to a recent International Energy Agency (IEA) report.<sup>22</sup> By 2026, global renewable electricity capacity is forecast to rise more than 60% from 2020 levels to over 4,800 GW—equivalent to the current total global power capacity of fossil fuels and nuclear power combined.

There are many options for promising projects in the field of renewable energy that could become the basis for further cooperation between the OTS states:

• Construction of offshore wind farms in the Caspian Sea

- Creation of a powerful consortium for solar generation in Central Asia, construction of stations in Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan
- Production of solar photovoltaic panels from silicon raw materials
- Construction of gas infrastructure for use in tandem with RES
- Digitization of the electric power industry, digital accounting of consumption and losses

President Tokayev named the development of hydrogen energy the second priority of the green agenda and drew attention to the fact that hydrogen energy is considered a new type of "clean" fuel.<sup>23</sup> Therefore, Kazakhstan has excellent opportunities to create an industrial "green" hydrogen cluster. Currently, the Kazakh authorities are working on new technological projects with French companies, and Kazakhstan is exploring the possibility of implementing large projects in the field of "green" hydrogen production. The KazMunaiGaz company is considering creating a Competence Center for hydrogen energy and technology for carbon capture, storage and processing (CCUS). Foreign investors are ready to study five regions in Kazakhstan to assess the economic feasibility of implementing large projects there.<sup>24</sup> A possible outcome is to export the hydrogen produced in Kazakhstan to the markets of the European Union.

The global "green" hydrogen market will be formed over the next ten years. During this time, Kazakhstan and other Turkic countries need to make an offer on the future market in the form of products. As renewable energy and other low-carbon technologies, including hydrogen, develop, the boundary

The global "green" hydrogen market will be formed over the next ten years. During this time, Kazakhstan and other Turkic countries need to make an offer on the future market in the form of products.

between energy and electricity markets in a narrower sense will blur. Traditional utilities can build and operate "fueling" infrastructure, whether charging stations or hydrogen distribution stations. Consumers will expect integrated energy practices in which fungible sources (renewables, batteries, hydrogen) are seamlessly used to power homes, vehicles and workplaces.<sup>25</sup> The Turkic states must consistently develop and integrate these important processes to

prevent technological backwardness at the global level.

It should be noted that in the current conditions, the topic of sustainable development is going through difficult times. The drivers and incentives that moved the agenda yesterday are undergoing significant changes. A new oil super-cycle is brewing on world markets, and European countries, in an at-

tempt to reduce Russian gas imports, are rushing from one extreme to another—stimulating the processes of decarbonization while frantically reopening coal stations.

At the same time, the sustainable development agenda is evolving unevenly. Most countries are proceeding with a combination of international practices and local approaches that consider national interests and development rates. For example, for Kazakhstan, whose economy is dominated by heavy mining and coal power production, issues of health and safety, industrial waste and emissions, and air quality come first. Some aspects of these important considerations need local and regional regulations, as well as regulatory mechanisms related to carbon control and climate projects that bring together the efforts of stakeholders and governments. The OTS can become an optimal platform for enhanced dialogue between stakeholders to develop consolidated solutions to maintain a balance between economic development and environmental conservation in the Turkic states.

When studying sustainable development, the question of incentives inevitably arises. Therefore, motivation for ESG (environmental, social and governance) contains both material and moral components. First, without following ESG standards, a company, organization or even a country will not be allowed to enter the markets, not be given funding and, after a while, consumers will turn away from it and stop buying its goods. Second, ESG is necessary because it is the basis of sustainability as well as the moral climate of the society and the country. ESG should be an internal agenda, not only for attracting banks, clients or investors. All citizens should feel a severe and profound moral demand for sustainable development. In addition, a mature and systematically implemented ESG agenda is a serious contribution to a state's brand and image, which will yield long-term sustainable, competitive advantages.

The coordinated actions of the participating countries and the development of a unified strategy to achieve carbon neutrality will allow the OTS to become a space in which climate problems are effectively addressed. It might be a long-term strategy, but if properly executed and implemented, it will help improve the international image and increase the political and economic clout of the OTS.

There are several high-potential directions of work for the OTS in the field of sustainable development:

1) Creation of infrastructure for sustainable development: Starting with goal-setting, it is necessary to formulate OTS development goals around which to build the activities of the state bodies and commercial organizations of the member countries and facilitate interactions between Turkic countries and international organizations, including international verifiers in the field of climate and sustainable development. Next, it will be advisable to build rating models and metrics relevant to territories and regions,

- which will ensure the adaptation of international practices and standards to the development conditions of the Turkic countries. In the future, this may contribute to the localization of ESG standards in the Turkic world and the development of the energy policy of the OTS countries.
- 2) Development of a "green" capital market for the implementation of projects related to green technologies: In the context of rising inflation and geo-economic turbulence, the development of incentive measures for the ESG agenda can include priority lending to green energy projects, improving conditions for state support and subsidizing environmental modernization projects. As President Tokayev noted, during the last ten years, the global volume of green bonds has grown 20x and has reached \$2 trillion. Kazakhstan has begun to develop a bond market whose volume exceeded 100 million dollars in 2021. This work is carried out at the Astana International Financial Center and the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange. Kazakhstan is ready to place the green bonds of the Turkic countries on these sites.<sup>26</sup>
- 3) Technical assistance and exchange of competencies between OTS member countries in such matters as energy storage, hybrid RES, smart grid intelligent energy distribution systems and long-duration energy storage (LDES) technologies.
- 4) Conducting joint academic research in sustainable development that will result in identifying priority transformational projects that are important for all OTS states.

# Providing Food Security: Sustainable Agriculture

In March 2022, the UN Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) warned that food prices could rise as much as 22 percent due to the war in Ukraine. A severe drop in Ukrainian and Russian exports will devastate global food security, adding 13.1 million additional people to the 821.6 million already malnourished or starving. As states grapple with the effects of climate change, war and the ongoing pandemic, foreign and trade relations are shifting to minimize food insecurity and meet domestic demand for food to avoid further cascading crises.<sup>27</sup>

Maurice Obstfeld, a senior fellow at the Peterson Institute for International Economics and formerly chief economist at the International Monetary Fund (IMF), stated that food price increases would strain incomes in poorer countries, especially in some parts of Latin America and Africa, where some people may spend up to 50 or 60 percent of their income on food. According to the economist, it was "not much of an exaggeration" to say that the world was

approaching a global food crisis and that slower growth, high unemployment and stressed budgets from governments that have spent heavily to combat the pandemic had created "a perfect storm of adverse circumstances. There is a lot of cause for worry about social unrest on a widespread scale." Sudden spikes in food prices could lead to social unrest, as happened in 2007–2008 and again in 2011 when global food price increases were associated with riots in more than 40 countries.

For the OTS, food security issues are relevant and on the agenda. The problem of food imports remains an area of vulnerability that must be addressed. On April 17, the Kazakhstan Ministry of Agriculture limited the export of wheat and flour until June 15, 2022. The main markets for Kazakh grain are Uzbekistan, Afghanistan, Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan.

Kazakhstan is a fairly large exporter of grain, and the demand for this product is growing. For two months of this year, the export of wheat from Kazakhstan to the countries of the EU increased by 13 times.<sup>29</sup> The establishment of logistics chains for the export of grain through the territory of the Turkic countries

is a promising area of cooperation. For Kazakhstan, the fact that Türkiye has built a powerful port flour-grinding industry over the past 15 years is beneficial. The largest Turkish mills are situated in ports; Türkiye buys grain from Russia and Ukraine, processes it into flour and other products and sends it to the Middle East

For the OTS, food security issues are relevant and on the agenda. The problem of food imports remains an area of vulnerability that must be addressed.

and African countries, taking advantage of its strategic position on sea routes.

In addition to the production of grain, the cultivation of other crops in the territory of the countries of Central Asia has broad prospects. For example, the southern regions of Kazakhstan are excellent in terms of climatic conditions and labor resources. In these areas, investments are being attracted to construct agro-industrial complexes with greenhouses to ensure a year-round production cycle.

The agro-industrial complex could become an important component of the "TURANSEZ" special economic zone project presented by the delegation of Kazakhstan at the 8<sup>th</sup> summit of OTS in Istanbul. TURANSEZ was first initiated by President Tokayev during the Turkistan Informal Summit and was deliberately created for the Turkic states. All of the member and observer states of the OTS are invited to join "TURANSEZ", which is situated at the spiritual capital of the Turkic world, Turkistan.<sup>30</sup>

The OTS countries need to realize the potential of the agro-industry, given the consistent rise in food prices. Since the issue of low industrial labor productivity remains relevant in the agricultural sector, the Turkic states can cooperate

and exchange experience and competencies in such matters as the creation and installation of engineering infrastructure, mechanisms for investment subsidies and project financing, the transfer of effective agricultural technologies and making these technologies accessible for small and medium farms.

It is worth highlighting the problem of staffing. According to local executive bodies in Kazakhstan, about 80% of the subjects of the agro-industrial complex are in dire need of specialists.<sup>31</sup> Under the auspices of the OTS, it would be possible to create educational centers to train relevant personnel for the agro-industrial complex.

Another promising direction in the development of the agricultural industry is the production of high-quality protein in the form of meat products. Kazakhstan has already made process in achieving a higher processing stage, bringing more expensive products to market and minimizing costs, including transportation costs. Development of this industry has resulted in the creation of new jobs and a new labor market. Today, Kazakhstan has the potential to export 500,000 tons of beef with its existing water and land resources. In monetary terms, this is the equivalent of about 5 billion dollars. Very promisingly, the economic multiplier in animal husbandry is 1:6 – that is, 1 dollar from meat exports puts 6 dollars into the economy through feed, fertilizers, logistics and jobs. Thus, the turnover around meat production can reach \$30 billion, which is comparable to the volume of the oil and gas industry in Kazakhstan.<sup>32</sup> And unlike oil and gas, the income from the agricultural sector is stable as it does not depend on the global oil price environment or the development of technology, engineering or transport electrification. People will always eat, so this direction of the economy is practically unlimited.

Agro-industry in Kazakhstan has enormous potential. 220 million hectares are available for agribusiness which is open land ready for farming. In terms of arable land per capita, Kazakhstan ranks second globally.<sup>33</sup> For comparison, the U.S., the largest food exporter, has 240 million hectares, and Ukraine has 40 million hectares. The development of agricultural land in Kazakhstan can open up new horizons for cooperation between the peoples of the Great Turan. It will undoubtedly lead to an increase in the competitiveness of the entire region of Central Asia and the restoration and development of rural areas, which will result in improved social stability. Investing in human capital is essential under current conditions. With a suitable investment in infrastructure and technology, the agro-industry could become the backbone of the Turkic union.

Price and supply shocks related to the war in Ukraine are being compounded by climate-related events, including severe drought affecting Central Asia for five years in a row. Therefore, the rational use of water resources is directly related to the success of the food sector. Water resources determine various aspects of national and regional security. The OTS can become an important platform for forming a new regional policy for managing water and energy

resources in Central Asia. As a consolidating structure of the Turkic states, the OTS can conduct a "water dialogue" among the Central Asian countries. Efficient and equitable use of transboundary water resources is the key to the stability and prosperity of the region. It can be facilitated by automation of the system for managing, distributing, recording and monitoring the water resources of the Aral Sea basin, including their quality. It will ensure transparency in states' water use and strengthen mutual trust between neighbors.

#### Conclusion

By launching internal renewal processes, the authorities of Kazakhstan have put people at the center of their domestic and foreign policy. In the article "Turbulence across Eurasia Will Not Slow Kazakhstan's Progress," President Tokayev writes, "our government has listened carefully to civil society and public opinion in the design of the reforms. Economically, our system must work for all people. Growth that is not inclusive is not sustainable." Speaking about the international situation, he emphasizes, "Eurasia has always been a dynamic region, but concerted efforts must be made to keep it peaceful, open, and prosperous. We still have far to go. Both domestically and internationally, partnership is still the only way to build a better common future of peace and prosperity."<sup>34</sup>

Sustainable growth and equal partnership are included in the leading goals and principles of the OTS. Since its establishment as a regional inter-governmental organization, the Turkic Council has proved that decisions and actions taken within the organization are comprehensive and inclusive. The OTS has also confirmed that it can handle various challenges. It is noteworthy that during the global COVID-19 pandemic, the OTS did not halt its collaboration, but instead expanded into new essential sectors such as health and migration. Strengthening economic ties is especially important during a geopolitical storm when the world economy is in crisis and all countries

are looking for the best ways out. The Turkic states strive for an honest partnership and are driven by pragmatic interests. The member states of the OTS have converged politically on several themes, including sustainable development, climate change, energy security and other contemporary challenges. The OTS engages

Sustainable growth and equal partnership are included in the leading goals and principles of the OTS.

actively in the international agenda and confirms its role as a promoter of global development issues.

Today, many experts and researchers are heralding the return to a bipolar world order and the growing confrontation between the two superpowers: the

U.S. and China. However, there is another, opposite point of view, in which the primary trend of the global system, across economic, demographic and technological dimensions, is one in which centrifugal—not centripetal—dynamics prevail. In other words, the world is increasingly striving for multipolarity and multicentricity. The nature of these processes lies not only in the much-speculated 'balance of power', but rather in the diversity of civilizations that explore the world differently, and in which important centers of world civilizations—Europe, America, China, India, Russia, the Arab world—declare their interests and visions in a rich plurality of perspectives and voices.

One such center is the Turkic world, which represents both a vibrant path forward and the deep roots of an ancient civilization. In this sense, the institutionalization of cooperation and brotherhood of the Turkic peoples, expressed in the creation of the OTS, is an attempt to determine its own vector of civilizational development. The process of strengthening Turkic civilization has powerful and basic impulses. The association of the Turkic countries, based initially on linguistic and cultural community, has broad prospects for becoming a solid and stable alliance whose multifaceted agenda includes security in the broadest sense of the word.

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 "Address of the Head of the State Kassym-Jomart Tokayev to the Kazakh People: New Kazakhstan: The Path of Renewal and Modernization, (in Kazakh)," President of the Republic of Kazakhstan, March 16, 2022, https://www.akorda.kz/ru/poslanie-glavy-gosudarstva-kasym-zhomarta-tokaeva-narodu-kazahstana-1623953
- 2 "Secretary of State Yerlan Karin Clarified the Meaning of the Term 'Second Republic' (in Russian)," TengriNews, March 22, 2022, https://tengrinews.kz/kazakhstan\_news/gossekretar-erlan-karin-razyyas-nil-znachenie-termina-vtoraya-464746/.
- 3 "'Ahead is the Construction of a New Kazakhstan': Tokayev Addressed Almaty Residents (in Russian)," TengriNews, March 21, 2022 https://tengrinews.kz/kazakhstan\_news/vperedi-stroitelstvo-novogo-ka-zahstana-tokaev-obratilsva-464696/.
- 4 "Experts on Talqylau Talked about the 'Second Republic' (in Russian)," *TengriNews*, April 15, 2022. https://tengrinews.kz/news/o-vtoroy-respublike-pogovorili-ekspertyi-na-talqylau-466475/
- 5 Kassym-Jomart Tokayev, "Independence is Above All (in Russian)," Kazinform, January 6, 2021, https://www.inform.kz/ru/polnyy-tekst-stat-i-glavy-gosudarstva-nezavisimost-prevyshe-vsego\_a3737695.
- 6 Steve Smith, "The Increasing Insecurity in Security Studies: Conceptualizing Security in the Last Twenty Years," Contemporary Security Policy, Vol.20, No. 3 (2000), p. 465.
- 7 Barry Buzan & Ole Weaver, Regions and Powers: The Structure of International Security, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003, p. 14
- 8 Ibid, pp. 6–20, 41–47, 77–82.
- 9 Barry Buzan, Ole Weaver & Jaap de Wilde, Security: A New Framework for Analysis, Boulder & London: Lynne Rienner Publishers Inc., 1997, pp. 40–50.
- 10 "Kazakhstan Needs New Oil Export Routes Expert (in Russian)," *Youtube*, April 19, 2022, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EhTokGwzFLM&t=41s.
- 11 "War of Sanctions: Where Did Kazakhstan Have Problems, What to Prepare for and What to Do? (in Russian)," *Youtube*, April 11, 2022, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=56ZiDql9U8g&t=2162s.
- 12 "Containers Go around Russia (in Russian)," Kommersant, April 20, 2022, https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5317698?fbclid=IwAR16T2Qg6OAgUF8Dxs1nyRyul5I-24a8SXMBJsNkCtxDk77O9C\_MG1shh3s
- 13 "The Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the Ambassador of Switzerland Discussed the Possibilities of Strategic Cooperation in the Railway Industry (in Russian)," Official Information Source of the Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan, March 25, 2022, https://www.primeminister.kz/ru/news/premer-ministr-rk-i-posol-shveycarii-obsudili-vozmozhnosti-strategicheskogo-sotrudnichest-va-v-zheleznodorozhnoy-otrasli-252732.
- 14 "Türkiye's Multilateral Transportation Policy," Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Foreign Affairs, https://www.mfa.gov.tr/Türkiye\_s-multilateral-transportation-policy.en.mfa.
- 15 "The Growing Importance of the Trans-Caspian International Transport Route was Discussed in Türkiye," Middle Corridor, May 10, 2022, https://middlecorridor.com/en/pressa/news/166-the-growing-importance-of-the-trans-caspian-international-transport-route-was-discussed-in-Türkiye.
- 16 "Turkic World Vision–2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- 17 See the speech of the First President of Kazakhstan, Elbasy Nursultan Nazarbayev, at the informal summit of the Council of Cooperation of the Turkic Speaking Countries in Turkestan on March 31, 2021.
- 18 See the speech of Deputy Prime-Minister and Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan H.E. Mukhtar Tleuberdi at the Meeting of the Council of Foreign Ministers of the Turkic Council, November 11, 2021.
- 19 "Managing Cascading Security Implications of Climate Change," Foreign Policy, April 22, 2020, https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/04/22/climate-change-security-poverty-food-water-fragile-states-peace-games/.
- <sup>a</sup>COP26: The Glasgow Climate Pact," UK COP26, November 2021, https://ukcop26.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/COP26-Presidency-Outcomes-The-Climate-Pact.pdf.
- 21 "Head of State Kassym-Jomart Tokayev Took Part in the VIII Summit of the Cooperation Council

- of Turkic Speaking States (in Russian)," *President of the Republic of Kazakhstan*, November 12, 2021, https://www.akorda.kz/ru/glava-gosudarstva-kasym-zhomart-tokaev-prinyal-uchastie-v-viii-sam-mite-soveta-sotrudnichestva-tyurkoyazychnyh-gosudarstv-1210554.
- 22 "Renewables 2021: Analysis and Forecasts to 2026," *International Energy Agency*, December 2021, https://www.iea.org/reports/renewables-2021.
- 23 "Head of State Kassym-Jomart Tokayev Took Part in the VIII Summit of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States."
- 24 "Hydrogen Energy: Strategic Vector of Economic Development (in Russian)," Kazakh Invest National Company, April 14, 2022, https://invest.gov.kz/ru/media-center/press-releases/vodorodnaya-energeti-ka-ctrategicheskiy-vektor-razvitiya-ekonomiki-/.
- 25 "Overview Report of the Industry Center for Technological Competence in the Power Industry (in Russian)," *KOREM*, March 1, 2022, https://www.korem.kz/uploads/Обзорный%20отчет%20 ОЦТК-PwC%20(01.03.2022.)%20(1).pdf.
- 26 "Head of State Kassym-Jomart Tokayev Took Part in the VIII Summit of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States."
- 27 "How Climate Change and War are Compounding Food Insecurity," Foreign Policy, April 22, 2022, https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/04/22/ukraine-russia-war-climate-change-food-security-threat/.
- 28 "Food Prices Approach Record Highs, Threatening the World's Poorest," The New York Times, February 3, 2022, https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/03/business/economy/food-prices-inflation-world. html
- 29 "Wheat Export from Kazakhstan to EU Countries Increased 13 Times (in Russian)," *Forbes*, March 31, 2022, https://forbes.kz/process/economy/eksport\_pshenitsyi\_iz\_kazahstana\_v\_stranyi\_es\_vy-iros\_v\_132\_raza/.
- 30 See the speech of Deputy Prime-Minister and Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan H.E. Mukhtar Tleuberdi at the Meeting of the Council of Foreign Ministers of the Turkic Council, November 11, 2021.
- 31 Nailya Almukhamedova, "What Prevents the Agriculture of Kazakhstan from Becoming a Driver of the Economy? (in Russian)," *Cabar Asia*, April 29, 2019, https://cabar.asia/ru/chto-meshaet-sels-komu-hozyajstvu-kazahstana-stat-drajverom-ekonomiki.
- 32 "War of Sanctions."
- 33 Almukhamedova, "What Prevents the Agriculture of Kazakhstan from Becoming a Driver of the Economy?"
- 34 "Turbulence across Eurasia will not Slow Kazakhstan's Progress," Eureporter, April 13, 2022, https://www.eureporter.co/world/kazakhstan/2022/04/13/turbulence-across-eurasia-will-not-slow-kazakhstans-progress/.
- 35 Pelin Musabay Baki, "Avrasya'da Bölgesel İşbirliği Sürecinden İşbirliği Mekanizmasına: Türk Konseyi," Bilge Strateji, Vol. 6, No. 11 (2014), p. 157.
- 36 Ömer Kocaman, "Adjusting to the 'New Normal' of Post COVID-19: The Role of Organization of Turkic States in Multilateral Cooperation," *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 26, No. 2 (2021), pp. 189–215.

# The Paradigm of Soft Power and the Importance of the Organization of Turkic States: Perspective from Kyrgyzstan

Baktygul KALAMBEKOVA\*

#### **Abstract**

The concept of soft power, which has been introduced to International Relations studies by Joseph S. Nye Jr., has become an integral element of states' foreign policies, particularly since the end of the bipolar system. Türkiye has made significant use of soft power in its foreign policy since the 1990s. The Turkic states of the Caucasus and Central Asia have particularly benefited from Türkiye's soft power approach, which was instrumental in the foundation of the Turkic Council in 2009 – renamed as the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) in 2021. The cooperation among the Turkic states dates back to the voluntary disintegration of the Soviet Union which resulted in the peaceful resolution of the Cold War as one of the major international conflicts. The collapse of the Soviet Union also prepared the ground for the restoration of the links between the Turkic-speaking peoples who share common cultural, linguistic and religious roots. However, the geopolitical climate in the initial period was not conducive to reach this long awaited goal. As a result, the cooperation in the Turkic world has had ups and downs. In other words, it took some time to foster collaboration among the Turkic-speaking states and unleash their true potential even after the collapse of the Soviet Union. However, the institutionalization of the Turkic cooperation through the establishment of the OTS was a turning point. Against this background, this article seeks to understand Türkiye's policies toward the Turkic states from a soft power perspective. After reviewing the vision put forward by Mustafa Kemal Atatürk with regard to

Received on: 12.12.2021 Accepted on: 30.05.2022

PhD & Ambassador at Large, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan. E-mail: rahsanbaht@yahoo.com. ORCID: 0000-0002-7374-6298.

the Turkic world, the article discusses the significance of Türkiye's approach in the post-Cold War period. It also highlights the use of soft power by the OTS to boost the regional cooperation in the Turkic world. Finally, the article draws attention to the contribution of Kyrgyzstan to the soft power dimension of the OTS.

# Keywords

Turkic world, Organization of Turkic States, soft power, regional cooperation, Kyrgyzstan.

#### Introduction

In international relations, whereas hard power has been traditionally used to refer to a state's military and economic capabilities in coercing other states, soft power is usually associated with positive attraction and persuasion in order to achieve foreign policy objectives.\(^1\) Joseph S. Nye Jr., who first introduced the concept of soft power to International Relations (IR) studies, identified three main pillars of soft power that are important for a state in achieving its national objectives: political values, culture and foreign policy.\(^2\) As time passed, it was understood that each category included other sources that could be utilized as soft power instruments in a state's foreign policy. This inspired growing interest in the origins and vectors of development of the theory on soft power. Today, a number of special agencies even prepare periodical and internationally recognized publications that are in high demand on the issue of soft power.

In July 2015, the international consulting company Portland Communications published a global rating of states' soft power in a publication titled *Soft Power 30*, which supplements earlier attempts to measure and compare the soft power of various countries.<sup>3</sup> The leader of this initiative, Jonathan McClory, a specialist in soft power, public diplomacy and socio-humanitarian technologies, created the first combined rating—the soft power index—which has been published annually since 2010 by a nonprofit institute in partnership with the British magazine *Monocle*.<sup>4</sup> The index is compiled by looking at 75 indicators across six sub-indices (government, culture, education, global interaction, enterprises and digital technologies) and seven categories of international survey data.

Türkiye is naturally not isolated from these developments. Indeed, it has become one of the key players in the modern world as a state that makes active

efforts to take its place in the soft power rankings. The first decade of the post-bipolar period posed serious military, socio-economic and political problems to the governments of Türkiye. However, a comprehension of the true essence and potential of Türkiye's soft power is associated with the coming to power of the Justice and Development Party (AK Party) in 2002. Paying particular attention to the issues of security in foreign policy, the AK Party leaders have not ignored the task of rethinking Türkiye's position and perception in the international arena. Subsequently, Türkiye was included twice in the *Soft Power 30* index, although its ranking was unexpectedly low in both instances. Türkiye has many resources that constitute its soft power, such as its unique geography, rich culture and glorious history, and the effective utilization of these resources is important to enhance its influence in its neighborhood.

One of the earliest examples of Türkiye's soft power is its foreign policy activism in the post-Soviet space in the early 1990s. The independence of five Turkic-speaking republics in the Caucasus and Central Asia allowed Türkiye to

highlight the factor of ethnicity for the very first time in its foreign policy. Despite Türkiye's efforts, however, Turkic cooperation developed very slowly in the 1990s. As a result, Türkiye chose a strategy of establishing long-term and consistent influ-

One of the earliest examples of Türkiye's soft power is its foreign policy activism in the post-Soviet space in the early 1990s.

ence in the Turkic world through the formation of future elites in the Turkic states. Türkiye's official institutions have significantly contributed to the development of the Turkic states' educational systems and institutions through the opening of many schools, lyceums and universities, providing education in Turkish, English and native languages. The Istanbul Summit Declaration of the OTS indicates the success of these programs, stating that the heads of state "take note of the useful activities of the Turkish Maarif Foundation (TMF) schools in the Turkic World."

A large volume of grants and scholarship programs have been allocated annually by the Turkish government to Turkic students who want to receive higher education in Türkiye since the early 1990s. The "Great Student Project" (Büyük Öğrenci Projesi), which was initiated for this specific reason, later became the "Türkiye Scholarship" (Türkiye Bursları) program, which has been implemented by the Presidency of Turks Abroad and Associated Communities (YTB) with the contribution of other relevant agencies since 2012. In addition, the Turkish Cooperation and Coordination Agency (TİKA) has been carrying out significant projects such as the restoration of monuments related

to Turkic history and the opening of hospitals in the Turkic states since the 1990s. Türkiye has been playing a leading role in fostering cooperation among the Turkic states in a multilateral format. Hence, many regional platforms have been created, such as TURKSOY, TURKPA, the Turkic Academy and the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation, to systematize the cooperation and coordination between the Turkic-speaking states.

In short, soft power has become a key factor in the implementation of Türkiye's foreign policy priorities in the Turkic world. Initially, Türkiye's soft power was mainly based on its historical, cultural and linguistic ties with the Turkic states. More recently, Türkiye has begun to actively strengthen its business ties in the region and pursue a policy to promote economic cooperation among these countries. The bilateral and multilateral business councils that were established through the Turkish initiative have become the key mechanisms for developing business ties in the region.

Türkiye's experience in using soft power in its foreign policy is arguably relatively new. During the first ten years that followed the end of the Cold War, Türkiye mainly tried to find its way in a radically changed international environment. However, that period also enabled Türkiye to take remarkable steps for rapprochement with the Turkic states. This article will therefore focus on Türkiye's activities toward the Turkic states from a soft power perspective. After reviewing the vision put forward by Mustafa Kemal Atatürk with regard to the Turkic world, the article discusses the significance of Türkiye's approach in the post-Cold War period. It also highlights the use of soft power by the OTS to boost the regional cooperation in the Turkic world. Finally, the article draws attention to the contribution of Kyrgyzstan to the soft power dimension of the OTS.

# Origins and Vectors of the Concept of Soft Power

Although the concept of soft power was introduced by Joseph Nye Jr., an IR scholar from Harvard University, in the U.S. in 1990, it first became popular in IR studies in the 2000s and 2010s.<sup>6</sup> Its rise in popularity was mainly due to the dire consequences caused by the "hard power" approach that was then extensively used in various regions, including the Middle East, which inevitably led to growing threats of terrorism and extremism and the increasingly negative attitude of the international community toward the military operations of a number of countries.

Soft power can be regarded as both a theoretical and practical concept, since it is implemented by states in line with their socio-political resources. Yet it should be mentioned that Nye originally proposed the concept to explain U.S. foreign policy. He later had to revise the concept as "smart power" in order to analyze Washington's changing foreign policy priorities. However, using foreign cultural policy as an instrument of influence at the international level is not a new phenomenon, since these methods were utilized in earlier periods. Nye himself indicates that the use of soft power dates back to many centuries ago and includes ancient cultures. For instance, Chinese philosopher Lao Tzu says, "a leader is best when people barely know he exists, when his work is done, his aim fulfilled, they will say: we did it ourselves."

It could be argued that the prototype of soft power in the modern sense was developed during the colonial era, when the imperial powers faced the long-term challenge of forming loyal elites in the conquered territories. For this reason, a whole range of measures was developed and implemented, including the export of educational standards, cultural norms, language, principles and models of public administration.

Some researchers believe that contemporary foreign cultural policy is an invention and prerogative of France, which sought to preserve, support and promote its cultural and linguistic heritage in a remarkable way.8 In fact, the 19th century was marked by the recognition of French high culture as the world standard. French became the language of official diplomacy and one of the leading means of communication in Europe until the beginning of the First World War. The non-governmental organization "Alliance Française" was created back in 1883 to spread French culture abroad.9 France retained its status as the cultural hegemon of Europe until Britain and Germany began to create serious competition in the international arena. The rivalry between France and Britain in the field of culture in particular led to the development of the external dimension of cultural policy. The first English cultural institute abroad appeared almost half a century later than the French one. The British Committee for Relations with Other Countries (now the British Council) was established in 1934 to create a basis abroad for building acquaintance and fostering understanding of British philosophy and way of life, and thus the adoption and support of British foreign policy.

Germany joined the process of promoting its image in the world only after its unification in 1871. However, over the next 30 years, it managed to take a leading position in the international scientific community on the basis of its achievements in the field of education and science. Alexander Humboldt's idea of combining teaching and research has become a model for many countries, and the Kaiser Wilhelm Society was founded in 1911 as a system of specialized scientific research institutions wherein the state played a decisive role and the participation of industrialists was encouraged. Thus, education

and science became the main components of German soft power at the turn of the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

Although states had used cultural tools to create a positive image in the international arena in support of their foreign policy for centuries, Nye's theory became popular because he managed to systematically describe the basic principles and approaches of foreign policy as soft power.<sup>10</sup> Nye emphasizes that

Although states had used cultural tools to create a positive image in the international arena in support of their foreign policy for centuries, Nye's theory became popular because he managed to systematically describe the basic principles and approaches of foreign policy as soft power.

soft power is opposed to the methods of forceful pressure inherent in hard power. After all, attractiveness means a conscious and voluntary choice. Nonetheless, as McClory rightly notes, soft power may seem like the best and less risky option compared to economic or military power, but it is often difficult to use, easy to lose and expensive to restore.<sup>11</sup>

In 2004, Nye published *Soft Power:* The Means to Success in World Politics, in which he interestingly suggests us-

ing the concept of sensible (smart) power.<sup>12</sup> He coined this term to correct the misperception that only soft power can ensure the effectiveness of foreign policy, defining sensible power "as the ability to combine hard and soft power resources." Thus, the concept of soft power acquired a more complex, nuanced and multi-faceted definition.<sup>14</sup>

# Türkiye's Soft Power Approach and the Evolution of Turkic Cooperation

Last year marked the 30<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the declaration of independence of the former Soviet republics. Since their independence, these states have sought to strengthen their sovereignty and increase their active involvement in regional and global processes, while continuing to transition away from the socialist system. After the collapse of the bipolar world, the countries of Central Asia and the Caucasus found themselves at the center of the geopolitical interests of other countries. This included, among other things, the geopolitical confrontation that has existed between the "sea" powers and the "land" powers. Moreover, they were involved in the globalization process leaving a significant impact on the needs of Turkic people. However, most of them lacked the material basis, tools or the personnel corps required to conduct for-

eign policy and diplomacy. Türkiye was a very crucial actor in this regard, as it was the first country to recognize the independence of these states. Türkiye also opened embassies in the capitals of all the Turkic-speaking countries as early as 1992.

It was during this initial period that the words of Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, the founder of the Republic of Türkiye, acquired a new meaning for the Turkic states. In a meeting held following celebrations for the tenth anniversary of the foundation of the Republic of Türkiye in 1933, Atatürk described the ideal that could be transferred from generation to generation for the Turkic peoples: "Undoubtedly, every nation should have its ideals. States cannot talk openly about them. Ideal lives in the hearts of the people. Just as we cannot see our eyes, with which we see everything around us, we cannot notice the ideal that lives in our hearts, but we do everything by it." Atatürk was making reference to the fact that there were people living in the Soviet Union who shared the same language, religion and history as Türkiye, and indicating that this was a solid bridge between Türkiye and the Turkic peoples.

Atatürk's vision for the Turkic world is best exemplified by the creation of language and history councils in Türkiye. On this issue, he said:

"We are trying to bring our language closer to their [Turkic] languages; we are making efforts to restore our shared history with them. It will allow us to easily understand each other, have friendly relations and be together in joy and peace. Our goal is to learn and apply a common language and a shared history. We have a shared past, and it needs to be known and understood. Therefore, the study of history in our schools begins with Central Asia. Our children must be aware of the people living there. Now their children should know about us too. For these purposes, the Institute of Turkology has been established. We intend to integrate our cultures." 17

This is how Atatürk concluded his clarification as to how any ideals regarding the Turkic cooperation could be transferred from generation to generation. As a result, despite all the difficulties, Türkiye tried to maintain its links with the Turkic world by focusing on activities in three main spheres: a) activities for the formation of a common Turkic language by purifying it of words borrowed from other languages and enriching the vernacular, b) activities for bridging the 5000-year common history of the Turkic peoples with the history of the Ottoman Empire and constructing a common continuous history; c) efforts to turn the unity of the Turkic peoples into a factor that is capable of ensuring the balance in world politics. To these ends, the Language Councils (*Dil Encümeni*) were later transformed into the Institute of Turkic Studies

(*Türkiyat Enstitüsü*). Ankara University's Faculty of Language, History and Geography emerged on this solid base. The activities of specialized institutions for language (*Dil Kurumu*), history (*Tarih Kurumu*) and culture (*Kültür Merkezi*) were coordinated by the Council for Language, History and Culture at the Office of the Prime Minister. All these activities contributed to the systematic formation of an institutional framework for the rapprochement of the Turkic peoples on the basis of language, culture and history. At the same time, this may be regarded as an indication of the use of soft power in Turkish foreign policy.

During the Soviet era, it was not easy for Ankara to highlight the soft power dimension of Turkic cooperation while remaining tactful in order not to damage its official relations with Moscow. However, the vision put forward by Atatürk became a powerful slogan after the collapse of the Soviet Union, as Türkiye started to hold annual *kurultays* (gatherings) of Turkic-speaking communities, as well as other festivals and symposiums, conferences and official meetings. Türkiye's foreign policy activities in the post-Soviet space at that time centered on the concept of Turkic unity and solidarity.

The budding sovereignty of the former Soviet republics coincided with the presidency of Turgut Özal, which marked an era of unprecedented growth in Türkiye's international activities. Özal made reference to the transformation of the Turkic world and asserted that "the twenty-first century will belong to the Turks."18 He was responsible for the launch of special summits between the heads of states of the Turkic states in 1992, believing that Turkish foreign policy had to be proactive and pragmatic. As a result, Özal became the first Turkish leader to conduct telephone diplomacy with the heads of other states. He also emphasized the importance of economic diplomacy, since he correctly assessed global trends and the transformation of geopolitics into geo-economics. During his period, a large group of entrepreneurs and journalists began to accompany the president on his foreign trips. For example, in addition to many high-ranking officials, around 220 businesspeople and 40 journalists joined his visit to Central Asia in 1993. More importantly, Türkiye opened 22 new embassies and five consulates-general under Özal's leadership, including the embassies opened in all Turkic-speaking countries in 1992.

Türkiye's proactive approach toward the Turkic states continued in subsequent periods under the leadership of presidents Süleyman Demirel (1993–2000), Ahmet Necdet Sezer (2000–2007) and Abdullah Gül (2007–2014). Owing to Türkiye's intense diplomatic efforts in the aftermath of the dissolution of the Soviet Union, there is now an extensive network of cooperation among the Turkic-speaking countries. The most notable institution in this sense is

the former Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States, also known as the "Turkic Council", which was established with the signing of Nakhchivan Agreement on 3 October 2009 as a regional cooperation mechanism. This was actually the fruit of the "Summit Process" that endured from 1992 to 2012. During

Owing to Türkiye's intense diplomatic efforts in the aftermath of the dissolution of the Soviet Union, there is now an extensive network of cooperation among the Turkic-speaking countries.

this period, ten summits of the Turkic-speaking countries at the level of heads of state were organized – the first of which was held in Ankara in 1992. These summit meetings were crucial for Turkic cooperation, as they provided a consistent platform for diplomatic consultations between the Turkic states which eventually led to the formal establishment of the Turkic Council in October 2009. In November 2021, at the eighth summit meeting of the Turkic Council, this regional institution was officially renamed the Organization of Turkic States (OTS). The same summit was also remarkable because the first strategic document for Turkic cooperation, "Turkic World Vision–2040" was adopted, and Turkmenistan gained the status of an observer state in the OTS. The same of the status of an observer state in the OTS.

In 2021, Turkish President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan underlined the importance Türkiye attributes to the OTS by stating,

"We are changing the name of our Council, which has developed its institutional structure and boosted its prestige in its region and beyond, to the Organization of Turkic States. Obviously, this historic change should not remain limited to rhetoric; it should be put into action as well. The structure and the operating procedure of the secretariat as well as our political, economic and social solidarity must reflect the institutional quality of our family assembly."<sup>21</sup>

Today, the OTS not only represents the ideal that has been transferred from generation to generation in the Turkic world in accordance with Atatürk's vision—it is also a very clear example of Türkiye's expanding soft power in international relations.

# Soft Power Aspect of Turkic Cooperation and Kyrgyzstan

The OTS, which has become the umbrella organization for Turkic cooperation, can be regarded as a very effective soft power instrument for all the member states. It is an intergovernmental organization aimed at integrated

and harmonious development in all areas of interaction in the Turkic world on the most topical issues of the regional and global agenda. Its cornerstone is the need for cooperation between the Turkic-speaking peoples, who share common ancestral roots, history, culture and language. Moreover, the OTS is based on the principle of equality among its member states which provides further impetus to enhance regional cooperation.<sup>22</sup> Thus, the decisions are based on consensus and each member state has an equal voice in the decision-making process.

As a multilateral platform, the scope of the activities of the OTS cover many areas ranging from political, economic, educational and cultural issues to specific collaboration fields such as tourism, youth, diaspora, media, agriculture and environmental protection. In each cooperation area, both the public and

As a multilateral platform, the scope of the activities of the OTS cover many areas ranging from political, economic, educational and cultural issues to specific collaboration fields such as tourism, youth, diaspora, media, agriculture and environmental protection.

private sectors are quite active and well-engaged.<sup>23</sup> The project-based approach of the OTS in particular yields remarkable benefits for the citizens of the Turkic states. For instance, projects related to the younger population and education are very significant for enhancing quality of life and social standards in the Turkic world.<sup>24</sup> Moreover, with a comprehensive approach, the OTS also supports the activities of the other official Turkic cooperation organizations regarding the educational, cul-

tural and parliamentarian dimensions of the Turkic solidarity. This multi-dimensional perspective strengthens the soft power of the OTS and its member states. In this regard, it touches the "hearts and minds" of the Turkic-speaking people in a wide range of areas through its activities and projects. Meanwhile, the OTS is also active at the international level.<sup>25</sup> It cooperates with other regional and international organizations starting from the UN and its special agencies to ASEAN. This cooperation is instrumental in raising awareness on the joint soft power of the Turkic states in the international arena.

The OTS is also active in the resolution of regional conflicts. An extraordinary meeting initiated by Mevlüt Çavuşoğlu, Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Türkiye, held in Istanbul in September 2021 on the issue of Afghanistan, is a significant example. The joint statement issued at the end of the meeting contributed to the soft power agenda of Turkic cooperation, as the member states declared their "support to the stabilization and humanitar-

ian efforts of the international community in Afghanistan." Collectively, they pledged to "stand ready to contribute to all efforts to assist the Afghan people in their endeavor to achieve lasting peace, national reconciliation, stability and development." <sup>26</sup>

Kyrgyzstan is one of the founding members of the OTS. It maintains close ties with the other Turkic-speaking states and intends to further deepen these ties both in a bilateral and multilateral framework. The participation of Kyrgyzstan in the activities of the OTS is quite natural, as the Kyrgyz government prioritizes political and economic cooperation with the Turkic states in addition to tending their common historical, cultural, and linguistic bonds. Kyrgyzstan's interactions with other Turkic states within the framework of the OTS is in line with the multi-vector character of its foreign policy, which aims to foster the country's regional and international influence by taking active part in such regional platforms. Reciprocally, the OTS also supports the economic and financial interests of Kyrgyzstan.

Kyrgyzstan has a number of advantages in terms of enhancing the soft power aspects of the OTS. For example, modern Kyrgyzstan inherited the unique contribution of the Kyrgyz as an ancient people to the treasury of world folklore—a trilogy of the heroic epic *Manas*, which is regarded as an encyclopedia of the life by dozens of generations. Furthermore, Kyrgyzstan launched and hosted the first World Nomad Games in 2014, 2016 and 2018. These games later became a regular landmark sports event that continues to bring together

the Turkic peoples. The next round of the games is expected to take place in Türkiye in 2022.

Overall, the OTS has a significant soft power potential and taps this potential through its activities in relevant fields of cooperation. Furthermore, its dynamic approach towards As a founding member state, Kyrgyzstan certainly makes substantial contribution to the enhancement of the soft power dimension of the OTS.

the resolution of regional conflicts as well as its relations with regional and international actors play a significant role to boost its soft power. As a founding member state, Kyrgyzstan certainly makes substantial contribution to the enhancement of the soft power dimension of the OTS.

#### Conclusion

Soft power retains its place among the key instruments of states in international politics. By its nature, soft power is much more flexible and sensitive to changes in the environment compared with hard power. Soft power is also an important component of Turkish foreign policy from a historical perspective. It has become even more visible in the post-Cold War period in Türkiye's approach to the Turkic states of the Caucasus and Central Asia. Atatürk's ideal of strengthening Turkic unity and solidarity has provided the basis for Türkiye's soft power activities in the region following the dissolution of the Soviet Union. Türkiye's main objective is to build strong bridges between the Turkic states to strengthen the common ethnic, linguistic, religious and cultural bonds of the Turkic-speaking peoples. Thus, it could be argued that Atatürk's vision has become the guiding star of Türkiye's soft power approach toward the Turkic world in the post-Cold War era.

The establishment of the Turkic Council in 2009, which was renamed as the OTS in 2021 is one of the most significant products of the collective efforts of the Turkic-speaking states. Today, the OTS is well-equipped with the necessary tools and adequate mechanisms to jointly promote soft power. The "Turkic World Vision–2040" document adopted at the Istanbul Summit in 2021 is expected to provide further momentum in this direction. The role of the member states in the adoption of such an important strategic vision document is very crucial as this document includes many elements promoting a much more sophisticated soft power dimension. The document is also important as the future success of the OTS in fostering cooperation among the Turkic-speaking states will be determined by the efforts of the member states in advancing the soft power dimension of this organization. The projects that have been launched within the framework of the OTS in many issue areas seem to be quite promising in this regard.

#### **Endnotes**

- 1 "What is Soft Power?," Soft Power 30, https://softpower30.com/what-is-soft-power/.
- 2 Joseph S. Nye Jr., "Soft Power," Foreign Policy, No. 80 (1990), pp. 153-171.
- 3 Jonathan McClory, "The Soft Power 30: A Global Ranking of Soft Power," *Portland Communications*, 2015. https://portland-communications.com/pdf/The-Soft-Power\_30.pdf.
- 4 Jonathan McClory, "The New Persuaders III: A 2012 Global Ranking of Soft Power," *Institute for Government*, 2012, http://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/The%20 new%20persuaders%20III\_0.pdf.
- 5 "Declaration of the 8th Summit of the Organization of the Turkic States," Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Cumhurbaşkanlığı, November 12, 2021, https://tccb.gov.tr/assets/dosya/2021-11-12-turkkonseyi-bildirien.pdf.
- 6 Nye, "Soft Power."
- 7 Lao Tzu as cited in Michael Shinagel, "The Paradox of Leadership," Professional Development Harvard Division of Continuing Education, July 3, 2013, https://professional.dce.harvard.edu/blog/the-paradox-of-leadership/.
- 8 S. Kosenko, Soft Power in a Hard Package: Features of the Cultural Policy of France, Moscow: MGIMO University, 2011, p. 416.
- 9 Ibid, p. 188.
- 10 Nye, "Soft Power."
- 11 McClory, "The New Persuaders III."
- 12 Joseph S. Nye Jr. Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics, New York: Public Affairs, 2004, p. 192.
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 Craig Cohen, Joseph S. Nye Jr & Richard L. Armitage, "A Smarter, More Secure America," CSIS, November 6, 2007, https://www.csis.org/analysis/smarter-more-secure-america.
- 15 See Richard Heartland Theory and the Duality of Land Power vs Sea Power," Katehon, September 4, 2021, https://katehon.com/en/article/heartland-theory-and-duality-landpower-vs-sea-power.
- 16 İsmet Bozdağ, Atatürk'ün Avrasya Devleti, Istanbul: Tekin Yayınevi, 1999, p. 30.
- 17 Ibid
- 18 Erkan Ertosun & Erkan Demirbaş (eds.), Turgut Özal: Değişim, Dönüşüm, Ankara: Turgut Özal Üniversitesi Yayınları, 2015, p. 170.
- 19 "Turkic Council's Name Changed to Organization of Turkic States," *Hurriyet Daily News*, November 13, 2021, https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkic-councils-name-changed-to-organization-of-turkic-states-169333.
- 20 "Turkic World Vision-2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- 21 "We are Changing the Name of the Turkic Council to the Organization of Turkic States," Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye, November 12, 2021, https://www.tccb.gov.tr/en/news/542/133467/-we-are-changing-the-name-of-the-turkic-council-to-the-organization-of-turkic-states.
- 22 Pelin Musabay Baki, "Avrasya'da Bölgesel İşbirliği Sürecinden İşbirliği Mekanizmasına: Türk Konseyi," Bilge Strateji, Vol. 6, No. 11 (2014), p.142.
- 23 Also see Pelin Musabay Baki (ed.), Türk Konseyi (Keneşi) ve Bölgedeki Gelişmeler Işığında Avrasya'da İşbirliği, Ankara: AVİM, 2015.
- 24 Ömer Kocaman, "Adjusting to the "New Normal" of Post COVID-19: The Role of Organization of Turkic States in Multilateral Cooperation," *Perceptions: Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 23, No. 2 (2021), p. 204.

- 25 Musabay Baki, "Avrasya'da Bölgesel İşbirliği Sürecinden İşbirliği Mekanizmasına: Türk Konseyi," p. 156.
- 26 "Statement of the Council of Foreign Ministers of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States on the Situation in Afghanistan," Organization of Turkic States, September 27, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-of-the-council-of-foreign-ministers-of-the-coopertion-council-of-turkic-speaking-states-on-the-situation-in-aghanistan\_2344.

# **ARTICLE**

# The Organization of Turkic States: A New Approach to Global and Regional Challenges

Murodjon MUSTOFAEV\*

#### **Abstract**

This article approaches the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) through the lens of Samuel P. Huntington's civilizational approach. It discusses the outcomes of the Istanbul Summit held in 2021, including important changes in the activities of the organization and the historical decisions adopted by the heads of states. Additionally, it makes prognoses on the future of security cooperation among the Turkic states by assessing the current status of their cooperation and the likelihood of future development in this area. Next, it focuses on the role of the Secretary-General in the development and formation of the OTS. Finally, the article explores the main directions of the organization's future development in an increasingly globalized world.

## Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, Istanbul Summit, civilizational approach, security, globalization.

#### Introduction

Nakhchivan is one of the oldest cities in Azerbaijan. Founded by the Prophet Noah, according to legend, and originally mentioned in Ptolemy's Geography as Naksuana, it was the residence of the Seljuk sultans in the 11<sup>th</sup> century. In

Received on: 26.02.2022 Accepted on: 29.05.2022

Independent Researcher, University of World Economy and Diplomacy, Tashkent, Uzbekistan. E-mail: murodlawyer@gmail.com. ORCID: 0000-0002-1784-2365.

the 21st century, on October 3, 2009, Nakhchivan witnessed the signing of an important agreement in the Turkic World, when Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Türkiye signed the Nakhchivan Agreement on the establishment of the Cooperation Council of Turkic States. As a result of this agreement, a mechanism of cooperation among the Turkic states emerged, uniting these states today on the basis of their historical roots, common language, religion, culture and traditions. Today, the Council is known as the Organization of Turkic States (OTS).

International organizations and structures are studied within the system of international relations (IR) through theories of regionalism, institutionalism and functionalism and via a historical approach. It is expedient to study the OTS, which is developing its modes of cooperation under the umbrella of the common civilization of its member nations, through the civilizational approach put forward by American political scientist Samuel P. Huntington. According to Huntington's theory, after the end of the Cold War, states sought to form alliances with countries that shared elements of a common culture, and the politicians and public figures of these countries tended to trust each other precisely because of their closeness and kinship in language, religion and mutual values.<sup>1</sup>

The idea put forward by Huntington is not new, as the scholar himself noted. Ethnic, social and cultural commonalities played an important role in the formation of the Peloponnesian Union, which united the Greek city-states in the 5<sup>th</sup> century BC under Sparta and Athens.<sup>2</sup> Common historic and cultural ties are a key factor not only in developing relations among the Turkic people, but also in the cooperation of other nations that share kinship ties throughout the modern world. The statements of numerous world politicians refer to common historical roots and cultural ties in tough situations, which proves the viability of Huntington's theory once again. In February 2022, for instance, addressing the Russian people, U.S. President Joe Biden said, "I do not believe you want a bloody, destructive war against Ukraine—a country and a people with whom you share such deep ties of family, history and culture."

The existence of the OTS as a regional mechanism has institutionalized cooperative relations between the Turkic States within a multilateral framework. This institutionalization was achieved as an outcome of efforts dating back to the 1990s, and constitutes a perfect tool with which to set the rules of collaboration in the Turkic region, secure the terms of its management, avoiding any regression, and take measures for its deepening and diversification. Relying on the continuous political will of its member states, this solid framework has enabled them to score significant achievements in various cooperation areas within the organization in a short period of time. The keys of this successful performance are embedded in the principles and structure of the organization, and in its result-oriented approach in political, economic, cultural-educational and human fields. Furthermore, its role as an umbrella organization with other Turkic cooperation organizations, such as the Parliamentary Assembly of Turkic Speaking States (TURKPA), the International Organization of Turkic Culture (TURKSOY), the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation and the Turkic Academy, has contributed to the enhancement of Turkic cooperation at the parliamentary, cultural, academic and scientific levels.<sup>4</sup>

Nowadays, more than 150 million people live in the territories of the member and observer states of the OTS. These countries are located in a large and significant geopolitical region that covers a total area of 4,242,362 square kilometers, and their GDP exceeds 1 trillion US dollars. In this regard, the OTS plays an important role in the world economy.

#### The Istanbul Summit and Three Historic Decisions

The 8<sup>th</sup> Summit of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (Turkic Council) was hosted by Türkiye under the theme of "Green Technologies and Smart Cities in the Digital Age" at the Democracy and Freedom Island which is not far from Istanbul on November 12, 2021. This Summit was marked by the adoption of important decisions in the history of the organization, three of which are appropriate to highlight.

First, the Turkic Council was renamed the Organization of Turkic States. The decision was hotly debated in political and scientific circles and was ultimately warmly welcomed. At a press conference on the sidelines of the Summit, Turkish President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan stated, "We have decided to rename our Council. From now on, it is called the Organization of Turkic States. Thanks to the new name and structure, the Organization of Turkic States will develop, strengthen and increase more actively." Commenting on this decision, Professor Cengiz Tomar of Ahmet Yesevi University stated that beyond a doubt, the main event of the Istanbul Summit was the renaming of the Turkic Council, since the change represents a historic and fundamental transformation. <sup>5</sup>

From a legal point of view, the absence of the word "organization" in the

name of an international structure does not prevent it from operating as an international organization. For the past 12 years, the Turkic Council has been working to develop mechanisms for cooperation among member states in various fields and involve non-member Turkic-speaking states in its structure. With the full membership of Uzbekistan in 2019 and the inclusion of Turkmenistan as an observer in the Turkic Council at

With the full membership of Uzbekistan in 2019 and the inclusion of Turkmenistan as an observer in the Turkic Council at the Istanbul Summit, the institutional phase of cooperation among the Turkic states has been finalized.

the Istanbul Summit, the institutional phase of cooperation among the Turkic states has been finalized. In this regard, the official renaming of the Council, which has so far served as a dialogue platform, as a full-fledged organization was a timely and logical decision.

Second, the Istanbul Summit has, in a sense, officially completed the process of unification of all the Turkic states around a single organization. Turkmenistan, which had so far been an honorary guest at the organization's summits, was officially granted observer status. While the Turkic states have made no secret of their interest in Turkmenistan's joining the organization as a member, Turkmenistan's status as a neutral state prevents it from becoming a full member of the organization. Nevertheless, in recent years, Turkmenistan has actively mobilized its observer status in multilateral diplomacy. It received observer status in the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 2020 and in the Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building Measures in Asia (CICA) in 2021.<sup>6</sup>

The legal basis for obtaining observer status in the OTS is detailed in Article 16 of the Nakhchivan Agreement, according to which observer status can be granted to states, international organizations and international fora. As the Secretary-General of the OTS Baghdad Amreyev said,

"As a rule, they (observers) are represented in practice in all our forms of interaction, starting with expert meetings and including Summits of the Heads of States. The only significant difference is that the observer does not participate in the decision-making process of the Organization, that is, in voting."

The current participation of Hungary in the OTS, which received observer status in 2018, is a vivid example of using this status in all formats of the organization. The opening of the European Representative Office of the OTS in Budapest in 2019 is full proof of Hungary's active involvement as an observer state in the activities of the organization.

In a recent interview, the Secretary-General Amreyev noted that "the nature of the OTS will not allow an unlimited expansion of the Organization, and only those countries that have one of the Turkic languages as one of the official languages can be observers." <sup>8</sup>

Based on this criterion, it can be said that the Istanbul Summit was able to fully unite the sovereign Turkic states. During the press conference after the Istanbul Summit, President Erdoğan made the following announcement:

"The Turkic countries have been the center of culture and civilization for thousands of years. I am sure that this will continue to be the case. The Organization of Turkic States should not bother anyone. The Organization is a platform for the development of interstate relations. I sincerely hope that the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus

(TRNC) will be among us in the coming period, and our Organization will be more prosperous."9

During Türkiye's chairmanship of the OTS from 2021–2022, it is not difficult to predict that the issue of the TRNC's membership will be included in the agenda of the organization's activities and various events. However, the TRNC will likely face During Türkiye's chairmanship of the OTS from 2021–2022, it is not difficult to predict that the issue of the TRNC's membership will be included in the agenda of the organization's activities and various events.

a number of obstacles in joining the organization. First and foremost among these, only Türkiye recognizes the TRNC today. The other member and observer states of the OTS have not officially recognized it, have not established diplomatic relations and therefore may not support the accession of TRNC to the OTS as a full member. However, TRNC currently has observer status in the Economic Cooperation Organization (ECO) and the Organization of Islamic Cooperation (OIC). In this respect, the TRNC can apply for obtaining observer status in the OTS. In an important move, in the Istanbul Declaration, the OTS member states expressed their solidarity with the Turkish Cypriot people in their aspirations to secure their equal, inherent rights, and recognized Türkiye's request to invite the Turkish Cypriots to participate in relevant activities of the OTS.<sup>10</sup>

Based on these factors, the expansion of the OTS to include future states will be relatively slow. Although the Nakhchivan Agreement provides for the granting of observer status to international organizations and forums in addition to states, this practice has not yet been reflected in the activities of the organization.

During the Istanbul Summit, the "Regulation of Partners of the Organization of Turkic States" was also signed. This important document defines the future cooperation instruments of the organization with third parties and creates a legal basis for the further establishment and expansion of cooperation between the organization and third countries. As noted by the OTS Secretary-General, now almost any state can become a partner, provided it is ready to make a real contribution to the development of mutually beneficial cooperation in a particular area. <sup>11</sup> For this reason, the OTS is expected to enlarge in terms of partner states rather than member or observer states.

A third important outcome of the Istanbul Summit was that the organization officially adopted its long-term development strategy: "Turkic World Vision–2040". The document is divided into four areas of cooperation: political and security cooperation, economic and sectoral cooperation, people-to-people cooperation and cooperation with external parties. It outlines the priorities of the organization's long-term cooperation among member and

observer states. In particular, in the political sphere, it highlights the importance of strengthening the regular mechanism of multilateral political consultations among the member states on international and regional foreign policy issues of common interest.

In addition, by adopting this document, the parties agreed to ensure effective cooperation and coordination with other organizations such as TURKSOY, TURKPA, Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation and the Turkic Academy for advancing collaboration in cultural, academic and parliamentary spheres. These organizations are partners and affiliates of the OTS. Simultaneously, these organizations are independent international organizations that engage in specific areas of cooperation. It is important to coordinate the relationship between these partner organizations and the OTS, first of all, with the aim of raising the level of cooperation and developing relations among the Turkic states—which is considered the main goal of the OTS. Second, not all the member or observer states in the OTS today participate in the activities of the above-mentioned partner organizations. In this regard, it is important that the activities of these partner organizations be coordinated within a single structure, namely the OTS.

In addition, "Turkic World Vision–2040" provides for strengthening the representation office of the OTS in Budapest as a hub for developing multilayered cooperation with European institutions including the Visegràd Group. Although Hungary is currently an observer in the organization, its status does not prevent it from intensely participating in all the activities of the organization. The Budapest-based office of the secretariat of the OTS is a solid bridge for the development of relations between member and observer states and the EU. Hungary emphasizes that its relations with the Turkic world are based on the closeness of fraternal ties between the ancient Huns and the Turkic people. Speaking at the Istanbul Summit on November 12, 2021, Hungarian Prime Minister Viktor Orban said the Hungarians were proud to be descendants of the ancient Huns and Attila. During the event, Orban also noted that Hungary's relations with Uzbekistan and Kyrgyzstan, member states of the OTS,

"Turkic World Vision–2040 focuses on expanding economic and sectoral cooperation in transport; in particular, wider use of the Trans-Caspian East-West Corridor, simplification of customs regulations and the joint building of the new Zangezur Corridor.

had reached a strategic level. It is expected that in future Budapest will play an important bridging role between the Turkic world and the EU.

"Turkic World Vision—2040 focuses on expanding economic and sectoral cooperation in transport; in particular, wider use of the Trans-Caspian East-West Corridor, simplification of customs regulations and the joint building of the new Zangezur Corridor.

As the Vision indicates, there is a wide range of opportunities for people-to-people cooperation among the Turkic states. First of all, the similar culture, language, religion and common traditions of the Turkic states are the basis for the development of their cooperation. In this vein, the OTS plans to hold forums among young people, entrepreneurs and representatives of the diaspora to attend for the development of cooperation in sports and education. The activities of TURKSOY, which has been operating since 1993, deserve special attention. It is important to establish cooperation among other partner organizations in this field, such as the Turkish Academy and the Turkic Culture and Heritage Foundation.

# Emerging Global Challenges and Security Issues in the Turkic World

Today, the world is facing unprecedented challenges. The COVID-19 pandemic, natural disasters, climate change and other regional and global cataclysms that have shocked the global health system in the last two years have not bypassed the Turkic states. The OTS was one of the first international organizations in the world to hold an extraordinary online meeting at the level of heads of member and observer states to combat the pandemic. This online event was organized by the President of Azerbaijan, Ilham Aliyev, on April 10, 2020, during Azerbaijan's chairmanship of the organization. At this high-level online event, "Solidarity and Cooperation in the Fight against the COVID-19 Pandemic", the leaders of the Turkic states outlined measures to combat COVID-19.14 These measures addressed important considerations such as health, transport, trade and migration issues. Dr. Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus, Director General of the World Health Organization (WHO), who attended the Summit, stated that it was important for everyone to work together to overcome the pandemic and that the Turkic states could come together. 15 A number of measures were taken to provide mutual humanitarian assistance among the member and observer states, and to extend the visas of citizens residing in the territories of these countries.

However, after the creation of vaccines during the later stages of the pandemic, the process of mutually recognizing other countries' vaccination certificates was not conducted within the organization. In this context, the bilateral agreements on the recognition of vaccine certificates signed by Hungary with Turkic countries, in particular Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, were significant. Hungary was the first EU country to recognize Kazakhstan's certificate of vaccination. This process was not continued with the other parties within the organization, however, and each state preferred to limit itself to its own anti-COVID rules. Taking PCR tests for citizens on interstate trips is still practiced among the member states of the organization.

The Turkic world region comes under the close attention of the world community when security issues are concerned. According to Al-Kashghari, famous scholar and lexicographer of the Turkic languages, the Turkic people understand that nothing in the world is achieved without struggle: "He who collects honey must endure the stings of bees. They [the Turkic people] were fighters, but they understood the price of the conflict: In the fight between two camels, a flying fly between them dies.<sup>17</sup>

It should be noted that all countries have their own Achilles' heel when it comes to security. During the Istanbul Summit on November 12, 2021, in his opening speech, President Erdoğan referred to the PKK terrorist organization's Syrian affiliate, the YPG, as well as Daesh and the Gülenist Terror Organization (FETÖ), stating: "We are determined to continue our fight against all forms of terrorism. We must increase our cooperation in this regard." <sup>18</sup> Examples of security challenges in the region include the Nagorno-Karabakh war between Azerbaijan and Armenia, the recent internal political tensions in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan's border problems with Tajikistan, which are accompanied by periodic exchanges of fire. Although Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan are relatively politically stable at present, their proximity to Afghanistan in the south is considered one of the key parameters in measuring regional security. <sup>19</sup>

According to Zbigniew Brzezinski, two countries of Central Asia—Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan—play the most important role. <sup>20</sup> Kazakhstan is a shield in the region, and Uzbekistan is the soul of the awakening of diverse national feelings. It is clear that stability in Central Asia mostly relies on these two Turkic-speaking countries.

Two approaches have emerged concerning security issues within the OTS.

One of the first statements of the organization on security issues was made on September 28, 2020, regarding the situation in Nagorno-Karabakh between Azerbaijan and Armenia. The first approach is to issue an official statement on behalf of the organization or the Secretary-General regarding any situation involving member states, calling on the parties to resolve it by mutual agreement, a negotiation process or other diplomatic means.

One of the first statements of the organization on security issues was made on September 28, 2020, re-

garding the situation in Nagorno-Karabakh between Azerbaijan and Armenia. By means of this statement, the Turkic countries reaffirmed their commitment to the norms and principles of international law and reiterated the importance of an early resolution of the Armenia-Azerbaijan conflict on the basis of sovereignty, territorial integrity and the inviolability of the internationally recognized borders of the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Turkic Council recalled the resolutions of the UN Security Council adopted in 1993, which demanded

an immediate, unconditional and full withdrawal of Armenia's armed forces from all occupied territories of the Republic of Azerbaijan.<sup>21</sup>

The OTS reacted to the unrest in Kazakhstan in early 2022, expressing confidence in the establishment of peace and stability in Kazakhstan and acknowledging its solidarity with Kazakhstan as a member state.<sup>22</sup> Following an incident of crossfire on the Kyrgyz-Tajik border on January 27–28, 2022, the Secretary-General of the OTS issued a statement and called on the parties to resolve the situation through diplomatic negotiations. The Secretary-General stated:

"The Organization of Turkic States condemns the use of military weapons against civilians and urges [the parties] to take necessary measures for refraining from further escalation of tension at the state border of the two neighboring countries. We express support to the efforts of the Kyrgyz Republic to find a peaceful solution to the situation and welcome dialogue between Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan based on mutual understanding, mutual respect, good neighborliness and coexistence."<sup>23</sup>

In this statement, the Turkic states expressed their support for the Kyrgyz side's efforts to resolve the conflict.

The second approach to addressing security issues within the organization is to convene the Council of Ministers of Foreign Affairs (CFM) in appropriate cases or situations. We can predict that the organization in future will hold meetings of the CFM on security issues with the aim of adopting final documents that reflect the common position of the parties. This approach is a step closer to practical security cooperation among the Turkic states. As a proof of this, one of the extraordinary meetings of the foreign ministers of the OTS was held on September 27, 2021 in Istanbul at the initiative of Mevlüt Çavuşoğlu, Türkiye's Minister of Foreign Affairs. The ministers exchanged views on the situation in Afghanistan and its regional and global ramifications. They also shared their assessments regarding the various dimensions of stabilization and the humanitarian efforts of the international community in Afghanistan, including processes aiming for the establishment of an administration that is inclusive and representative, coordination on preventing Afghanistan from becoming once again a safe haven for terrorism, measures against the risk of increased flows of irregular migration from Afghanistan and ensuring respect for human rights for all.<sup>24</sup>

Another extraordinary online meeting of foreign ministers was held on January 11, 2022 regarding the riots in Kazakhstan and the events aimed at over-

throwing constitutional order there. Speaking at the event, Cavusoğlu stressed the importance of accelerating the steps taken for political and economic integration within the OTS. In this context, he referred to the "Turkic World Vision-2040" and stressed that the most basic conditions for development and cooperation are security and stability; therefore cooperation between security and intelligence units should be more organized and institutional within the OTS. He highlighted the need to further strengthen security cooperation within the organization. Attending this event, the Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Mukhtar Tileuberdi, emphasized that Kazakhstan was facing an armed aggression from terrorist groups trained outside the country that have used violence against the civil population, public and private property; attacked businesses, mass media outlets and law enforcement personnel; and have caused multiple injuries and deaths. He added that over eight law enforcement officers had been killed, and that more than 700 people had been injured, including more than 130 women and elderly people. The minister indicated that, considering the sharp aggravation of the situation, President Tokayev had assumed the office of the Chairman of the Security Council of the Republic of Kazakhstan and called upon the member states of the Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO) to provide military assistance in the conduct of a counter-terrorist operation based on Articles 2 and 4 of the Collective Security Treaty.<sup>25</sup>

These events indicate that security cooperation among the member states of the organization has not yet evolved into a fully multilateral format. Rather, member states prefer bilateral security cooperation with each other, with widely varying levels of cooperation. For instance, security cooperation between Türkiye and Azerbaijan cannot be compared with relations between Türkiye and Kazakhstan or Kyrgyzstan. The high level of security cooperation between Türkiye and Azerbaijan was fully reflected in the 44-day war in Nagorno-Karabakh, in which Türkiye and Azerbaijan acted together as allies. According to Çavuşoğlu, Türkiye supported Azerbaijan "on the field and at the table" (sahada ve masada).26 It is safe to say that security and military cooperation between Türkiye and Azerbaijan has reached the level of a strategic alliance. Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are currently CSTO members and rely more on Russia in the field of military cooperation. This is evidenced by the events in Kazakhstan. Among the member states, Uzbekistan is not a member of any military cooperation structure, but has taken practical steps toward coordination with Türkiye. On October 27, 2020, President of the Republic of Uzbekistan Shavkat Mirziyoyev received the Minister of National Defense of the Republic of Türkiye Hulusi Akar. During the meeting, they discussed important areas of practical cooperation established between the defense ministries of Uzbekistan and Türkiye, and defined the implementation of programs in the field of training military personnel, establishing contacts between specialized universities and exchanging experience in the training of military units.<sup>27</sup>

Security issues will clearly remain on the regular agenda of the OTS. Perhaps in the future, security cooperation mechanisms will be discussed at the level of Heads of States from the level of the Meeting of CFM to develop a common position. In this regard, it is worth recalling the various positions of the member states regarding current events taking place in the international arena. At the extraordinary session of the UN General Assembly convened on March 1, 2022, the withdrawal of Russian troops from Ukraine was supported by Türkiye, while the other OTS member states maintained their neutral position. Considering that among the OTS, only Türkiye is a member of NATO and that Russia is the main military and economic partner of the other member states, efforts to develop a common position on foreign policy and security issues will likely take some time.

# The Role of the Secretary-General in the Unification of the Turkic World

Today, the OTS has become a full-fledged international organization bringing together all the Turkic states. Since its establishment, the OTS has adopted a result-oriented approach with a practical decision-making process and empowered collaboration in the Turkic world. The founding Secretary-General Halil Akıncı, a former Turkish ambassador, emphasized the aim, mission and vision of this regional platform for cooperation frequently and played a very important role in the shaping of the structure of the OTS Secretariat accordingly.<sup>29</sup> The well-established and project-oriented structure of the organization has provided significant momentum to the cooperation potential among the Turkic States. It is also notable that the member states have put forward their willingness to deepen their cooperation within the OTS in a constant manner. As a result, despite the negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, active cooperation among the OTS member and observer states has been maintained. Between 2019–2021, for instance, four meetings of the OTS heads of state took place – two of them via video conference.

The current Secretary-General Amreyev has made a significant contribution to the organization of such high-level events for the past three years. As a representative of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Amreyev has shown himself to be an experienced diplomat with an acute strategic vision. Through Amreyev's

initiative, many important events have been held and necessary steps have been taken to implement the initiatives put forward by the Heads of State of the OTS. During the period of Amreyev, Uzbekistan became a full member of the organization and Turkmenistan was granted observer status. In this process, it is impossible not to mention the active diplomatic efforts of the Secretary-General. Despite the difficulties of the pandemic period, Amreyev was able to hold regular meetings and establish dialogue with the Presidents, heads of ministries and departments of the member and observer states.

It should be noted that the authority to appoint the next Secretary-General of the OTS will be transferred to Kyrgyzstan. The organization's future de-

The organization's future development and active efforts directly depend on the experience and diplomatic potential of the Secretary-General.

velopment and active efforts directly depend on the experience and diplomatic potential of the Secretary-General. During Amreyev's period, the unification of all the Turkic states under the umbrella of the OTS was finalized, and the organization entered its next period of development.

Hopefully, the representative selected by Kyrgyzstan will serve as a model for other member states when it is their turn to appoint their representatives as Secretary-General of the OTS.

## Future Perspectives

Following the 2021 Istanbul Summit, the chairmanship of the OTS passed to the Republic of Türkiye. The activities carried out within the OTS show that the Turkish side is actively engaging in its chairmanship.

In this context, it is appropriate to mention the permanent consultative body of the OTS: the Council of Elders. It should be noted that the activity of the Council of Elders began to develop during Türkiye's chairmanship. Former Prime Minister of the Republic of Türkiye Binali Yıldırım, an experienced statesman, currently chairs the Council of Elders. The 12<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the Council of Elders convened on February 9–11, 2022 in Istanbul. During the meeting, the Elders were received by Turkish President Erdoğan.<sup>30</sup> Shortly after the Istanbul Summit, Yıldırım held bilateral meetings with the presidents of Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Uzbekistan, observer Turkmenistan and other states, and discussed issues related to the organization's activities.

Institutions similar to the Council of Elders do not exist in other international and regional structures. Respect for and consultation with elders has long been a tradition of the Turkic people. Historically, in almost all Turkic nations, in addition to the tribal chief or head of state, there were elders who held a special authority and influence, who were consulted in resolving important issues and at times sent as ambassadors to other countries. The inclusion of this institution in the OTS and its effective use is a symbol of ancient Turkic diplomacy. Judging from Yıldırım's active efforts, the activities of the Council of Elders are expected to develop in the future.

In recent years, the OTS has emphasized the development of economic, trade and investment facilities. Within the organization, plans are under way to establish an Investment Fund and Turkic Development Bank, which would be a breakthrough step in the transition from dialogue to practical investment and financial cooperation within the OTS.<sup>31</sup> The establishment of these two financial mechanisms within the framework of the organization will serve to further increase its attractiveness.

In the near future, one of the main areas of cooperation facing the Turkic states will be the effective use and diversification of existing transport corridors. In particular, the consequences of the military actions between Russia and Ukraine and the resulting Western sanctions have created a number of difficulties for Turkic-speaking states. In this tough

In the near future, one of the main areas of cooperation facing the Turkic states will be the effective use and diversification of existing transport corridors.

period and in the future, the importance of the International Trans-Caspian Corridor is expected to increase. There will also be an opportunity to launch the Zangezur transport corridor proposed by Azerbaijan. The opening of the Zangezur corridor is very important, as it will connect Nakhchivan with other Azerbaijani territories, and restore transport and rail links between Türkiye and Azerbaijan and other Turkic republics. The corridor is also vital in terms of reviving the historic Silk Road, China's Belt and Road Initiative, and in stimulating regional cooperation and trade development. The interests of Russia, Türkiye and Azerbaijan intersect in this issue. Through this corridor, Russia can further strengthen its ties with Armenia, Iran and Türkiye. In addition to the issue of transportation, issues of cultural and humanitarian cooperation, tourism, education and youth policy will remain on the organization's agenda.

The creator of the theory of functionalism in international relations, David Mitrany, stated that an international organization can be functional when its activities are commensurate with the conditions under which it has to operate, and when these activities meet the needs of the moment.<sup>34</sup> This perspec-

tive is certainly supportive of the development of multilateral cooperation and multilateralism. The achievements of the OTS in various areas since its establishment run in parallel with this understanding. The organization catches the spirit of the times, and shapes its agenda and carries out its functions accordingly. This is the main cause of the dynamic development and enhancement process of the OTS today. The future adaptation of the organization to global contingencies, internal political turbulence and changes within member states is considered a key factor of its success as a "Common Turkic Family".

#### Conclusion

The unification of the Turkic states under a single international organization, the intensification of the current multilateral cooperation, as well as the prospects for the future development of the organization can be explained by the following processes:

Historical-civilizational process. From ancient times, the Turkic people have affirmed that they were descended from a single nation whose fraternal relations are rooted in religion, culture and traditions. Even under the rule of the Arabs, Mongols and Russians, the Turkic people managed to preserve their indigenous civilization. As the historical-civilizational process unfolded in the Turkic world, the Turkic people retained their distinctive cultural features while benefiting from interactions with other civilizations. Huntington may have had the Turkic people in mind as a culture able to withstand the "merciless strikes" of history when he developed his civilizational approach. After all, Huntington's theory has not lost its relevance today.

Political process. This is an important process for all the Turkic states. The end of the Cold War in the 1990s, and the independence of the Turkic-speaking states of Central Asia and the Caucasus, paved the way for the revival of the centuries-old Turkic civilization, ensuring the emergence of the Turkic international organization. The words of the famous Turkic ruler, Bilge Khan, "oh, my Turkic people return to yourself and you will be more prosperous," emphasize the continuity and stability of this political process.<sup>35</sup>

Global process. Globalization is an inevitable reality that is occurring today and dictating rules of order, from which international relations are not exempt. States and international organizations alike must take into account the events and situations set in motion by the forces of globalization. At the same time, globalization is pushing all international structures, including the OTS, to reach consensus on global matters and settle issues in solidarity.

In summary, the quest to find suitable solutions to global issues, based on the historical civilizational roots of the Turkic people and the continuation of the existing political will of the Turkic states, will remain a key factor in determining the future destiny of the OTS.

### **Endnotes**

- 1 Samuel P. Huntington, The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World Order, New York: Simon and Schuster, 1996.
- 2 Paul Cartledge, "The Origins and Organization of the Peloponnesian League," in Michael Whitby (ed.), Sparta, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2002, p. 223.
- 3 "Remarks by President Biden Providing an Update on Russia and Ukraine," The White House, February 15, 2022, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speeches-remarks/2022/02/15/remarks-by-president-biden-providing-an-update-on-russia-and-ukraine.
- 4 Pelin Musabay Baki, Cooperation among the Turkic Speaking States and the New Regionalism, unpublished Ph.D. thesis (in French), Galatasaray University, Istanbul, 2020, Chapter III, pp. 420-429
- 5 Cengiz Tomar & Ülviyya Amuyeva, "Analytics: From Turkic Speaking Countries to Turkic States (in Russian)," Anadolu Agency, November 15, 2021, http://v.aa.com.tr/2421283.
- 6 "Members Endorse Turkmenistan's WTO Observer Status," World Trade Organization, July 22, 2020, https://www.wto.org/english/news\_e/news20\_e/acc\_22jul20\_e.htm; "Turkmenistan was Awarded the Observer Status of the Conference on Interaction and Confidence-Building Measures in Asia," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, June 23, 2021, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en/news/2673.
- 7 "History, Present and Plans for the Future: Interview with the Secretary General of the Organization of Turkic States (in Russian)," Kun.uz, December 22, 2021, https://kun.uz/ru/news/2021/12/22/ istoriya-nastoyashcheye-i-plany-na-budushcheye-intervyu-s-generalnym-sekretarem-organizatsiityurkskix-gosudarstv.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 "The Turkic Council was Renamed the Organization of Turkic States," In Business, November 13, 2021, https://inbusiness.kz/ru/last/tyurkskij-sovet-pereimenovali-v-organizaciyu-tyurkskihgosudarstv.
- 10 "Declaration of the Eighth Summit of the Organization of Turkic States," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/declaration-of-8th-summit-2395-148.pdf.
- 11 "History, Present and Plans for the Future."
- 12 "Turkic World Vision–2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- 13 "Hungary to Initiate Joint Summit of Turkic Council and V4," Prime Minister of Hungary, November 12, 2021, https://miniszterelnok.hu/hungary-to-initiate-joint-summit-of-turkic-council-and-v4.
- 14 Murodjon Mustofaev, "Initiatives of Uzbekistan in Turkic Council: Perspectives for Further Development of Cooperation," Global Turk, No. 1/2 (2021), pp. 20–26.
- 15 "On the Initiative of Ilham Aliyev, an Extraordinary Summit of the Turkic Council was Held via Videoconference (in Russian)," President of Azerbaijan, April 10, 2020, https://president.az/ru/ articles/view/36412.
- 16 "Hungary is the First in the EU to Recognize Vaccination Passports of Kazakhstan (in Russian)," Kazinform, June 22, 2021, https://www.inform.kz/ru/vengriya-pervoy-v-es-priznala-pasporta-vakcinacii-kazahstana\_a3803956.
- 17 Frederick Starr, The Lost Enlightenment: The Golden Age of Central Asia from the Arab Conquest to the Time of Tamerlane (in Russian), Moscow: Alpina, 2017, p. 301.
- 18 "Türkiye Urges Turkic Council to Act Together on Global Issues," Daily Sabah, November 12, 2021, https://www.dailysabah.com/politics/diplomacy/Türkiye-urges-turkic-council-to-act-together-on-global-issues.
- 19 Sherzod Abdullayev, "Uzbekistan in the Turkic Council: Community of Interests, Opportunities and Potential for Cooperation (in Russian)," Khalkaro Munosabatlar, No. 2 (2019), p. 9.

- 20 Zbigniew Brzezinski, The Grand Chessboard: American Primacy and its Geostrategic Imperatives (in Russian), Moscow: ACT, 2021, p. 225.
- 21 "Statement of the Secretary General of the Turkic Council," Organization of Turkic States, September 28, 2020, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-of-the-secretary-general-of-the-turkic-council\_2075.
- 22 "Statement of the Organization of Turkic States on the Events Taking Place in Kazakhstan," Organization of Turkic States, January 6, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-on-the-events-taking-place-in-kazakhstan\_2430.
- 23 "Statement by the Secretary General of the Organization of Turkic States on the Situation at the Kyrgyz-Tajik State Border," Organization of Turkic States, January 28, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/statement-by-the-secretary-general-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-on-the-situation-at-the-kyrgyz-tajik-state-border\_2444.
- 24 "Extraordinary Meeting of Foreign Ministers of the Turkic Council on the Situation in Afghanistan Convened in Istanbul," Organization of Turkic States, September 27, 2021, https://www.turkkon. org/en/haberler/extraordinary-meeting-of-foreign-ministers-of-the-turkic-council-on-the-situation-in-afghanistan-convened-in-istanbul\_2345.
- 25 "Organization of Turkic States Convened its Extraordinary Meeting of Foreign Ministers on the Situation in Kazakhstan," Organization of Turkic States, January 11, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/organization-of-turkic-states-convened-its-extraordinary-meeting-of-foreign-ministers-on-the-situation-in-kazakhstan\_2437.
- 26 Kirill Krivosheev, "Third Condominium: How Karabakh will Change Relations between Russia and Türkiye (in Russian)," Carnegie Russia, October 9, 2020, https://carnegie.ru/commentary/82932.
- 27 "The President of the Republic of Uzbekistan received the Minister of National Defense of the Republic of Türkiye, General of the Army H. Akar (in Russian)," President of Uzbekistan, October 27, 2020, https://president.uz/ru/lists/view/3917.
- 28 "United Nations General Assembly Resolution," March 1, 2022, https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/21314169-unga-resolution.
- 29 See the address by H.E. Halil Akıncı, Secretary General of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States, to the OSCE Permanent Council, 20 December 2012, Vienna, OSCE Official Document, No: PC.DEL/1176/12, https://www.osce.org/files/f/documents/1/c/98772.pdf.
- 30 "Council of Elders of the Organization of Turkic States Convened a Meeting in Istanbul," Organization of Turkic States, February 11, 2022, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/council-of-elders-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-convened-a-meeting-in-istanbul\_2456.
- 31 "Uzbekistan Took Part in the Meeting of the Ministers of Economy of the Member States and Observers of the Cooperation Council of Turkic-speaking States," Investment Promotion Agency, https://invest.gov.uz/mediacenter/news/uzbekistan-took-part-in-the-meeting-of-the-ministers-of-economy-of-the-member-states-and-observers-of-the-cooperation-council-of-turkic-speaking-states.
- 32 For further information, see Vasif Huseynov, "Zangazur Corridor is the Cornerstone of the Post-War Regional Cooperation Projects in the South Caucasus," Valdai Club, March 22, 2022, https://valdaiclub.com/a/highlights/zangazur-corridor-is-the-cornerstone-of-the-post/
- 33 "Zangezur Corridor Will Provide a New Link between Türkiye and Azerbaijan (in Russian)," Anadolu Agency, May 31, 2021, https://www.aa.com.tr/ru/mir/zangezurskiy-koridor-obespechit-novoe-soobshchenie-mejdu-turtsiey-i-azerbaydjanom/2259451#.
- 34 David Mitrany, The Functional Theory of Politics, London: LSE, 1975.
- 35 Zhavanshir Feyziyev, Union of Turkic States: The Eurasian Model of Global Integration (in Uzbek), Tashkent: Renessans Press, 2021, p. 3.

# Hungary's Role in the Organization of Turkic States as an Observer State: Limitations and Opportunities

Tamás Péter BARANYI\*

#### **Abstract**

This article seeks to analyze the evolution of Hungary's relations with the Organization of Turkic States (OTS). In the first part, the challenges and opportunities of cooperation within the OTS is evaluated from a Hungarian perspective. The second part focuses on the Hungarian approach to international cooperation, the emergence of Hungary's "Eastern Opening" policy and Hungary's specific relations with the Turkic states. The third part elaborates on Hungary's role as an observer country in the OTS. Finally, in the conclusion, the article provides some practical recommendations as to how Hungary could further contribute to the development of regional cooperation among the Turkic states, and to cooperation between Europe and the Turkic world.

# Keywords

Organization of Turkic States, Hungary, regional cooperation, Eastern Opening, Turkic world.

Received on: 06.03.2022 Accepted on: 22.05.2022

PhD, Deputy Director for Strategy, Institute for Foreign Affairs and Trade, Budapest, Hungary. E-mail: tamas.baranyi@ifat.hu. ORCID: 0000-0001-5304-9922.

#### Introduction

There is a growing Hungarian-language literature about the nations of the OTS and their cooperation, although a comprehensive volume in any language is still missing. Literature on the workings of observer states in international organizations is also very scarce, although the topic is becoming more important; organizations in the international arena are thriving, and both full-fledged and observer states are increasing in numbers, as are their interactions. The present study tries to contribute to this latter question as well.

This study has three main objectives: it seeks to portray the OTS as a distinctly new international organization from a Hungarian perspective; it discusses Hungary's pattern of participation in international organizations and explores how the OTS fits into this pattern; and it proposes ideas as to how Hungary might develop its cooperation with the OTS as an observer member. Even though there is a shortage of scholarly literature about the OTS in English-language academia, the existing material and noted achievements of the organization provide for a sound analysis against which a Hungarian assessment can be formulated.<sup>2</sup> A short overview of the identifiable problems facing the OTS and the organization's potential is thus followed by an overall presentation of Hungarian participation in the international arena and its relation to the Turkic states. The study concludes with some practical remarks about Hungary's role in the organization as an observer state.

### Problems and Potential of the OTS

When it comes to assessing the performance of the OTS as an enhanced regional economic cooperation model, three distinct problems must be kept in mind. First, the region in which the OTS members are situated is not

The OTS consists of a diverse set of countries: founding members Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are located in Central Asia, like Uzbekistan which joined a decade later in 2019; Azerbaijan is located in the South Caucasus region; and Türkiye stretches across Anatolia and Southeastern Europe.

geographically contiguous, which makes it harder to establish some of the elements necessary for successful and enhanced economic cooperation.<sup>3</sup> Second, the Turkic states are quite diverse in their political structure, geography and foreign policy traditions. The third hindrance of collaboration facing the OTS is the role of outside actors in the regions involving OTS members, especially Central Asia. In the section below.

this study highlights those hindrances and evaluates the development of the OTS against this background.

The OTS consists of a diverse set of countries: founding members Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are located in Central Asia, like Uzbekistan which joined a decade later in 2019; Azerbaijan is located in the South Caucasus region; and Türkiye stretches across Anatolia and Southeastern Europe. These countries are separated by the Caspian Sea and Armenia, thus not making a unified bloc that would enhance trade, logistics and other forms of cooperation. Yet the OTS members are not completely disconnected either. Since the Azerbaijani victory in the 44-day war in 2021, plans have been formulated to develop the Zangezur corridor and other interconnections in the Caucasus region. The Baku-Tbilisi-Kars Railway has been operational since 2017, which greatly enhances the connection between this region and Türkiye. Nonetheless, the connection between Central Asia and the Caucasus entails crossing the Caspian Sea, which requires extra investments to develop ports and logistical facilities in the coastal countries.4 It should be noted that most forms of global economic cooperation do not involve countries so far apart. Yet even though the geographical divisions among the OTS members are quite significant, efforts to overcome these differences are making progress in the region.

The reason these countries seek to cooperate lies in the cultural dimension of the Turkic nations—the basis of their cooperation is their shared cultural background, rather than geographical proximity or easily interfacing economies. In this sense, the European parallel is not the EU, nor even the European Free Trade Association (EFTA) at its high time of significance, both of which have to do with geographical proximity, but rather international alignments of countries based on shared cultural heritage, like Francophonie or Lusophonia. If international significance beyond cultural cooperation is taken into account, it can safely be said that the OTS has much higher aims and more elaborate cooperative structures than any of the aforementioned culturally defined organizations. In short, given its geographical hindrances, the OTS is progressing quite well and strives to resolve problems of distance through infrastructural investments.

The second major obstacle to cooperation among the Turkic states has to do with the different political and foreign policy traditions of the participating members. Türkiye is a nation that has long been part of the European state system and is even militarily integrated into NATO. Other OTS members were part of the Russian Empire and then the Soviet Union, and thus have a distinctly Russian-influenced state structure. Azerbaijan differs even further, since it is not a Central Asian but a Caucasian country with strong cultural

ties to the Persian-speaking world. The Central Asian members and Azerbaijan gained their independence from the Soviet Union recently in 1991, and thus they legitimately guard their sovereignty even against the lure of regional cooperation. Although these countries are protective of their national sovereignty, some are ensnared in the economic gravity of their major neighbors: Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are members of the Eurasian Economic Union (EAEU), and thus can be considered part of a Russia-dominated economic space, while Türkiye is in a customs union with the EU. Such a diverse situation in trade makes the establishment of a free trade area cumbersome, and creates hurdles even for any seriously aligned trade policy. A heavily coordinated trade policy, let alone a customs regime, would inevitably increase tensions within the already established economic cooperation agreements by which these countries are bound.

Nonetheless, the OTS is still a major driving force for enhancing international trade, logistics and infrastructure investments in its member countries. The hindrances mentioned above do not render the OTS a superfluous organization. On the contrary, they highlight the importance of this cooperation as a way to enhance trade and logistics. These countries have great potential. For example, the ancient Silk Road ran through their territory and, since 1993, the Transport Corridor Europe-Caucasus-Asia (TRACECA) program has operated there with several railway and ferry routes. The Chinese-led Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is centered on the idea of reviving a transcontinental trade route that could rival existing patterns of maritime trade and transport goods from China and East Asia to Europe through Central Asia, bypassing Russia. The present Russian-Ukrainian conflict makes the relevance of the Central Asia-Caucasus-Anatolia route all the more important, and these geographical regions are precisely where the OTS nations are situated.

A third problem facing Turkic cooperation is the role of external powers. After the collapse of the Soviet Union, a power vacuum emerged in Central Asia, since the outgoing great power lacked both the capacity and the will to act as an economic and political hub. Türkiye was the first country to try to fill this void, but its initial success was rather limited. In the 2000s, however, a more pragmatic Turkish political outreach yielded better results.<sup>8</sup>

The old/new external actors are indeed Russia and China, and specifically for integration, their respective projects, the EAEU and the BRI deserve attention. Central Asian states tend to see the EAEU as the more restrictive organization, with its rigid structure and its proposals to transform the entity to a real supranational organization with a (possibly) common currency, while the BRI is more flexible, and participation does not require any loss or pooling of

sovereignty. So far, China's presence has been mostly confined to the economic domain, while Russia tends to play an important political as well as economic role in the region (see for example Russia's intervention in Kazakhstan in January 2022). While great power logic would dictate increasing competition between Beijing and Moscow, the larger political context (deteriorating relations between Europe and Russia due to the war in Ukraine) and economic necessities rather push for cooperation between the EAEU and the BRI. Such cooperation could be advantageous for the Central Asian countries, as they try to minimize unwanted influence while maximizing economic benefits. In this respect, under the present circumstances, great power proximity and their competition do not hinder, but rather support the economic development of Central Asia. The rest of the OTS members are further removed from this competition and their pragmatic relationship with both major external actors could contribute to the economic and infrastructural development of the whole organization.

# Hungary's Attitude toward International Cooperation

Hungary is a middle-sized country in European terms and one of the most open economies in Europe, which makes the issue of economic cooperation key to the country's foreign policy. The country lost roughly two-thirds of its territory and one-third of its Hungarian-language population with the Treaty of Trianon, which concluded the First World War in this part of Europe. After a brief interval of independence, the country was dragged into the next world

war, and was occupied first by Germany and then by the Soviet Union. Though never a part of the Soviet Union, Hungary became embedded in the so-called Socialist Eastern Bloc, which defined the country's position in the international system for many years to come. In this sense, the country's position is quite unique: Hungary was part of the mil-

Hungary is a middle-sized country in European terms and one of the most open economies in Europe, which makes the issue of economic cooperation key to the country's foreign policy.

itary (Warsaw Pact) and economic integration (COMECON) of the Eastern bloc, but its economic ties were increasingly strong with Western Europe. Given its limited room for maneuver, Hungary's position was to maintain loyalty to Eastern integrational models and develop a social and political fabric that was as far as possible from the Russian-designed Soviet type. Hungary's participation in COMECON, specifically, where it supported market-orient-

ed reforms and close cooperation in trade with Western Europe, is a case in point.<sup>10</sup>

After the collapse of Communism and the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the Central European countries felt that they were now free to develop ties with Western countries. There was considerable optimism at the prospect of European integration, which went hand in hand with increased security and prosperity. 11 In the 1990s, basically every Central European country, and Hungary in particular, downgraded their foreign policy interests in a global sense, and concentrated almost exclusively on the development of European relations with the aim of joining the EU. This exclusive interest in Western integration was viewed by some with caution, but it was said that no country was wholly independent in a globalized world, thus a pooling of sovereignty was critical for the functioning of a modern state in Europe. 12 Hungary's admission to the EU was ultimately successful in 2004, but by this time, over-dependence on Western Europe was already identified as a problem. Since 2003, an opening to China has been started with rather moderate results, but a global Hungarian foreign policy was not in sight. Although European integration brought great results, it did not bring about a radical shift from the periphery to the core in terms of economic progress. Disillusionment was quite widespread across the whole Central European region, and was further exacerbated by the global financial crisis of 2008–2009.<sup>13</sup>

Hungary's new foreign policy from 2010 on emphasized the importance of two global trends: a weakening of the neoliberal consensus, especially in its Western-inspired form throughout the globe, and the strengthening of Asia in international relations. The 2010s highlighted many of the EU's shortcomings while stressing the importance of a global opening. <sup>14</sup> According to the official policies of the newly elected government of Viktor Orbán, a diversification of external relations, with a special emphasis on foreign trade, was essential in achieving economic growth. The direction of such diversification was to-

Hungary's new foreign policy from 2010 on emphasized the importance of two global trends: a weakening of the neoliberal consensus, especially in its Western-inspired form throughout the globe, and the strengthening of Asia in international relations.

ward the fast-growing countries in the East; the policy thus became known as the "Eastern Opening." This opening was not only supported by the general disillusionment with the EU as a panacea to all economic problems; it supported an old reflex in Hungarian political discourse, socalled Turanism, which emphasized the Eastern origins of the Hungarians. Besides all that, the compelling rise of China and its ambitious foreign policy ideas related to the BRI gave additional backing to the concept of the Eastern Opening. This Eurasia narrative even reverberated with old Hungarian concepts of getting past its peripheral position in Europe by becoming a bridge between East and West.<sup>15</sup>

An Eastern Opening is of course not an abandonment, or even drop in interest vis-à-vis the EU: in fact, without strong embeddedness in the European structure, Hungary could not serve as a bridge between East and West. The country's commitment to the values of Europe and the integrational structures of the EU are indeed strong; its renewed interest in the East is rather dictated by economic pragmatism. Hungarian foreign policy has been complemented by a very strong foreign economic dimension that permeated the whole structure of the country's foreign relations—the Ministry for Foreign Affairs was even renamed the Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Trade in 2014. The establishment of the Hungarian Investment Promotion Agency (HIPA), the network of commercial attachés and the dual effort to draw investments and enhance exports were all visible expressions of this new strategy. 16

In this new policy, all sorts of new foreign policy directions that have a potential for economic benefits are welcome. In the case of the OTS, both the rich resources of the participating countries and their economic freedom provide fertile ground for cooperation. What is lacking is their logistical capacity for trade: The Logistical Performance Index (LPI), which measures countries' logistical trade capacity on a scale of 1–167 (1 being the best), ranks Kazakhstan at 71, Uzbekistan at 99, Azerbaijan at 125 and Hungary at 31.17 However, the relatively underdeveloped logistical infrastructure of the Turkic states is deemed a good field of future cooperation in the region. Added to this fact are the very ambitious plans on the part of the Turkic nations to improve precisely those areas with foreign direct investment (FDI). These countries are also very much keen on diversifying their economies and their foreign relations. One highly promising field of cooperation is agriculture, if only considering the fact that the area of Kazakhstan's wheat-producing lands are 150% larger than Hungary's entire territory. However, as Kazakhstan's yields are lower than the Hungarian average, this indicates the need for agrotechnical know-how that Hungary could export in the long term. <sup>18</sup> Thus, the OTS members, especially the Central Asian nations of the organization, represent fruitful directions for Hungary's Eastern Opening policy. Not to mention the fact that Hungary has much deeper and essential foreign economic ties with Türkiye and Azerbaijan.

Hungary's policy of Eastern Opening is not confined exclusively to the area of economy. As the world grows increasingly multipolar and power competition returns as a defining trait of the international system, Central Asia is yet again a major field of international politics,<sup>19</sup> and some OTS countries, most

notably Türkiye and Azerbaijan, have proven to be rising middle powers in their respective regions.<sup>20</sup> As foreign economic relations are always supported by trustworthy and active foreign political relations, it is interesting to see the diplomatic representation of Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries in the OTS nations.

Table 1: Diplomatic Representation of CEE countries in OTS member states

	HU	PL	CZ	SK	BG	RO	CR	A	SRB
Azerbaijan	E	E	Е	Е	E	Е	E	Е	E
Kazakhstan	E, CG	E, CG	Е	Е	Е	Е	E	Е	Е
Kyrgyzstan	E								
Uzbekistan	E	E	Е	Е	E	E	E	Е	E

Source: László Vasa, "A Türk Tanács közép-ázsiai és kaukázusi országai a magyar külgazdaság perspektívájából (The Countries of the Turkish Council in Central Asia and the Caucasus from the Perspective of the Hungarian Foreign Economy)," KKI-elemzések, No. 8 (2021), p. 9.

Note: HU – Hungary, PL – Poland, CZ – Czech Republic, SK – Slovakia, BG – Bulgaria, RO – Romania, A – Austria, SRB – Serbia, E – Embassy, CG – Consulate General

As Table 1 indicates, Hungary is the only Central European country to have a full-fledged diplomatic representation in OTS countries. This could amount to a serious potential, but it is not yet fully implemented. Foreign economic data show that traditional trading partners and great economic powers (China, Russia, Korea, Germany, etc.) come first in most OTS member states as the largest trade partners, and even some Central European countries come before Hungary.

Table 2: Largest import partners of OTS member states by ranking

	Poland	Czech Republic	Hungary	Slovakia
Azerbaijan	20	24	29	41
Kazakhstan	17	20	31	44
Kyrgyzstan	16	30	25	49
Uzbekistan	21	22	32	50

Source: László Vasa, "A Türk Tanács közép-ázsiai és kaukázusi országai a magyar külgazdaság perspektívájából (The Countries of the Turkish Council in Central Asia and the Caucasus from the Perspective of the Hungarian Foreign Economy)," KKI-elemzések, No. 8 (2021), p. 9.

These data practically mean that political relations might enhance economic ties, but further work needs to be done to fully implement the potential evident in the positive cultural attitudes and positive political attitude be-

tween OTS members, including Hungary. Hungary's interest in enhancing ties with the OTS members is thus clearly in line with its general policy of Eastern Opening as well as its cultural ties with Turkic-speaking countries. This renewed interest also has its roots in the recognition of a global shift in economic preferences, with countries striving to diversify and the political environment becoming increasingly multipolar. Given the potential fields of cooperation and immense richness of the OTS countries, combined with Hungary as a bridgehead to the EU, this cooperation has great potential that is not yet fully exploited, and traditional trade ties are still very strong.

# Hungary's Role as an Observer State in the OTS

In international organizations, full membership procures full rights and obligations within the organization. In most cases, it involves the right to vote and, by extension, the right to block decisions. In situations in which certain obstacles prevent a country from fully joining an international organization, observer status can often be offered and accepted. Such a status can derive from international disputes, i.e., not every member recognizes the prospective member country to the same degree; or it can derive from the fact that the specific country cannot or does not wish to fully join the organization. In this respect, observer status as such differs radically from international organization to international organization and from observer state to observer state.<sup>21</sup> An observer can never vote, but is usually present at every session of a given international organization. Its role is thus largely informal, but nonetheless has great significance.<sup>22</sup> Observer status can be an antechamber to full membership in some cases; in others, it is a special status with limited rights and obligations and a very distinctive role in the life of the organization.<sup>23</sup>

Hungary's place as an observer state in the OTS is appropriate, since the

country is further away geographically than the rest of the states. Moreover, its membership in a set of other international organizations would render it difficult to effectively work together with other states in very different circumstances and a different geographical and international environment. The other observer state of

Hungary's place as an observer state in the OTS is appropriate, since the country is further away geographically than the rest of the states.

the OTS, Turkmenistan, is situated in an ideal trajectory toward full membership, since it is situated in one of the regions the OTS covers, and shares

a common history and largely similar political and economic structures with the rest of the Central Asian OTS member states.

From the point of view of international cooperation, an observer status can have multiple benefits at different levels. Those levels are identifiable as the organization level and the state-to-state level. At this latter level, Hungary's participation at the meetings and projects of the OTS is beneficial, as semi-institutional ties can be developed at these fora. Indeed, some of the higher education cooperation and think-tank level meetings were inspired by and originated at OTS meetings, not between individual member-states, and the whole community benefits from those types of relations. Yet another field of enhancing member-to-member relationship could be foreign economic policy, since some of the sectors of the economy have a high degree of state incentives in many OTS member states; thus, political decision made at the OTS level have a deep influence on the future directions of the economy. A great example of this could be the Uzbek-Hungarian Potato Research Institute in Tashkent.<sup>24</sup> This initiative resulted from a state visit of Hungarian Prime Minister Orbán to Uzbekistan within the framework of the cooperation of Turkic states. Overall, as a direct meeting point between countries that otherwise have no strong cooperative structures through which to interact on a day-to-day basis, such an institutional framework is very useful to identify and initiate projects to enhance foreign economic relations.

As noted in the previous section, there are many steps to be taken on the grounds of good political relations, but without them, these developments

At the organization level, observer states increase the status of an organization, as they effectively convey the message that this specific organization has the potential to reach out beyond its actual membership with an already identified common set of interests.

are not viable at all; a special and permanent body that facilitates dialogue among full OTS members and Hungary is the Representation Office in Budapest opened in 2021. This office connects the cultural and economic activities of the full OTS members and Hungary, and is a hub for further cooperation.

At the organization level, observer states increase the status of an organization, as they effectively convey the message that this specific organi-

zation has the potential to reach out beyond its actual membership with an already identified common set of interests. This is clearly observable in the history of many established international organizations; as they grew, more states

became interested in their developments and activities. Even if they were not in the same geographical region, nor at the same level of development, were not eligible for or could not see the exact benefits of full memberships, such states could opt to become observer states.

Another very important field where the benefits of the observer status can be seen is agenda-shaping. It is not by chance that the term 'agenda-setting' is used more commonly, as it remains the purview of the more influential full members, but even an observer state, through its right to speak at the organization's fora, has a great role in shaping its agenda. A demonstrating example could be the Institute for Foreign Affairs and Trade in Hungary (IFAT), which is part of the think-tank cooperation of the OTS member states. IFAT takes part in international conferences through this framework, and regularly contributes to academic and policy discussions. It was through an IFAT initiative that a major conference was held in Budapest in November 2021 regarding economic cooperation.<sup>25</sup>

Moreover, it is highly valuable to have a long-range view of an organization's cooperation; the perspective of an observer state is at the same time within the context of the organization and also presents the view of the "outside world". Hungarian participants in OTS for thus try to shed light on topics that could enhance the coordinated action of the OTS members in the international system. A positive example is the support given by OTS members to Azerbaijan in the 44-day war, which made Turkic cooperation visible on the world stage and enhanced the prestige of the OTS as a working platform.

Still at the institutional level, international connections are essential in this period of development for the OTS. Practically, this means that the more institutional cooperative frameworks the OTS has with other organizations, the more embedded it becomes in the international arena. In this context, a member state, and even an observer state, brings to the table the added value of those other organizations in which it takes part as a member. For Hungary, the most important points of contact are obviously NATO and the EU. Official connections with these organizations through Hungary as an observer state could be very important to the OTS, through informal networking and in the future potentially through inter-institutional working groups. The EU, due to its sheer economic importance, is a very important place of cooperation, as is NATO.

Hungary's other participations, for instance in the Lusophonia, could serve as an inventory of know-how, as the association of those countries in the Portuguese cultural sphere could provide useful best practices for the OTS as an organization also founded on shared cultural values. Access to the successful

workings of already established international organizations could help develop the cooperation of Turkic nations at higher speed, as the OTS could then bypass some of the early problems those institutions have already overcome. In this sense, the international embeddedness of the OTS is a point where an observer state could play a very significant role.

#### Conclusion

In light of the factors underlined in the previous sections of this study, there are some practical recommendations to consider for the future regarding the development of the OTS framework and for deepening relations between Hungary and the Turkic world.

Enhancing cooperation in twinning and other technical issues. As the regions of the OTS member states are at the doorstep of major changes in their urban life, there could be a broad avenue of cooperation between cities from Hungary and Central Asia and the Caucasus. Given the increasing need for enhancing public transport, initiating smart city solutions and planning more sustainable cities with higher living conditions, sharing the experiences of city planning, urbanization and the implementation of new technologies could provide fertile ground for cooperation. Twin city programs and other kinds of technical cooperation would require limited investment, and could potentially yield great results. In November 2021, the core topic at the OTS summit was indeed green technologies and smart cities, so important work has already begun in this direction.

Enhancing higher education cooperation. Due to different models in education and science transfer, Turkic countries have a limited number of programs and only a narrow scope of cooperation in this field. Hungary brings added value to its participation in the OTS through its access to those mechanisms in the EU and Europe more broadly, which it could channel fruitfully into OTS cooperation. Hungary has always been a leading partner in higher education cooperation, for instance with the *Stipendium Hungaricum* program, which not only provides training for talented students, but also serves as a gateway to European institutions of higher learning. In a broader sense, all sorts of academic and educational cooperation programs are useful in furthering people-to-people contact. This would benefit both Hungary and the full OTS members, because although there is a deep cultural affinity and affection between Hungary and the OTS member states, in the broader society, there is very little close contact between peoples.

Supporting connections between OTS and EU members. Deriving from the theoretical approach provided above, one key element of cooperation with members of other organizations is that they can facilitate contacts with states of other organizational backgrounds. Hungary, as member of the EU, could play a key role in bringing the outlook of the Turkic nations and the European states closer together. A breakthrough in this sense was Prime Minister Orbán's proposal to hold a summit between OTS members and the Visegrád Group (V4) members at some point during the Hungarian presidency of the V4.<sup>26</sup> Although the limelight of the 2022 V4 Summit was taken away by the war in Ukraine and the idea is yet to be accomplished, it is well worth pursuing and bringing to fruition. Such an event could be the first European-Turkic meeting, which would definitely enhance the legitimacy of the OTS in the non-Turkic world and facilitate better understanding among those participating. Pursuant to such a first step, a series of further consultations could be called to action.

Supporting action in the EU in areas of common interest. In spite of their geographical distance, there are many issues of common interest among Hungary and different groupings of the OTS members. Since Hungary is a member of the EU and takes part in its decision-making processes, it could use its leverage to shape the EU agenda in a direction beneficial to a better understanding of the Turkic nations. In fact, there are a set of issues that could be addressed to the benefit of the OTS, the EU and Hungary, most prominently in the fields of security, migration and energy. In terms of security, an outstanding issue is the collapse of Afghanistan and its consequences. Consultations between states that actually neighbor Afghanistan and key donor countries would be beneficial for a better understanding of the problems the country faces and how to address them.

Similarly, Türkiye's unique location gives it a perspective on regional security that would greatly benefit the EU. In one recent example, Hungary supported Türkiye when Ankara shared its concerns over the proposed NATO membership of Sweden and Finland regarding the lenient policies of those countries toward certain terrorist organizations that Ankara deems a security threat.<sup>27</sup> Yet another field is migration, especially irregular mass migration. Even though this problem has been temporarily alleviated by the COVID-19 pandemic, it still looms large, especially given the collapse of Afghanistan and the ongoing instability in the Middle East. Türkiye, an OTS member, is already the main country bearing the burden of illegal migration, and the 2015 deal between the EU and Türkiye should be updated. This point is often supported by Hungary in the EU.

Hungary could also serve as a bridge between the EU and the Turkic nations in the field of energy. Due to the Russian war in Ukraine, the EU initiated a series of sanctions vis-à-vis Russia that started with the financial sector; the question of oil imports has been broached, and sanctions may eventually extend to natural gas as well. European economies and industries would have a very hard time without Russian hydrocarbons, so Hungary is not inclined to support a full-scale embargo on Russian gas and oil, but it does have a

Hungary could also serve as a bridge between the EU and the Turkic nations in the field of energy. long-stated policy to help diversify Europe's hydrocarbon supply. In this sense, new opportunities will open in the long run in the field of energy transport and trade, in which Central Asia and the Caucasus could play a central role. Although serious in-

vestments need to be made in this field, the OTS could be a safe and sustainable partner in helping to secure European demand, especially in the wake of a devastating war and very uncertain Russian-European relations in the coming year(s). There are other contenders trying to fill some of the gaps left by the Russians, so imports from OTS members will need additional advocacy from within the EU, which can be facilitated by Hungary.

#### **Endnotes**

- Sources available on the OTS are limited and the organization as a topic has not yet fully reached the Western-centered international scholarly community. The most important authority on the matter is a book by Humbatov and Sari, which gives a comprehensive account of what the title promises. See Mahir Humbatov & Kazım Sarı, Turkic Council Countries: Infrastructure, Trade, Logistics and Transportation, SAM: Baku, 2017.
- A wider scope of secondary literature has been written on Central Asia as a region and its distinctive models of economic cooperation. For the purpose of the present study, the work of Krapohl and Vasileva-Dienes was consulted. See Sebastian Krapohl & Alexandra Vasileva-Dienes, "The Region that Isn't: China, Russia and the Failure of Regional Integration in Central Asia," *Asia Europe Journal*, Vol. 18, No. 3 (2019), pp. 347–366.
- 3 According to different academic traditions, in terms of national policy and study areas, "integration" has different meanings. As the current use of integration is very limited in the academic traditions of the Turkic world (unlike those in Hungary, for instance), this study uses the wording "enhanced cooperation" established by the OTS document "Turkic World Vision–2040". For details of the document, see "Turkic World Vision-2040," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/turkic-world-vision-2040-2396-97.pdf.
- 4 Joshua Kucera, "Armenia and Azerbaijan Suspend 'Corridor' Talks," Eurasianet, June 4, 2021, https://eurasianet.org/armenia-and-azerbaijan-suspend-corridor-talks. Also see Humbatov & Sarı, Turkic Council Countries, pp. 27–31.
- 5 Farkhod Tolipov, "Central Asia: The Disintegration Theory," in Marlene Laruelle & Aitolkyn Kourmanova (eds.), Central Asia at 25: Looking Back, Moving Forward, Washington DC: George Washington University, 2017, pp. 23–25.
- 6 Anabel González, "Can Customs Union Members Negotiate Bilateral Free Trade Agreements? Yes, with Caution," *Peterson Institute for International Economics*, April 15, 2021, https://www.piie.com/blogs/trade-and-investment-policy-watch/can-customs-union-members-negotiate-bilateral-free-trade.
- 7 Humbatov & Sarı, Turkic Council Countries, pp. 47-48.
- 8 Kinga Szálkai, "Törökország és Közép-Ázsia kapcsolatainak alakulása a Szovjetunió felbomlását követően (Türkiye and Central Asia: Development of Relations after the Break-up of the Soviet Union)," in Közel s Távol III, Budapest: Eötvös Collegium, 2013, pp. 189–202.
- 9 László Vasa, "Közép-Ázsia: Eurázsiai Gazdasági Unió vagy Övezet és Út? (Central Asia: A Eurasian Economic Union or a Belt and Road Initiative?)," *Polgári Szemle*, Vol. 16, No. 1–3 (2020), pp. 345–347
- 10 Pál Germuska, "Reform egy országban? (Reform in a Country?)," Múltunk, Vol. 62, No. 2 (2017), pp. 289–296
- 11 György Granasztói, "Felvetések az elmúlt másfél évtized külpolitikai gondolkodásával kapcsolatban (Suggestions about the Hungarian Foreign Policy Thinking of the last Decade and a Half)," in Pál Pritz et al. (eds.), Magyar Külpolitikai Gondolkodás a 20. Században (Hungarian Foreign Policy Thinking in the 20th Century), Budapest: Hungarian Historical Society, 2006, https://mek.oszk.hu/05200/05284/05284.htm#11.
- 12 J. László Kiss, "Nemzetállam nélküli integrációtól az integrált nemzetállamig (From Integration without a Nation-State to an Integrated Nation-State)," in J. László Kiss (ed.), A Huszonötök Európái (A Europe of the Twenty Five), Budapest: Osiris, 2005, pp. 102–182.
- 13 Stefano Bottoni, Long-awaited West: Eastern Europe since 1944, Indiana: Indiana University Press, 2017.
- 14 Márton Ugrósdy, "Magyarország az első (Hungary is the First)," in Ákos Mernyei & Balázs Orbán (eds.), Magyarország 2020 (Hungary 2020), Budapest: MCC Press, 2021, pp. 943–963.
- 15 Géza Salamin, "Az Eurázsia-narratíva kibontakozásának vizsgálata a magyar kormányzati nyilatkozatok és fejlesztéspolitikai dokumentumok tükrében (Examining the Evolution of the Eurasian Narrative

- in Hungary in the Light of Government Statements and Development Policy Documents)," Külügyi Szemle, Vol. 20, No. 3 (2021), pp. 171–198.
- 16 Ugrósdy, "Magyarország az első."
- 17 "International Logistical Performance Index. Global Rankings 2018," The World Bank, https://lpi. worldbank.org/international/global/2018.
- 18 Vasa, "Közép-Ázsia."
- 19 Anton Bendarzsevszkij & Eszterhai Viktor, "Az 'új nagy játszma' Közép-Ázsiában (The 'New Great Game' in Central Asia)," Geopolitika.hu, January 22, 2019, http://www.geopolitika.hu/hu/2019/01/22/az-uj-nagy-jatszma-kozep-azsiaban.
- 20 Taras Kuzio, "Turkey Forges a New Geostrategic Axis from Azerbaijan to Ukraine," RUSI, November 18, 2020, https://rusi.org/explore-our-research/publications/commentary/turkey-forges-new-geo-strategic-axis-azerbaijan-ukraine.
- 21 Jan Klabbers, Introduction to International Organization Law, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2018, p. 296.
- 22 András Blahó & Árpád Prandler, Nemzetközi szervezetek és intézmények (International Organizations and Institutions), Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó, 2011, pp. 72–73.
- 23 Klabbers, Introduction to International Organization Law, p. 98.
- 24 István Bereznay, "Felavatták az üzbég-magyar burgonyakutató központot" (The Uzbek-Hungarian Potato Research Center was Inaugurated), Index.hu, March 30, 2021, https://index.hu/gaz-dasag/2021/03/30/felavattak-az-uzbeg-magyar-burgonyakutato-kozpontot/.
- 25 "Turkic States in the 30th Year of Independence and Cooperation," Institute for Foreign Affairs and Trade, October 15, 2021, https://index.hu/gazdasag/2021/03/30/felavattak-az-uzbeg-magyar-burgo-nyakutato-kozpontot/.
- 26 "Hungary to Initiate Joint Summit between Turkic Council and V4," Prime Minister of Hungary, November 12, 2021, https://miniszterelnok.hu/hungary-to-initiate-joint-summit-of-turkic-council-and-v4/.
- 27 "Szijjártó Péter elmondta, hogyan tudná támogatni a finnek és a svédek NATO-tagságát (Péter Szijjártó Talked about How Hungary Could Support the Accession of Finns and Swedes to NATO)," RTL. hu, May 15, 2022, https://rtl.hu/kulfold/2022/05/15/szijjarto-peter-nato-torokorszag-svedorszag-finnorszag-csatlakozas.

# Turkmenistan's Neutral Foreign Policy: Peace, Security and Sustainable Development

Amangeldi RAHMANOV\*

#### **Abstract**

The resolution on the "Permanent Neutrality of Turkmenistan" adopted by the UN General Assembly on December 12, 1995 brought about Turkmenistan's official recognition as a neutral state by the world community, and gave the country's foreign policy and diplomatic work additional impetus. Turkmenistan's policy of permanent neutrality has a peacekeeping dimension; it places great importance on preventive diplomacy, i.e., diplomatic actions aimed at preventing disagreements between parties from arising and preventing existing differences from escalating into conflict, and limiting the spread of an already existing conflict. The experience of the development of neutral Turkmenistan during its years of independence has convincingly shown that the Turkmen model of neutrality supports Turkmenistan's long-term national interests, and has become an effective tool for mutual understanding and cooperation among peoples. The Resolution adopted by the UN General Assembly in February 2017, proclaiming December 12 as the "International Day of Neutrality" was another significant contribution of Turkmenistan's neutral foreign policy and diplomacy to the global strengthening of peace, security and sustainable development. Lastly, the accession of Turkmenistan to the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) as an observer at the 8th Summit of Organization of Turkic States in November 2021 is another important step for the foreign policy framework of this Turkic-speaking country, which aims to contribute to sustainable development in its region.

Received on: 10.01.2022 Accepted on: 16.04.2022

Professor, Head of the Department of International Relations and Diplomacy, Institute of International Relations of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan. E-mail:iirmfa.eduvicerector@gmail.com. ORCID: 0000-0003-0847-8052.

## Keywords

Turkmenistan, positive neutrality, preventive diplomacy, Organization of Turkic States, UN Regional Center for Preventive Diplomacy for Central Asia.

#### Introduction

The great Turkmen poet and thinker Magtymguly Pyragy dreamed of building a secular, legal and democratic state for the Turkmens. When Turkmenistan gained its independence in 1991 as a result of the collapse of the totalitarian Soviet state, the Turkmen people chose the path of neutrality, with its roots in the centuries-old traditions and way of life of the Turkmen people, as the basis of their country's domestic and foreign policies. Turkmenistan's policy of neutrality is characterized by such principles as good neighborliness, desire for mutual understanding, natural peacefulness, non-interference in the internal affairs of other states, non-participation in military alliances and blocs, and the resolution of international issues through political and diplomatic means.

The end of the 1980s and the beginning of the 1990s went down in history as a period of great events that profoundly changed the political face of the world. The "Cold War" between the West and the East, primarily between the USSR and the USA, which lasted for decades, came to an end. The East European peoples abandoned socialism, and each chose its own path of development, embarking on the path of democracy. With the collapse of the USSR, a number of states in Europe and Asia, including Turkmenistan, gained their independence in the autumn of 1991 and seized the opportunity to create their own national state.

After Turkmenistan gained its independence, the Turkmen people chose a policy of permanent, "positive neutrality" as the basis of their country's domestic and foreign policies. This policy became the basis of Turkmenistan's national development, and the experience of its progress over the years of in-

After Turkmenistan gained its independence, the Turkmen people chose a policy of permanent, "positive neutrality" as the basis of their country's domestic and foreign policies.

dependence has convincingly shown the full alignment of the Turkmen model of neutrality with Turkmenistan's long-term national interests. This policy stemmed from the centuries-old traditions and way of life of the Turkmen people, characterized by openness, hospitality and good neighborliness; humanity; the desire for mutual understanding; religious tolerance; natural peaceful-

ness; non-interference in the internal affairs of other states; respect for their independence, territorial integrity and culture, non-participation in military

unions and blocs; and the solution of international issues by political and diplomatic means.

This article will first examine the main objectives of Turkmenistan's "positive neutrality" foreign policy. It will then focus on the peculiarities of the Turkmen model of neutrality. After taking up Turkmenistan's relations with the UN and its contribution to preventive diplomacy, it will discuss the economic and cultural aspects of its foreign policy. Lastly, the article will touch upon Turkmenistan's accession to the Organization of Turkic States (OTS) as an observer country in 2021, and the effects of its participation in the OTS for sustainable development at the regional level.

# Main Objectives of Turkmenistan's "Positive Neutrality"

The main objectives of Turkmenistan's foreign policy of "positive neutrality" were determined after it gained independence. These are the preservation and strengthening of Turkmenistan's state sovereignty; the growth of its role and importance in the system of international relations; the maintenance of the most favorable foreign policy conditions for the internal development of the state; the proper identification, protection and provision of Turkmenistan's national interests; ensuring the country's security by political and diplomatic means; and the development of constructive, mutually beneficial cooperation with all foreign partners on the basis of equality and mutual respect.<sup>2</sup> These principles fully correspond to the universally recognized norms of international law and the UN Charter.

Having proclaimed its principles of neutrality and open doors in international relations, the Turkmen state began to put them into practice. Receiving recognition of its neutral status from the entire international community was the second step Turkmenistan took in this area. To achieve this goal at the state level, a large number of foreign policy and diplomatic activities were carried out over a considerable time. For example, on July 10, 1992, the capital of Finland, Helsinki, hosted a meeting of the Heads of State and Government of the countries participating in the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE). During the meeting, Turkmenistan officially announced its neutral policy for the first time. The CSCE member states supported Turkmenistan's policy of neutrality based on the fact that the Turkmen people have the right to choose and have indeed already chosen the policy of neutrality.

On March 15, 1995, Turkmenistan participated in the third meeting of the Heads of State and Government of the countries of the Economic Cooperation Organization (ECO) held in Islamabad, the capital of Pakistan. At the summit, Turkmenistan informed the participants of the meeting about its assumption of all obligations arising from the legal status of a permanent neutral state at the constitutional level. In the Islamabad Declaration, adopted at

the meeting, the ECO member states again supported Turkmenistan's neutral policy.

On October 20, 1995, Turkmenistan participated in the 11<sup>th</sup> conference of the Heads of State and Government of the countries participating in the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM), held in Cartagena, Colombia, and became the 114<sup>th</sup> member of this political association. Since its establishment in 1961, NAM has advocated the creation of a more just world order; it eschews the use of force or the threat of force in international affairs. Turkmenistan fully supports the noble goals and humane principles of NAM. The participating states of the conference supported Turkmenistan's neutral policy.<sup>3</sup>

Active diplomatic work aimed at obtaining recognition from the international community regarding the legal neutral status of Turkmenistan was also carried out at the level of diplomatic missions abroad, including the Embassy of Turkmenistan in the People's Republic of China (PRC), led by myself as Turkmenistan's first Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary to the PRC. During my official meetings with the leaders of China and the Heads of Diplomatic Missions in Beijing, I familiarized them in detail with the essence of the Turkmen model of neutrality. These efforts were supported through publications distributed by the embassy, together with the publishing houses of the host country of books about Turkmenistan's policy, my speeches at institutions, on the radio, on television and in the pages of newspapers and magazines in the host country. All this undoubtedly was of great importance in promoting our neutral policy, and gaining the recognition and support of the Chinese public and representatives of the world community. Over time, the support of many states of the world community, including the top leadership of China, for the policy of permanent neutrality of Turkmenistan, allowed our state to bring the issue to the level of the UN.

On December 12, 1995, upon Turkmenistan's initiative, the UN General Assembly adopted the resolution on the "Permanent Neutrality of Turkmenistan". The General Assembly first recognized and supported the status of permanent neutrality proclaimed by Turkmenistan; second, it called on the

On December 12, 1995, upon Turkmenistan's initiative, the UN General Assembly adopted the resolution on the "Permanent Neutrality of Turkmenistan"

member states of the UN to respect and support this status, and to respect Turkmenistan's independence, sovereignty and territorial integrity. The adoption of this historic resolution by the UN General Assembly meant the recognition of Turkmenistan as a neutral state by the world community. It also set new tasks for

the diplomatic service of our country related to filling this policy with new content, strengthening the neutral status of the country as a whole and developing steps toward its implementation. Because of my official role, I was witness to numerous outpourings of support in response to the decision in official, business and humanitarian circles in China. The Chinese public expressed its full support for the UN General Assembly resolution, in the belief that the resolution would help improve the political situation not only in Asia, but in the world as a whole. Sun Yiming, Chairman of the Academic Council of the Institute of International Relations of the PRC, stated,

"The neutral status of Turkmenistan, officially recognized by the UN, will contribute to strengthening peace, security and stability in Asia. Positive neutrality in politics and openness in the economy as the main principles of Turkmenistan's foreign policy are in tune with the positions of the PRC; they are approved by official Beijing, which advocates that in the international space all states have equal rights regarding their own views and choice of development paths." 5

"The countries of the Asian continent, including China, which have embarked on the path of modernization, need a peaceful and stable life," said Chen Gentao, Editor-in-chief of *China Features Bulletin*. "Thus, the first peacekeeping efforts of Ashgabat serve as confirmation of the full justification of its desire to assume the role of a regional peacekeeping center." The UN recognition of Turkmenistan's neutrality was all the more timely as, on the eve of the 21st century, the task of restoring the Silk Road as a bridge between the basins of the Pacific and Atlantic Oceans had arisen. Therefore, as the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Chinese Association of Entrepreneurs Zhang Pein emphasized, "The neutral status of Turkmenistan, recognized by the UN, corresponds not only to the political, but also to the economic interests of China and therefore deserves its support." Chinese writer Gao Mana stated,

"The Parthian kingdom, stretching from the Amu Darya to the Tigris and Euphrates, was not only the historical crossroads of Europe and Asia, it also imbued the best traditions of the ancient civilization of the East and the West. The Particularly revered historical values of Parthia are an inspiring example of the restoration of the Silk Road—the guarantor of the future prosperity of our peoples. The neutral status of Turkmenistan, being an important step along this path and a factor of regional stability, will also make it possible to intensify our cultural interaction."

### Peculiarities of the Turkmen Model of Neutrality

The Turkmen model of neutrality has some peculiarities that should be noted here. According to international law, Turkmenistan's neutrality is *recognized* by origin, as confirmed by the resolution of the UN General Assembly on the "Permanent Neutrality of Turkmenistan"; *permanent* in form, i.e., not limited in time and acting both in wartime and in peacetime; *positive* in content,

which implies the active policy of the state in matters of maintaining peace and stability, and developing relations of friendship and cooperation between states.<sup>9</sup>

The UN General Assembly resolution on Turkmenistan's policy of neutrality gave the country's diplomatic service an additional impetus to intensify the implementation of its foreign policy. As of 2022, Turkmenistan has established and maintained diplomatic relations with almost 150 states, became a member of about 50 international organizations and participated in more than 150 international conventions, treaties and multilateral documents. Turkmenistan's foreign policy is implemented based on the State Foreign Policy Concept or "Concept" for short, which is an analytical and prognostic document developed from a scientific point of view, designed for a certain period and taking into account the global situation. When forming the Concept, our state proceeds from the objective fact that Turkmenistan develops civilized relations with all states, and does not have hostile relations with any foreign state. The implementation of Turkmenistan's foreign policy tasks can in no way infringe on the interests of any other state.

Turkmenistan's policy of neutrality also has a peacekeeping dimension. Turkmenistan provides its territory for international dialogue on issues of peace, security, cooperation and development, and the capital of Turkmenistan, the city of Ashgabat, is now a peacekeeping center for solving regional and global problems, identifying and eliminating potential sources of tension, responding to internal and transnational challenges and threats to peace and security, and supporting the sustainable development of the region. Even in the 1990s, Ashgabat was already becoming more and more famous as a peacekeeping center. This is evidenced by the good offices rendered to the Tajik people in resolving the difficult socio-political situation in Tajikistan in 1995–1996, as well as the active participation of Turkmenistan in the late 1990s in UN efforts to peacefully resolve the civil confrontation in Afghanistan. In recent years, the peacekeeping work of our country has significantly intensified.

At present, Turkmenistan's diplomatic service is implementing the State Foreign Policy Concept for 2017–2023. In accordance with the Concept, Turkmenistan pays great attention to the development of cooperation with the states of the Asia-Pacific region, the countries of the Near and Middle East, Europe and America, and with many international and regional organizations—in particular, the UN, the EU and the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE).

# Turkmenistan's Relations with the UN and its Contribution to Preventive Diplomacy

On March 2, 1992, after gaining its independence, Turkmenistan became a member of the UN; Turkmenistan's permanent mission, established under this organization, became its first diplomatic mission established abroad. I was appointed as the first permanent representative of Turkmenistan to the UN in the rank of Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary. I was further instructed by the President of Turkmenistan to head the Turkmen delegation at the 46th session of the General Assembly, where Turkmenistan was admitted as a member of the UN. As a member state of the UN, Turkmenistan recognizes its priority in resolving any issues within its competence. The adoption by our country of the legal status of permanent neutrality does not affect the fulfilment of its obligations arising from the UN Charter or its contributions to achieving the goals of the UN. Today, cooperation between Turkmenistan and the UN is of a strategic nature. At the sessions of the UN General Assembly, our country constantly puts forward more and more large-scale foreign policy initiatives aimed at strengthening peace, security and sustainable development. In recent years, the UN General Assembly has adopted about ten res-

olutions authored by Turkmenistan, including those on the development of international trade and economic relations, ensuring environmental and energy security, creating international transport corridors, resolving the situation in Afghanistan, etc. These proposals and resolutions have found wide recognition in the world community and are making a significant contribution to the solution of the regional and global problems facing humanity.<sup>11</sup>

In the framework of its foreign policy, neutral Turkmenistan pays great attention to preventive diplomacy. We understand preventive diploma-

In recent years, the UN General Assembly has adopted about ten resolutions authored by Turkmenistan, including those on the development of international trade and economic relations, ensuring environmental and energy security, creating international transport corridors, resolving the situation in Afghanistan, etc.

cy as diplomatic actions aimed at preventing the emergence of disagreements between parties, preventing the escalation of existing disagreements into conflict and limiting the spread of already existing conflicts. On issues of preventive diplomacy, Turkmenistan began to establish cooperation with the UN in the first years of its participation in the UN's activities. In the early 1990s, one of the priorities of the sessions of the UN General Assembly was the strengthening of peace. Thus, in June 1992, at the request of the UN Security Council, UN Secretary-General Boutros-Boutros Ghali prepared for the  $47^{\rm th}$  session a report titled "An Agenda for Peace", in which the concept of preventive diplomacy and peacekeeping was formulated in an expanded form. This

report attracted great attention from all UN member states. The resolution, adopted at the  $47^{\rm th}$  session by consensus, contained a number of measures to strengthen the role of the UN in expanding and supporting preventive diplomacy.<sup>12</sup>

In order to intensify work in the field of preventive diplomacy under the UN Secretary-General, in early 1992, the Department of Political Affairs of the UN Secretariat was created, as were the positions of Ambassadors at Large. In March 1992, UN Under-Secretary-General for Political Affairs Raymond Sommerins was appointed Head of the Political Affairs Department of the UN Secretariat, and began to perform the duties of Ambassador at Large. The personal duties of this high-ranking UN diplomat included monitoring the political situation in the Asia-Pacific Region, including the states of Central Asia, and preparing appropriate recommendations to the Secretary-General on resolving emerging conflict situations.

Secretary-General Ghali prioritized strengthening regional peace and stability in the young independent states that had recently become members of the UN. He highly appreciated Turkmenistan's policy, noting it as an important stabilizing factor in the region. At the same time, he was seriously concerned about the situation in some parts of Central Asia. In this regard, the UN Secretary-General considered with particular interest the experience of those few states of the region, including Turkmenistan, which were islands of stability. At the suggestion of the Department of Political Affairs of the UN Secretariat, working contacts were established between the Department and the Permanent Mission of Turkmenistan to the UN, during which an exchange of views took place on the situation in the Central Asian region. During the first such meeting, as the Permanent Representative of Turkmenistan to the UN, I informed Under-Secretary Sommerins and the staff of the department of the stable socio-political situation in Turkmenistan, and outlined the country's policy in relation to neighboring Afghanistan. In my speech, I particularly stated that in its policy towards Afghanistan, Turkmenistan follows the policy of non-interference in the internal affairs of the neighboring country, stands for the preservation of its integrity, against the escalation of bloodshed on an interethnic basis, and proceeds from the fact that the resolution of the Afghan crisis is in the hands of the Afghan people themselves. Stressing that Turkmenistan would like to see the achievement of national accord in Afghanistan and the resolution of all problems on this basis, I also noted that Turkmenistan gives priority to the UN in achieving peace in Afghanistan, and that Turkmenistan will continue to provide the UN with all possible support in its work in Afghanistan.

In the second half of the first decade of the 21st century, relations and cooperation between Turkmenistan and the outside world intensified significantly, and an effectively functioning system of foreign policy and diplomacy was formed in the country. Turkmenistan has become capable of putting forward and im-

plementing a multifaceted, comprehensive foreign policy aimed at solving the regional and global problems facing humanity. At the same time, the opening of the UN Regional Center for Preventive Diplomacy for Central Asia (UNRCCA) with head-quarters in Ashgabat on December 10, 2007 was an important event, and its functioning has allowed Turkmenistan to significantly strengthen the preventive direction of its foreign policy and diplomacy.<sup>13</sup>

In the second half of the first decade of the 21st century, relations and cooperation between Turkmenistan and the outside world intensified significantly, and an effectively functioning system of foreign policy and diplomacy was formed in the country.

The UNRCCA mandate covers issues such as preventive diplomacy, situational analysis, coordination with regional organizations and ensuring an integrated UN approach in the region at large. Since its establishment, the UNRCCA has become a venue for negotiations that are relevant for establishing and developing close relations between the UN and the countries of Central Asia. Energy security; general disarmament; settlement of the situation in Afghanistan by peaceful means; the fight against international terrorism, illicit drug trafficking and other threats and challenges of our time; and seeking solutions to socio-economic and environmental problems have become the main areas of its activity. The significant results of the Center's activities and the unanimous adoption of the resolution "Role of the UN Regional Center for Preventive Diplomacy for Central Asia" at the 72<sup>nd</sup> session of the UN General Assembly on November 17, 2017, testify to the effectiveness of this political structure, which can help the countries of Central Asia resist emerging threats and challenges in the region, transfer disputes and contradictions into channels of negotiation and garner the comprehensive support of the world community for the practice of preventive diplomacy as an effective tool for peace-making.14

Over the years, Turkmenistan has maintained an effective partnership with the UNRCCA on such issues as exchanging experience, monitoring and evaluating regional development, developing and implementing preventive diplomacy, and maintaining peace and security. From the very beginning, Turkmenistan has assisted the UNRCCA in its activities aimed at developing regional cooperation and ensuring peace and security in the region. In terms of the cooperation between Turkmenistan and the UNRCCA, it should be noted that Turkmenistan's foreign policy initiatives and proposals are to a certain extent related to the powers of this Center; they highlight the tasks facing it and give impetus to the continued development of their effective cooperation. Adherence to the principle of neutrality is important in the work of the UNRCCA, as it is for Turkmenistan. The mutual combination of the principles of neutrality and preventive diplomacy in foreign policy work con-

tributes to strengthening trust between peoples and states, and is a guarantee of success in foreign policy in the interests of peace, security and stability in general. Yet, as practice shows, it is under the auspices of the UN that the levers of preventive diplomacy can work most effectively and bring about real results. Therefore, Turkmenistan attaches particular importance to its well-established, high-level cooperation with the UN, and makes efforts to strengthen and expand its fruitful cooperation with this world organization in various fields.

In February 2017, at the initiative of Turkmenistan, the UN General Assembly at its 71<sup>st</sup> session adopted a resolution declaring December 12 the "International Day of Neutrality". <sup>15</sup> This was an event of historical and global significance because it testifies to the important role of the institution of neutrality at the present stage of world development. The adoption of this important document also points to the high efficiency of the contribution of Turkmenistan's neutral foreign policy and diplomacy to the strengthening of peace, security and sustainable development, as well as the ever-increasing importance of the international experience of the Turkmen model of neutrality for improving the modern system of international relations.

The resolution establishing the International Day of Neutrality drew intensive attention at the regional and international level as well. Many organizations, starting with the UN, have acknowledged this important day and its profound meeting. For instance, the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), previously called the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States (Turkic Council), issued a statement appreciating Turkmenistan's important initiative and putting forward the will to increase cooperation with Turkmenistan on the terms the country prefers. <sup>16</sup>

To ensure the effectiveness of Turkmenistan's policy of neutrality, it is very important that all employees of its diplomatic corps concentrate their efforts on consistent protection, ensuring the national interests of our country, and developing and strengthening mutually beneficial cooperation with various states around the world. These priority tasks are of great importance for those who are directly involved in the training of diplomatic personnel. First of all, we are talking about the Institute of International Relations of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan. The truth is simple: today, without new knowledge and approaches, it is impossible to teach a future diplomat how to creatively comprehend the upcoming realities of this century. We, lecturers of the national school of diplomacy, see our main task in making our students well aware of the new geopolitical picture of the world and Turkmenistan's place in it, and develop knowledge about the major issues of our time—and the necessary skills to address them—at an expert level. Future specialists should master the methods and techniques of specific diplomatic work, be able to see the economic side of any major issue, skillfully use modern information technologies and analyze all these issues from the point of view of the national interests of our country.

# Economic and Cultural Aspects of Turkmenistan's Foreign Policy

Turkmenistan attaches special importance to its relations with neighboring countries, with which it has historical, political, economic and cultural ties. Our country considers relations of friendship, goodwill and broad cooperation in all spheres as the most important guarantee of maintaining its sovereignty and neutral legal status, and successfully achieving its foreign policy goals.

Turkmenistan attributes great importance to the economic aspect of its foreign policy. Thus, one of the priority areas in the context of its bilateral re-

lations with other countries is trade and economics. Turkmenistan considers the development of international economic cooperation based on equal partnership and mutual benefit as the most important tool for establishing interaction between states and regions, and maintaining peace and stability. To this end, Turkmenistan has developed cooperation

Turkmenistan attaches special importance to its relations with neighboring countries, with which it has historical, political, economic and cultural ties.

with dozens of countries around the world. On July 22, 2020, Turkmenistan became an observer in the World Trade Organization (WTO). As former President of Turkmenistan Gurbanguly Berdimuhamedov stressed, "This will ensure the harmonious development of the national economy, strengthening our positions in foreign trade relations, developing multilateral cooperation and attracting more foreign investment."

The energy sector is of utmost significance for Turkmenistan's economic cooperation with other countries. Over the past few decades, the role of interstate interaction in the energy sector has noticeably increased. At present, approximately 80% of the world's electricity is still generated from extracted energy sources (oil, gas, peat, coal). Today, global explored reserves of natural gas amount to approximately 140–145 trillion cubic meters; about 2.2 trillion cubic meters are produced annually. Turkmenistan's natural gas reserves amount to 50 trillion cubic meters and our country ranks 4th in the world in terms of its reserves. Given the continued relevance of non-renewable fuel sources, Turkmenistan is expanding ways of exporting its energy wealth to world markets. For example, on December 14, 2009, the Turkmenistan-China gas pipeline, called the "Project of the 21st Century", was put into operation. In November 2011, an agreement was reached between Turkmenistan and China to increase the annual volume of Turkmen natural gas exported to China to 65 billion cubic meters. 18

It should also be noted that as of 2015, about 19.3% of the world's energy needs were met by renewable energy. In 2018, in Germany, renewable energy provided 38% of the electricity produced in the country. Turkmenistan began to develop in renewable energy in the 1960s, and engages in the use of renewable energy sources in industry and in everyday life. For example, in the first half of the 1970s, scientists from the Physical and Technical Institute of the Academy of Sciences of Turkmenistan carried out scientific communications on the use of solar energy by scientists from a number of countries, including the U.S. According to the Decree of the President of Turkmenistan, since January 29, 2019, today the Institute of Solar Energy of the Academy of Sciences of Turkmenistan operates in the system of the State Energy Institute of the country.<sup>19</sup>

The cultural aspect of Turkmenistan's foreign policy is also significant. Turkmenistan builds its relations with other states on the basis of respect for the culture, traditions and customs of their peoples. Turkmenistan considers cultural and humanitarian contacts as one of the most important means of bringing peoples closer together, deepening mutual understanding between them and developing relations of friendship and cooperation. Our country encourages the exchange of spiritual values between peoples, the processes of interpenetration and the mutual enrichment of cultures.

# Turkmenistan's Observer Status in the OTS and its Contribution to Sustainable Development

As part of its positive neutrality foreign policy, Turkmenistan became an observer to the OTS during the organization's 8th Summit held on November 12, 2021 in Istanbul. The theme of this summit, "green technologies and smart cities," was carefully determined as another important step for this organization's further contribution to sustainable development at the regional level. As a result of this high-level meeting, the decision on Turkmenistan's accession as an observer country was approved, and the statuses of partner and observer countries were specified. "Turkic World Vision–2040" and the Istanbul Declaration were also adopted at this annual summit, with numerous references to different aspects of sustainable development.

Sustainable development is an important element of Turkmenistan's positive neutrality foreign policy.<sup>20</sup> Indeed, Turkmenistan has regularly taken part in OTS dialogues as a guest of honor. The Istanbul Summit was historical in the sense that Turkmenistan became an official observer to the OTS, thereby assuming important responsibilities to enhance regional cooperation. "This is literally a historic event of paramount importance, marking the beginning of a qualitatively new stage in Turkmenistan's interaction with the Turkic Speaking States," said the previous leader of the nation.<sup>21</sup> Taking the floor at the Summit, then President of Turkmenistan noted the special importance

of this meeting. He underlined that "Turkmenistan considers the systematic and targeted strengthening of economic and trade relations within the OTS, particularly in the strategic areas as energy and transport." He expressed the need to expand relations and cooperation of the member states within the framework of the UN, the ECO, the Organization

The Istanbul Summit was historical in the sense that Turkmenistan became an official observer to the OTS, thereby assuming important responsibilities to enhance regional cooperation.

of Islamic Cooperation (OIC) and other international and regional structures. He proposed to intensify cooperation and begin the implementation of the Caspian Sea-Türkiye-Europe power grid system project and transport and logistics corridors to revive the Great Silk Road, and to develop a common strategy among the Turkic States in this direction. These important steps toward empowering sustainable development at the regional level are introduced in the "Turkic World Vision–2040" document.<sup>22</sup>

### Conclusion

Turkmenistan's status of positive neutrality yields beneficial outcomes not only for the country itself but also for peace and development at the regional and global levels. The UN General Assembly resolution made during its 50th session on December 12, 1995, on the "Permanent Neutrality of Turkmenistan" is bringing about constructive and comprehensive results today in many ways. Thus, the decision to establish UNRCCA in Ashgabat, turning the city into a hub for preventive diplomacy, significantly contributes to regional peace and development. Moreover, the economic and cultural aspects of the Turkmenistan's foreign policy generate a spirit of building good relations with regional and international actors on the basis of mutual interests. Last but not least, Turkmenistan's achievement of observer status in the OTS in 2021 during the historical Istanbul Summit opens a qualitatively new stage in Turkmenistan's interaction with the Turkic-speaking states while providing ample room to enhance cooperation between the OTS in a variety of different fields, including sustainable development. The "Turkic World Vision–2040" document adopted at the Istanbul Summit is a strategic road map to this end.

### **Endnotes**

- "President Gurbanguly Berdimuhamedov: Foreign Policy of Turkmenistan is Aimed at Creating Favorable Conditions for Internal Development and Promotion of National Interests in the Global Arena," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en/articles/118.
- 2 "The Final Ashgabat Document was Distributed as a Document of the 75th Session of the United Nations General Assembly and UN Decurity Council," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en/news/2427.
- 3 "Foreign Policy and Diplomacy of Turkmenistan," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en.
- 4 "Resolutions Adopted by the General Assembly [on the Report of the First Committee (A/50/601)] 50/80. Maintenance of International Security," *Refworld*, January 11, 1996, https://www.refworld.org/docid/3b00f32824.html.
- 5 Based on the author's account of the statement made by Sun Yiming.
- 6 Based on the author's account of the statement made by Chen Gentao.
- 7 Based on the author's account of the statement made by Zhang Pein.
- 8 Based on the author's account of the statement made by Gao Mana.
- 9 Resolutions adopted by the UN General Assembly."
- "Resolution of President of Turkmenistan," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en/articles/87.
- 11 For further information on these UN Resolutions, see "Documents," *United Nations*, https://www.un.org/en/our-work/documents.
- "An Agenda for Peace: Preventive Diplomacy, Peacemaking and Peace-keeping: Report of the Secretary-General Pursuant to the Statement Adopted by the Summit Meeting of the Security Council on 31 January 1992," *United Nations Digital Library*, https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/144858.
- 13 Also see "Background," UNRCCA, https://unrcca.unmissions.org/background.
- 14 "General Assembly Adopts Resolution Highlighting Role of Central Asia Centre in Fostering Preventive Diplomacy across Region," *United Nations*, November 17, 2017, https://www.un.org/press/en/2017/ga11976.doc.htm.
- 15 "International Day of Neutrality Resolution (A/71/L.56 and Add.1)," *United Nations Digital Library*, https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/858613.
- "Message of Secretary General of the Turkic Council Ambassador Ramil Hasanov on the Occasion of December 12 'Neutrality Day of Turkmenistan," Organization of Turkic States, December 11, 2017, https://www.turkkon.org/en/haberler/message-of-secretary-general-of-the-turkic-council-ambassador-ramil-hasanov-on-the-occasion-of-december-12-neutrality-day-of-turkmenistan\_1504.
- 17 "Turkmenistan Formally Applies for WTO Membership," World Trade Organization, November 24, 2021, https://www.wto.org/english/news\_e/news21\_e/acc\_25nov21\_e.htm.
- "Turkmenistan Strikes Natural Gas Deal with China's CNPC," AP News, August 24, 2021, https://apnews.com/article/business-china-turkmenistan-e33c3dc2bcd7a16ed70b51f9ccc564df.
- 19 "A Unique Green Energy Project," Turkmenistan State News Agency, January 24, 2021, https://turkmenistan.gov.tm/en/post/60380/unique-green-energy-project.
- 20 "Declaration of the Eighth Summit of Organization of Turkic States," Organization of Turkic States, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/declaration-of-8th-summit-2395-148.pdf.
- 21 "President of Turkmenistan Took Part at the 8th Summit of the Cooperation Council of Turkic Speaking States," Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmenistan, November 12, 2021, https://www.mfa.gov.tm/en/news/2879.
- 22 "The Leaders of the Turkic World Convened the Summit of Organization of Turkic States," Organization of Turkic States, November 12, 2021, https://www.turkkon.org/assets/pdf/haberler/press-re-lease-of-secretariat-of-the-organization-of-turkic-states-2399-102.pdf.

# The New Silk Roads: The Present and Future of the World

By Peter Frankopan

New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 2019, 301 pages, ISBN: 9780525656418

In *The New Silk Roads*, Peter Frankopan, Professor of Global History at Oxford University, defines the notion of Silk Roads as a network of globalization in which people, cultures and continents interact. This conceptualization provides an understanding of the spread of religions and languages throughout history. The kind of globalization Silk Roads represent allows us to comprehend history as a whole, not in pieces, by emphasizing the bigger picture of the interactions between actors throughout the territory of Silk Roads. Frankopan connects the past, present and future of the Silk Roads; he argues that the notion explains the proliferation of actors and other entities like walnut trees throughout history, earning Silk Roads the nickname 'gene corridors'.

Frankopan argues that the twenty-first century is the century of the countries of the Silk Roads. Just as the phenomena that shaped the past occurred around Silk Roads, the future will also be shaped around Silk Roads. Silk Roads crisscross a territory that includes countries from Türkiye to China, from Israel and India to Russia. *The New Silk Roads* aims to update recent history and reinterpret it. For example, Frankopan accepts the year 2015 as a turning point due to the Brexit vote, the election of Donald Trump, bold moves in Russian foreign policy, issues in Afghanistan and Syria, problems between Iran and Saudi Arabia, issues between India and Pakistan, and a coup attempt in Türkiye. Apart from the problematic issues, the intensifying economic cooperation among the Silk Roads countries, the agricultural and resource-based wealth of the states of the Silk Roads, and the use of the phenomenon of the Silk Roads by different actors and institutions are also crucial for recent history. Concerning all of the positive and negative issues, Frankopan claims that 'we are living in the Asian century already' and heralds the rising of the Silk Roads by emphasizing the decline of the West, especially the U.S. Geopolitically, he refers to the area of the countries of the Silk Roads as 'the heart of the world'.

Regarding the timing and context of the book, Frankopan had previously published another book on the topic, titled *The Silk Roads: A New History of the World*, in 2015. Amid the feedback he received, he gathered that readers desired to learn more about the 'other' part of the world—the story of Asia and the East—rather than Europe and the West. Thus, he decided to write *The New Silk Roads* to present a more comprehensive view.

The book consists of five chapters. In the first chapter, Frankopan examines the problematic issues and improvements taking place in the countries of the Silk Roads from the 1990s to the present, and the impact of Asian-led globalization, i.e., the rise of Asia, especially from an economic perspective. In addition to the positive aspects of this trend, Frankopan also mentions the instability, democratic deficiencies and failed states in this region. In the second chapter, Frankopan analyzes the speeches, acts and policies of Trump, former President of the U.S.; the rise of far-right parties and movements in Europe and the questioning of the EU's reason for existence as proof of the West's decline. In contrast, he points out the developments in the region of the Silk Roads in terms of working institutions, resource-rich states, increased cooperation among states, especially in the energy field, and the wide-ranging contributions of the new Silk Roads to the countries in the region in terms of energy pipelines, infrastructure projects, improving military relations and the resolution of border disputes. At the same time, Frankopan mentions the problematic relations of the countries in the region, the economic crises occurring in some states and democracy problems. He adds that he is heralding a rising new world from Asia—not a free new world.

Frankopan shapes the third chapter along axis of Xi Jinping's speeches. Jinping has called upon the countries of the Silk Roads for friendship, cooperation and a new way of thinking under China's facilitation and leadership against the hegemony of the U.S. by touting the One Belt One Road (OBOR) initiative. The early benefits, like the economic and geopolitical improvement of the Silk Roads, and the negative sides of the project—its ambiguity, the asymmetrical economic and territorial opportunities for China and Chinese businesses, and the poor business practices of the countries involved—are depicted. The fourth chapter addresses the business activities of the countries of the Silk Roads in more detail. According to Frankopan, the corporations of the Silk Roads countries are taking over Western companies. He claims that China and the U.S. are on opposite sides, and that they create a dichotomy. In his view, the rule-breaker and manipulator of this dichotomy is the U.S. The decline of the U.S. and the rise of China are proofs of the new world under the impact of the new Silk Roads.

In the fifth chapter, Frankopan evaluates the actors in the international system and their potential for cooperation with China, citing an economic center of gravity shift from West to East. The most prominent obstacle to the Silk Roads project, he notes, is China's economic growth and resulting credit boom; the countries interested in making an investment in OBOR do not have the money to do it. China supports those countries via loans, but they are not in a situation to repay the loans. Thus, these countries fall into a debt trap while expecting an improvement.

In conclusion, Frankopan claims that the changing world—or changing the world—is indispensable, and that no one can prevent this change. He envisions a new world in which liberal democracy and modernization in the Western sense are ending, and the Silk Roads countries cooperate against global problems such as poverty. This changing world is a bipolar one, with China at the helm. History repeats itself, and Asia is rising again like a phoenix.

The diversity of sources on which Frankopan draws are adequate to analyze the new phenomenon he depicts. He uses articles from journals and magazines, as well as news, reports and books in German, English, Turkish, Russian, French, Chinese and Azeri. Frankopan also benefits from the speeches of political leaders, especially those of Trump and Xi Jinping. He does a simple qualitative discourse and content analysis and a descriptive analysis as a historian. Furthermore, while the language of the book is quite simple and straightforward, the style of the book is literary and embellished with idioms. Frankopan evaluates the international system and its actors in a broad sense and presents the basic economic characteristics of the countries of the Silk Roads.

Although Frankopan underpins his assertions with reference to various phenomena and discourses, he repeats himself many times to prove the rightfulness of his argument. Yet this repetition has the opposite effect, diminishing the book's credibility. While emphasizing the economic aspects of the countries and their relations makes the book one-dimensional, getting stuck in the idea that Asia is rising and trying to validate this idea strengthens this one dimension and makes the book overly subjective. At the same time, using the speeches of Trump as an evaluation criterion for the foreign policy of the U.S. is not sufficient. Even though he was the President of the U.S., it is not right to take his speeches as the sole criterion due to his irrational remarks. Similarly, flatly considering China as the opponent of the U.S. creates a dichotomy, restricts the analysis and prevents the enrichment of other perspectives.

Nevertheless, the criticisms mentioned above cannot reduce the importance of this book. Frankopan's argument is clearly stated and constantly supported;

the sources are sufficient, and the wording is explicit and impressive. Therefore, *The New Silk Roads* can be considered an important contribution to the alternative historiography literature that sheds light on recent Asian history. The book is strongly recommended for students and academics of the Social Sciences who would like to broaden their way of thinking.

**Doğuş Sönmez** Research Assistant Istanbul Arel University Department of International Relations ORCID: 0000-0002-8790-4453

## Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific: New Geopolitical Realities

Edited by Ash Rossiter and Brendon J. Cannon Oxon: Routledge, 2020, 214 pages, ISBN: 9780367423506

It is clear that in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, we are experiencing a paradigmatic shift from the West to the East, from Transatlantic to Pacific, as Asia has become the epicenter of global economics and politics. This century has brought profound challenges to the regional dynamics of the Asia-Pacific and to the existing international political structure, and China specifically has played a central role in changing regional and global politics with its swiftly growing economy and increasing military formation and activities, especially since 2008. In addition to changes in China's economic and military capabilities, many other factors, such as India's economic liberalization program and evolving security posture, the reorientation of Japan's foreign and security policy in a more assertive and hawkish direction, the United States' relative decline and the ambiguity of its stand in Asia have altered the balance of Asia-Pacific politics.

These changing international dynamics and new security orientations have led to a redefinition of the geopolitical terming of the region. The construction of the term 'Indo-Pacific' as a replacement for 'Asia-Pacific' reflects the new geopolitical structure, which is characterized by multipolarity and multiplexity, in contrast to the previous Cold War positioning and dynamics. The Asia-Pacific term, which was designed to integrate Japan and to a certain level Australia in the U.S. Cold War strategy, has become inadequate to reflect the current power changes. As a result, a more comprehensive conceptualization was required by the United States and its partners in Asia. The broader Indo-Pacific conceptualization signifies the importance of the Pacific and the Indian Ocean and the maritime routes, and it reflects critical geopolitical

changes such as the growing economic and political capabilities of China and India as well as the changing U.S. posture.

The edited volume, *Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific: New Geopolitical Realities*, aims to analyze the possibilities of conflict and cooperation in the region by focusing on the different perspectives and strategies of the actors involved in the Indo-Pacific discussions. As the authors argue, the examples and different perspectives presented in various chapters are analyzed through this lens of cooperation and conflict. Rossiter and Cannon argue that beyond the book's contribution to International Relations (IR) and Geopolitics Studies, it is an essential text for understanding the debates about China's growing ascendance and the relative decline of U.S. power.

The structure of the book is designed around nine chapters. After the brief introductory chapter, which focuses on the prospects of conflict and cooperation in the Indo-Pacific, subsequent chapters deal with the different perspectives and approaches of regional actors regarding the concept of Indo-Pacific and its construction. The first four chapters mainly deal with the approaches of the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (Quad) countries: India's policy toward the Quad, Japan's "Free and Open Indo-Pacific" (FOIP) vision, the inclusion of Indo-Pacific in U.S. policies as a replacement for the Asia-Pacific concept and Australia's approach to the Indo-Pacific. Although there have been different interpretations of the term Indo-Pacific, the primary rationale behind its creation is the fact that the older term Asia-Pacific does not meet the strategic expectations of actors such as the United States, Japan, Australia or India. The new conceptualization has became an integral part of the national security strategies of the U.S., Japan and Australia, and has been frequently used in public speeches.

In the chapter titled "India's Approach to the "Quad" and the Salience of China," Jagannath Panda deals with India's relations with the other Quad countries. India can be considered at the heart of this new conceptualization, since its main aim is to incorporate India and the Indian Ocean Region (IOR) in these recent strategic calculations. Many analysts attribute the emergence of the Quad to growing anti-China sentiment in these countries. However, in this chapter, Panda explains India's involvement in this grouping as the result of the country's desire

to maintain equilibrium in the region, rather than strong anti-China sentiments.

In the following chapter, "Decoding Japan's "Free and Open Indo-Pacific" Concept," Teruaki Aizawa and Ash Rossiter examine Japan's vision for the Indo-Pacific. The authors focus on the FOIP concept and how it gained prominence in Japan's foreign and security policy vision for the region. Aizawa and Rossiter emphasize that even though the FOIP vision is mainly designed for economic purposes, its reflections on the security strategy are evident in Japan's growing assertiveness in foreign and security policies. In the chapter "US Strategic Re-positioning to the "Indo-Pacific:" A Paradigm Shift, David Scott discusses the roots of the change in U.S. discourse from Asia-Pacific to Indo-Pacific and evaluates its effects on U.S. policies. Scott makes a comparison between the U.S. geoeconomic and geopolitical approach to the region, and argues that the U.S. geopolitical approach has been much more comprehensive and successful compared to its geoeconomic position. Miguel A. Hijar-Chiapa next discusses what the emerging Indo-Pacific concept means for another Quad country, Australia, and analyzes the effects of this new construction there.

Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific covers not only the actors whose inclusion in the region is specifically important and who are more prominent, but also offers another perspective by introducing competing visions for the region. Moreover, it offers an in-depth analysis of the Indo-Pacific debate by looking at regional countries' interactions, focusing on the relations between Japan and the Eastern African countries, and actors such as the Philippines, whose involvement and policies regarding the region are somehow understudied.

From the beginning, Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific is well structured and contributes to the field of international politics and geopolitics by investigating approaches to the Indo-Pacific from cooperation and conflict perspectives. The presentation of different definitions by showing them on maps visually supports the lack of consensus on the definition of the concept. In the introductory section, the main framework of analysis that is used throughout the volume to present different actors and different cases is explained in detail. In the first four chapters, this framework is applied to the Quad countries, which

can be regarded as the major players in the Indo-Pacific. In the next three chapters, it is applied to the competing ideas. The detailed empirical analysis in the subsequent chapters validates the applicability of this framework to the issue and brings forward insights from different cases. While examples of different approaches are included, South Korean and Canadian perspectives are notably lacking as major regional powers. Their inclusion would have strengthened the book, but their absence points a direction for further study.

Since its (re)inception in the 2000s, the term Indo-Pacific has gradually entered the IR lexicon and has been used frequently by many actors, primarily the U.S., Japan and Australia. The term has become an integral part of international political debates. Therefore, the contribution made by *Conflict and Cooperation in the Indo-Pacific* is of critical importance. It sheds light on recent developments in the region while stressing the importance of the China-U.S. encounter. Ultimately, the volume argues that the dynamics of international order will be determined by the level of cooperation among the countries that share similar concerns about China and its activities.

Efsane Deniz Baş
Research Assistant
Turkish-German University
Department of Political Science and International Relations
ORCID: 0000-0003-3031-9031

### Style and Format

Articles submitted to the journal should be original contributions. If another version of the article is under consideration by another publication, or has been or will be published elsewhere, authors should clearly indicate this at the time of submission. Manuscripts should be submitted to: e-mail: perceptions@mfa.gov.tr The final decision on whether the manuscript is accepted for publication in the Journal or not is made by the Editorial Board depending on the anonymous referees' review reports.

A standard length for PERCEPTIONS articles is 6,000 to 8,000 words including endnotes. The manuscript should begin with an indented and italicised summary up to 150 words, which should describe the main arguments and conclusions, and 5-7 keywords, indicating to main themes of the manuscript. A title page should be attached to the manuscript, including the title of the manuscript, full name (s) of the authors, academic and/or other professional affiliations if any, complete mailing address, fax and phone numbers of the author to whom proofs and correspondence should be sent. The author is also expected to give a brief biography in a footnote at the beginning of the article. Perceptions also publishes reviews of new books or reports: "book reviews" are usually around 700-1 500-words."

biography in a footnote at the beginning of the article. Perceptions also publishes reviews of new books or reports; 'book reviews' are usually around 700-1,500-words."

Manuscripts should be single-spaced written by Times New Roman regular font, 11 point throughout. Justified margins; top and bottom 3 cm, left and right 2.4 cm are required. Manuscripts should be numbered consecutively throughout the paper. Only the first letters of title words should be 'upper case'. Quotations should be placed within double quotation marks ("....."). Quotations larger than four lines should be indented at left margin and single-spaced. Use endnotes and avoid bibliography. British punctuation and spelling should be used throughout. Dates should be in the form 3 November 1996; 1995-1998; and 1990s. All diagrams, charts and graphs should be referred to as figures and consecutively numbered. Tables should be kept to a minimum and contain only essential data. Each figure and table must be given an Arabic numeral, followed by a heading, and be referred to in the text. Appropriate places of tables should be indicated in the text and tables should be submitted in a separate file. If copyrighted material is used in the article, it is the author's responsibility to obtain permission from the copyright holder.

Names of the authors, places and the publishing houses are required to be written in their original forms. The styles of the references in endnotes should conform the following examples:

#### **Books**

John Smith, The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100.

John E. Smith (ed.), The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, pp. 100-102.

John Smith and Mary Jones, The Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p. 100. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, The Book Title, p. 100. In endnotes 'Ibid.' should be used where possible, but it should not be used where the previous note contains more than one source.

#### **Articles in Journals**

John Smith, "Article Title", Journal Name, Vol. #, No. # (Month Year), p. #. Subsequent references should appear as: Smith, "Article Title", p. #.

#### **Articles in Edited Books**

John Smith, "Article Title", in Mary Jones (ed.), Book Title, New York, New York Publishing Co., 1999, p.

#### **Newspaper Articles**

Christopher Hooton, "Japan is Turning Its Abandoned Golf Courses into Solar Power Plants", The Independent, 21 July 2015.

#### **Manuscript References**

PRO King's Remembrancer's Memoranda Roll, E159/69, m. 78. BM Add. MS 36042, fo.2 (plural fos.). Four-figure numerals without comma or space: 2572. Titles of other record repositories, and names of collections of papers, in full in first reference: Scottish Record Office (hereafter SRO), Airlie Papers, GD 16, section 38/82, April 5, 1844. Compton Papers, kept at the estate office of the Marquess of Northampton, Castle Ashby (hereafter CA), bdle. 1011, no.29.

#### Official Papers

Parliamentary Papers: Select Committee on Manufacturers (Parl. Papers, 1833, VI), 0.456. Subsequent references as: SC on ... (PP, 1839, VII), 00.2347.

Hansard (Commons), 4th ser. XXXVI, 641-2, 22 Aug. 1895

#### Theses

For titles of published and unpublished theses use italics: John E. Smith, Title of Thesis, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Name of the University, Year, Chapter #, p. #

#### **Internet References**

Azam Ahmed and Julie Hirschfeld Davis, "U.S. and Cuba Reopen Long-Closed Embassies", The New York Times, 20 July 2015, http://www.nytimes.com/2015/07/21/world/americas/cuba-us-em-bassy-diplomatic-relations.html?ref=world&\_r=0 (Accessed 21 July 2017).

#### Title of Book Reviews

Türk Basınında Dış Habercilik (Foreign News Reporting in the Turkish Media), by M. Mücahit Küçükyıl-maz and Hakan Çopur. Ankara: SETA, 2010, 168 pages, ISBN 9786054023073.

